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A Massachusetts Public Benefit Corporation

ANNUAL REPORT
Physical address within the Commonwealth: 

300 Baker Ave., Suite 301
Concord, MA 01742

Corporate headquarters:
300 Baker Ave., Suite 301

Concord, MA 01742 

www.betabionics.com

This Annual Report is dated April 30, 2024

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Company1, having sold shares of its Class C Common Stock pursuant to Regulation CF under the Securities Act of 1933, is filing this Annual Report pursuant 
to Rule 202 of Regulation Crowdfunding (§227.202) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. A copy of this Report may be found on our website at 
www.betabionics.com/about-us.

This Annual Report (the “Report”) contains forward-looking statements and information relating to, among other things, the Company, our business plan and 
strategy, and our industry. These forward-looking statements are based on our beliefs, assumptions we made, and information currently available to us. When 
used in the Report, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “project,” “should” and similar expressions are intended to identify 
forward-looking statements and constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

1 Throughout this report, Beta Bionics, Inc. is referred to as “the Company”, “we,” “us,” or “our”.
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Our forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business and performance, the economy, future conditions 
and forecasts of future events, circumstances and results. As with any projection or forecast, forward-looking statements are inherently susceptible to uncertainty 
and changes in circumstances. Our actual results may vary materially from those expressed or implied in our forward-looking statements. Important factors that 
could cause actual results to differ materially from those in our forward-looking statements include government regulation, our ability    to raise additional capital, 
results of clinical trials, our ability to achieve regulatory approval, competitive developments, economic, strategic, political and social conditions and the risk 
factors set forth herein. 

Any forward-looking statement we make speaks only as of the date on which it is made. We are under no obligation to, and expressly disclaim any obligation to, 
update or alter our forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, subsequent events or otherwise. 

Name of issuer: Beta Bionics, Inc. 

Legal status of issuer:
Form: Public Benefit Corporation 
Jurisdiction of Incorporation/Organization: Massachusetts 
Date of organization: October 21, 2015 

Physical address of issuer within the Commonwealth: 
300 Baker Ave., Suite 301 
Concord, MA 01742 

Website of issuer: www.betabionics.com 

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND SIGNIFICANT EMPLOYEES 

The members of our board of directors and our officers as of March 31, 2024 are identified in the following tables. 

Directors Principal Occupation 
Main 

Employer(s) 
Year Joined 
as Director 

Edward R. Damiano Founder and Executive Chair Beta Bionics, Inc. 2015 

Sean Saint Chief Executive Officer and Director Beta Bionics, Inc 2022 

Directors Principal Occupation 
Main 

Employer(s) 
Year Joined 
as Director 

Sean D. Carney Investor n/a 2020 

Adam Lezack Managing Director Fortis Advisors 2023 

Gilad Glick VP of Venture Investments Johnson & Johnson 2022

Amanda Black Director Farallon Capital Management 2023

Francesco Draetta Director Omega Funds 2023

Wes Dupray Director Eventide Investments 2023 

Parker Cassidy Director Sands Capital 2023 

Lennox Ketner Director Soleus Capital 2023 
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Officers and Significant Employees

Name Principal Occupation Start date Term of 
Office

Sean Saint Chief Executive Officer August 2022 Indefinite 

Edward R. Damiano Founder and Executive Chair October 2015 Indefinite 

Stephen Feider Chief Financial Offer August 2022 Indefinite

Steven J. Russell Chief Medical Officer November 2022 Indefinite 

Michael Mensinger Chief Product Officer August 2023           Indefinite 

Non-Employee Directors 

Sean D. Carney 
Gilad Glick 
Adam Lezack 
Amanda Black 
Francesco Draetta 
Parker Cassidy 
Lennox Ketner 
Wes Dupray 

 
 
Officers and Significant Employees 

Sean Saint, Chief Executive Officer; Director 

Sean Saint, P.E. is an engineer, entrepreneur, diabetes technologist and innovator, and person with type 1 diabetes. After his diagnosis with type 1 diabetes, 
he founded Companion Medical, where they developed and launched the InPen system, the first FDA-cleared smart pen. Medtronic acquired Companion 
Medical in 2020. Prior to Companion Medical, Sean was an early employee at Dexcom and Tandem Diabetes Care. In addition to his role as Chief Executive 
Officer of Beta Bionics, Sean sits on the board of directors of Luna Diabetes. Sean earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from 
California Polytechnic State University – San Luis Obispo and is a registered Professional Engineer in California. He has over 175 issued and pending patent 
applications. 

Edward R. Damiano, PhD, Founder and Executive Chair; Director 

Ed Damiano is our co-Founder and Executive Chair and has served as a member of our board of directors since October 2015. Previously, he served as our 
Chief Executive Officer from October 2015 to February 2022. From 1997 to 2004, Dr. Damiano was an Assistant Professor of Mechanical Engineering at 
the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign and in 2004 he became an Associate Professor of Biomedical Engineering at Boston University. In 2015, he 
was promoted to Professor of Biomedical Engineering at Boston University. Dr. Damiano received his PhD degree in Applied Mechanics from Rensselaer 
Polytechnic Institute, his MS degree in Mechanical Engineering from Washington University in St. Louis, and his BS degree in Biomedical Engineering 
from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. 

Stephen Feider, Chief Financial Officer; Treasurer and Secretary 

Stephen Feider has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer and Secretary since August 2022. Mr.  Feider previously served as the Finance 
Director at Medtronic from September 2020 to August 2022 and as the Vice President of Finance at Companion Medical, which was acquired by Medtronic, 
from April 2019 to September 2022. From January 2014 to April 2019, he was the Corporate Controller at Marathon Health. Mr. Feider holds a Bachelor’s 
and Master’s of Accountancy from Butler University. 

3  



CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company’s Securities 

The Company’s Board of Directors approved a 10:1 stock split (the “Stock Split”) of the Company’s authorized. issued and outstanding shares of stock, effective 
on August 25, 2023. All share and per share information included in this annual report have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split. 
 

The total number of shares of all classes of stock which we have authority to issue are: 

(i) 6,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock; 

(ii) 65,000,000 shares of Class B Common  Stock; 

(iii) 1,000,000 shares of Class C Common Stock;

(iv) 500,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock;

(v) 500,000 shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock; 

(vi) 4,200,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock; 

(vii) 3,960,000 shares of Series B-2 Preferred Stock;  

(viii) 5,127,250 shares of Series C Preferred Stock; and 
 
(ix) 12,107,140 shares of Series D Preferred Stock. 

The respective rights of each class of stock, as provided in our Seventh Amended and Restated Articles of Organization are outlined in the following table: 

Class of Security 

Securities (or 
Amount) 

Authorized 

Securities 
(or Amount) 
Outstanding 
as of March 

31, 2024 
Voting 
Rights 

 
 

 
Other Rights 

Preferred Stock (in order of preference): 

Series A 

and 

Series A-2 

500,000 

500,000 

500,000 

500,000 

1.249141215 votes per 
share on an as 
converted basis 

 Dividend rights senior to Series B 
Preferred, Series B-2 Preferred, 
Series C and to Common 

 
 Liquidation preference to Common 

 
 Convertible into Class B Common 

 
 Broad-based antidilution protection 

 
 Registration rights 

 
 Information rights 

 
 Pro-rated right of first refusal  

 
No redemption rights
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Series B Preferred 4,200,000 4,197,930 1.412870479 votes 
per share on an as 
converted basis 

 Dividend rights senior to Common 
 

 Liquidation preference to Common 
 

 Convertible into Class B Common 
 

 Broad-based antidilution protection 
 

 Registration rights 
 

 Information rights 
 

 Pro-rated right of first refusal  

 No redemption rights 
 

 Board seat (combined with Series B-2 
Preferred) 

 

Series B-2 Preferred 3,960,000 3,960,000 1.438863154 votes 
per share on an as 
converted basis 

 Dividend rights senior to Common 
 

Liquidation preference to Common
 

 Convertible into Class B Common 
 

 Broad-based antidilution protection 
 

 Registration rights 
 

 Information rights 
 

 Pro-rated right of first refusal  
 

 No redemption rights 
 

 Board seat (combined with Series B 
Preferred) 

 

Series C Preferred 5,127,250 4,101,860 1:340822829 votes 
per share on an as 
converted basis 

 Dividend rights senior to Common 

 
 Liquidation preference to Common 

 
 Convertible into Class B Common 

 
 Broad-based antidilution protection 

 
 Registration rights 

 
 Information rights 

 
 Pro-rated right of first refusal  

 
 No redemption rights 

 
 Board seat 
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Series D Preferred 12,107,140 12,107,140 One vote per share 
on an as converted 
basis 

 Dividend rights senior to Series B 
Preferred, Series B-2 Preferred, 
Series C and to Common 

 
 Liquidation preference to Preferred 

Stock and to Common

 Convertible into Class B Common 
 

 Broad-based antidilution protection 

Registration rights

Information rights
 

 Pro-rated right of first refusal  
 

 No redemption rights 

Five board seats

Common Stock 

Class A 6,000,000 5,890,000 One vote per share None 

Class B 65,000,000 5,875,671 One vote per share None 

Class C 1,000,000 96,910 No voting rights None 

Class of Security Securities Reserved for Issuance upon Exercise or Conversion 

Warrants Warrants to purchase up to 1,025,390 shares of Series C Preferred Stock 
 

Warrants to purchase up to 6,520,822 shares of Class B Common Stock

Options 10,249,904 Class B Common Stock issuable upon exercise of stock options (Employee Incentive Option Pool) 

1,641,480 Class B Common Stock available for future issuance (Employee Incentive Option Pool) 

Antidilution 5,467,697 Class B Common Stock issuable upon conversion of Series A, Series A-2, Series B, Series B-2 and Series 
C Preferred Stock to Common Stock 

Other rights None, other than as provided for in the terms of the Preferred Stock 

As indicated in the table above, the rights of Class C Common Stock are materially limited by the rights held by the Series A Preferred, Series A-2 Preferred, 
Series B Preferred, Series B-2 Preferred, Series C Preferred, Series D Preferred, Class A Common, and Class B Common Stock. Unlike other classes of our stock, 
Class C Common Stock has no special rights or preferences, no priority to dividends, no voting rights, no rights to a seat on our Board of Directors or other 
scientific, technical or advisory committees, no right to purchase additional shares to preserve proportionate ownership in our Company in the event that we later   
conduct other rounds of equity financing, no special informational rights, no special ability to exercise control over management decisions and no liquidity 
preference to mitigate downside risks. 
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Additionally, no holder of Class C Common Stock may sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise dispose of or encumber any Class C Common Stock     without 
our prior written consent. We may withhold consent for any legitimate corporate purpose including to generally limit incremental costs associated with 
administering such transfers. 

Stock Plan 

On February 5, 2016, we adopted our 2016 Equity Incentive Plan, or the Plan. The Plan authorized us to issue options to purchase up to 10,000 shares of    Class 
B Common Stock. On May 12, 2016, we amended the Plan to increase the total shares available to purchase Class B Common Stock to 100,000 shares reflecting 
a 10-for-1 split of our stock effective May 12, 2016. 

As of December 31, 2018, we had issued all 100,000 options under the Plan at exercise prices of $16.22 per share, which was fair market value at the date of 
grant. These options all vest over four years from the grant date with a one-year “cliff period.” The options expire 10 years after the date of grant. 

On March 21, 2018, our Board of Directors authorized, subject to shareholder approval, our officers to amend the Plan by increasing the number of shares 
available for issuance to the company’s employees, directors or consultants under the Plan to 200,000. 

On December 12, 2019, our Board of Directors authorized, subject to shareholder approval, our officers to amend the Plan by increasing the number of shares 
available for issuance to our employees, directors or consultants under the Plan to 400,000. 

On December 14, 2020, our Board of Directors authorized, subject to shareholder approval, our officers to amend the Plan by increasing the number of shares 
available for issuance to our employees, directors or consultants under the Plan to 525,000. 

On February 9, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized, subject to shareholder approval, our officers to amend the Plan by increasing the number of shares 
available for issuance to our employees, directors or consultants under the Plan to 843,372. 

On August 24, 2023, our Board of Directors authorized, subject to shareholder approval, our officers to amend the Plan by increasing the number of shares 
available for issuance to our employees, directors or consultants under the Plan to 12,145,954. Note that the Company executed a 10:1 stock split on August 24, 
2023. 
 

Principal Security Holders 

As of March 31, 2024, there were no owners of our voting securities holding more than 20% of the total votes eligible to be cast. 

Number and Class of Securities Held 

Shareholder 

 
Class A 

Common 
Stock 

Class B 
Common 

Stock 

Class C 
Common 

Stock 

Series A, 
A-2 & B, 
Preferred 

Stock 

% of 
Voting 
Power 

n/a  
- - - 

 
- - 
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Risks associated with being a minority shareholder 

Certain holders of our securities have access to more information than other investors, which may leave these other investors at a disadvantage with respect     to 
any decisions regarding their securities. For example, as part of the investor agreements with our preferred stock investors, certain holders of preferred stock have 
rights to review certain Company records and observe all Board meetings. Other accredited investors, who participated in our preferred stock   raises, have certain 
information rights. 

Risks associated with additional issuances of securities; dilution

We expect to sell additional equity or equity-related securities in the future to meet our funding requirements. Sales of these securities would dilute the percentage 
ownership of our Company and the economic interest of any shareholder who does not purchase their pro rata portion of these new securities. There is no 
guarantee that any shareholder not holding preemptive rights will have the opportunity to increase their investment in the Company in future transactions. 

In cases where holders of existing or future options or warrants exercise their rights to purchase our stock, the interests of our shareholders may also be   diluted. 

Based on the risks described above and elsewhere in this Report, shareholders could lose all or part of their investment. 

Risks related to the valuation of our securities

Unlike companies with actively traded securities in public markets, there is no trading market for our securities, which makes valuing our securities difficult. 

The assessments of the value of our securities we obtain from independent appraisers in connection with issuances of options under our equity incentive plans or 
for accounting purposes may not reflect the value of our securities that any shareholder might obtain or that might be observed if our securities were traded 
publicly. These assessments are based on, among other things, our projections and forward-looking statements, which involve risks as previously described. 

There is no assurance that any of our investors will not lose some or all of their investment in our securities. 

Limited transferability and liquidity 

An investment in our securities is likely to be illiquid and transfers of our securities are limited. Conditions imposed by federal and state securities laws and 
regulations must be satisfied prior to any sale, transfer, conversion or other disposition of our securities. There is no established public trading market in which 
our securities can be resold and such resales would be subject to federal and state laws and regulations as well as rules and standards of trading market platforms. 
As a result, our investors should not expect to be able to liquidate their investment at any time, if ever. 

Transfer agent and registrar 

Townshend Venture Advisors, LLP, 12463 Rancho Bernardo Road #209, San Diego, CA 92128, is the transfer agent and registrar for our stock. 
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DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BUSINESS PLAN 

Overview 

We are a medical device company focused on the development, manufacture and sale of the iLet Bionic Pancreas (the “iLet”). On May 19, 2023, we received 
FDA 510(k) clearance and subsequently launched the iLet commercially in the United States in June 2023. The iLet is designed to leverage continuous, 
subcutaneous, insulin-pump technology and adaptive control algorithms to administer either insulin, glucagon, or both, in an autonomous manner to mimic the 
body’s natural ability to maintain a targeted glycemic range, only requiring the input of a user’s body weight to initialize dosing. The iLet is compatible with both 
the Dexcom G6 and G7 Continuous Glucose Monitoring Systems (“CGM”).  
 

Our company was founded by parents whose lives and whose children’s lives have been deeply impacted by type 1 diabetes. Our mission is to help improve 
health outcomes and the quality of life of people living with diabetes and to bring our technology to as many people as possible. As a demonstration of our long-
term commitment to this mission, we organized our company as a public benefit corporation and secured status as a Certified B Corp, which requires us to meet 
the high standards of verified social and environmental performance, public transparency, and legal accountability to balance profit and purpose. We utilize this 
distinction to drive and motivate us to achieve our mission of improving health outcomes and the quality of life for those on intensive insulin therapy and to bring 
our technology to as many people living with diabetes as possible. 
 
Public Benefit Corporation 

Our leadership team strives to be ever mindful that we were founded by parents deeply affected by type 1 diabetes to help not only their own children, but all 
children and adults struggling to live with insulin dependent diabetes and the loved ones who support them. To this end, we were formed on October 21, 2015 as 
a Massachusetts public benefit corporation as a demonstration of our long-term commitment to our mission to benefit the community of people living with 
insulin-dependent diabetes and other conditions of glycemic dysregulation. 

Market 

Diabetes is a group of diseases characterized by a sustained and prolonged elevated blood glucose level, or hyperglycemia, that results from the body’s inability 
either to produce insulin or properly utilize it. It is a chronic, life-threatening disease for which there is no known cure. The disease can give rise to a host of 
serious and often life-threatening complications, including cardiovascular disease, neuropathy, nephropathy, retinopathy, cognitive impairment, and stroke. The 
daily management and long-term effects of diabetes are a tremendous burden to people with diabetes and their caregivers.  

Type 1 diabetes is an autoimmune disorder that usually develops during childhood or adolescence and is characterized by the inability of the body to produce 
insulin, resulting from the destruction of insulin-producing beta cells in the pancreas. Insulin is the hormone that plays a critical role in glucose metabolism by 
enabling the cellular uptake of glucose from the bloodstream for conversion into energy. Those with type 1 diabetes must administer insulin on a regular basis to 
survive, both to enable basic metabolic function, and to take up carbohydrates from the blood for fuel. People with type 1 diabetes also lose the function of 
glucagon, the hormone that counteracts insulin by releasing glucose from the liver in order to raise blood-sugar levels. We estimate there were approximately 1.8 
million people with type 1 diabetes in the United States in 2022. 
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In contrast, type 2 diabetes is a progressive metabolic disorder that generally develops in adults and initially results from the inability of cells to respond 
appropriately to insulin, a condition known as insulin resistance. Although the exact cause of type 2 diabetes is unknown, it is believed that a range of   genetics, 
heredity and environmental factors such as obesity and physical inactivity are contributing factors. Type 2 diabetes generally develops more slowly than type 1 
diabetes, usually over a period of years, and symptoms can appear gradually. The disease course is primarily characterized by a decline in beta cell function and 
worsening of insulin resistance. The disease is initially treated with diet and nutrition management along with exercise and oral medications. However, as the 
disease progresses, some people ultimately require intensive insulin therapy through multiple daily insulin injections or insulin pump therapy. We estimate there 
were a total of 25 million people in the United States who were diagnosed with type 2 diabetes in 2020, of which approximately 4.6 million people were on some 
form of insulin therapy.  Of this number, an estimated 1.7 million managed their diabetes with intensive insulin therapy. 

Collectively, the addressable U.S. market for people with diabetes on intensive insulin therapy is approximately 3.5 million people between type 1 and type 2 
diabetes. Our focus initially will be on the type 1 population but over time, we expect to also focus on people with type 2 diabetes who are on intensive insulin 
therapy. As the U.S. population continues to age, the total prevalence of people with diabetes is expected to continue to increase. Diagnosis of type 1, particularly 

among youth in diverse populations, is expected to sharply increase2. 

Current treatment options 

There are two primary means for insulin delivery: subcutaneous insulin injections by syringes or pens and subcutaneous insulin infusion by pumps, both of which 
are designed to supplement or replace the insulin-producing function of the pancreas. 

Multiple Daily Injections—Multiple daily injections, or MDI, is the most widely used type of intensive insulin therapy in the United States and most other 
countries. MDI requires the use of syringes or insulin pens to make subcutaneous injections of insulin at least four times per day.  MDI consists of the   injection 
of long-acting basal insulin one to two times per day, as well as injecting rapid-acting mealtime insulin. Historically, MDI therapy has been the standard of care 
for insulin intensive therapy. We estimate that approximately 2.9 million people in the United States with diabetes are MDI users, consisting   of approximately 
1.3 million people, or approximately 71% of people with type 1 diabetes, and approximately 1.6 million people with type 2 diabetes. We believe one of the main 
reasons that such a large population continues to use MDI as a therapy is due to the lack of access to specialists, specifically endocrinologists, who are more 
likely to prescribe and are more comfortable with insulin pump therapy. 

While MDI requires less training and has a lower cost than insulin pumps, it presents a number of drawbacks that we believe make it a more burdensome option 
for people with diabetes. In addition to requiring multiple daily injections, MDI requires the user to self-calculate doses and therefore can result in greater 
variability in blood glucose levels or less accurate glycemic control than pump therapy. MDI can also lead to hypoglycemia if dosing errors are made. Further, 
MDI therapy is typically perceived as less convenient for people with diabetes due to the need for the user to find a clean, discrete place to inject insulin if the 
individual is not comfortable injecting in front of others. Lastly, MDI may not be advisable for those who are not confident in their ability to adjust and calculate 
appropriate insulin doses, such as children, older people or those who may find the decisions about dosing difficult to manage on a daily basis. 

2https://www.jdrf.org/blog/2020/02/18/more-people-being-diagnosed-type-1-diabetes/ 
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Insulin Pumps—Insulin pumps, first introduced over thirty years ago, perform continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion and typically involve the use of a tethered 
programmable pump that administers insulin through an infusion set into a person’s body.  Insulin pump therapy uses only rapid-acting insulin to fulfill both 
mealtime and basal insulin requirements. 

Current pump technology allows a person to customize their bolus and basal insulin doses to meet their insulin needs throughout the day and is intended to more 
closely mimic the physiologic function of a healthy pancreas than MDI therapy. It offers a number of advantages relative to MDI therapy including the elimination 
of multiple daily insulin injections and more precise insulin administration, enabling greater control of, and reduced variability in, blood glucose levels while 
also providing significantly greater flexibility regarding meals, exercise and daily schedule. Recent advancements in insulin pumps include the ability to receive 
CGM data directly from a wearable CGM sensor. A further advancement is the introduction of hybrid closed loop systems which incorporate algorithms that 
modulate physician-recommended or prescribed basal/bolus pump settings to adjust the pump’s insulin delivery within algorithm limitations. 

The iLet Bionic Pancreas 

We have designed the iLet to meet the clear need for a simplified therapy that fits easily into the daily lives of people on intensive insulin therapy and significantly 
reduces the daily burden of the disorder on people with diabetes, their caregivers and healthcare providers. With a trim profile, this compact wearable device 
allows for discrete positioning on the body, usually on the waist. It is designed to be simple to use and operate in an autonomous closed-loop manner, thereby 
reducing the need for ongoing physician intervention or user input and monitoring in order to operate effectively.  We believe that the bihormonal configuration 
of the iLet is the only diabetes pump currently in development that is designed to mimic the function of the pancreas by its ability to supply both insulin and 
glucagon. The central elements of the iLet bionic pancreas design are summarized below: 

• One Device with Multiple Configurations to Address a Range of Needs. The iLet is designed to be able to be configured as an insulin- only or a 
dual-hormone presentation. The bihormonal iLet configuration is designed to allow the user to trigger a glucagon microburst to raise blood glucose 
without having to ingest empty calories prior to temporarily disconnecting for certain physical activities such as swimming. Small doses of glucagon 
can be given to counter the effects of excess insulin that has already been delivered and cannot be withdrawn, and can prevent hypoglycemic events 
that could not be prevented by suspending insulin delivery alone. This allows the iLet to require less involvement of the user and provides the user 
with much greater scheduling flexibility and spontaneity. 
 

• Proprietary Algorithms Refined Over a Decade of Research and Development. The centerpiece of our technology is a suite of mathematical 
dosing algorithmic insulin controllers working together to autonomously determine and dose insulin according to user needs. 

Our model-predictive control, or MPC, algorithms base insulin doses on the glucose data and insulin absorption kinetics. We incorporate insulin 
pharmacokinetics into the MPC algorithm by augmenting it with a mathematical formulation for estimating the concentration of insulin in the blood 
and predicting its future concentration. Our algorithm is designed to take into consideration the slow absorption rate of insulin analogs and is 
designed to help prevent the iLet from delivering excess insulin. Furthermore, our MPC algorithm is designed to automatically adjust its insulin-
dosing aggressiveness in real time to accommodate the different insulin needs between individuals and the variable needs within the same person. 

Running in parallel with our MPC algorithm is another algorithm that is designed to automatically modulate basal insulin delivery over multiple 
time scales, and an additional algorithm that is designed to automatically adapt insulin doses in response to meal announcements. Unlike current 
insulin pumps, and all of the insulin-only control algorithms of which we are aware, our adaptive basal insulin algorithm obviates the need for the 
user to set, or even know, his or her basal-rate profile. 

In its bihormonal configuration, our system also includes a proportional-derivative algorithm designed to govern micro-doses of glucagon to help 
prevent impending hypoglycemia. Glucagon dosing is based on the glucose level and rate of descent. It can occur preemptively even if glucose is 
above the target range and it includes a feedback term to account for the pending effects of recent glucagon doses. The amount of glucagon dosed 
also feeds back on the insulin controller, so that large amounts of glucagon dosing decrease the aggressiveness of insulin delivery. 

Taken together, these mathematical algorithms are designed to provide a universal framework for a glycemic control strategy that requires no 
quantitative input from the user other than a body weight entry to initialize the system. Our algorithms are also intended to mitigate the tendency of 
people on intensive insulin therapy to intentionally dose rapid-acting insulin at close intervals, a practice known as insulin stacking, resulting in 
hypoglycemia. 
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• System Designed for Autonomy. The iLet is designed to be autonomous in determining dosing and delivery parameters for both insulin and 
glucagon. Users are not required to obtain physician assistance to adjust the iLet nor are they required to count carbohydrates or set insulin delivery 
rates. The system recommends, but does not require, that a user announce the consumption of carbohydrates and only asks the user to provide a 
qualitative estimate of carbohydrate intake by selecting from three generalized levels: usual, more, or less. From there the iLet makes automatic 
adjustments based on the user’s dosing history for similar past meal announcements, thereby customizing all dosing to the individual. In the absence 
of meal announcements, the iLet is designed to autonomously regulate the user’s blood glucose. The iLet is also designed to automatically adapt 
to, and compensate for, changes in a users’ basal insulin requirements in real time due to acute hormonal fluctuations caused by illness, physical 
activity or emotional state or more gradual shifts related to physiological changes such as puberty or menopause. 

In addition, we believe that the iLet will be the first device capable of making dosing decisions in situations where the iCGM is offline. During such 
periods, the iLet continues to autonomously manage insulin and glucagon administration either by (i) invoking the latest high-resolution basal rate 
profile it had converged upon using the most recent iCGM data; (ii) responding to meal prompts the same  way as when the iCGM is online; or (iii) 
intuitively compensating for user-entered blood glucose values by delivering a correcting dose of insulin or glucagon based on the system’s 
calculation of current user need. 

Dosing flexibility is further enabled by the iLet’s adjustable glucose target that allows the user to set a permanent glucose target as well as schedule 
recurring adjustments to targeted glucose levels to accommodate a user’s immediate need. It also provides a daily readout with updated estimates 
of daily basal insulin, prandial insulin and correction doses to provide a recommendation of these quantities for both MDI and pump users, if, for 
any reason, the iLet may be temporarily unavailable to the user. 

• Designed for Broad Compatibility and Interoperability with Third-Party iCGM Devices and Drug Providers. We have designed the iLet to be 
compatible with multiple, commonly dosed analog insulins, including fast-acting NovoLog and ultra-fast-acting Fiasp from Novo Nordisk, and 
with Humalog from Eli Lilly. On May 19, 2023, we received clearance for use of the iLet with the Dexcom G6 iCGM and on December 18, 2023, 
users could update their iLet to integrate with Dexcom G7 iCGM. We believe that engineering the iLet specifically to be compatible with multiple 
vendors’ iCGM technologies and insulin analogs will benefit the diabetes community by enhancing access to the iLet with fewer technology 
preferences or insurance restrictions. 

We believe that the iLet is a technology that could change the way in which type 1 diabetes is managed and the effectiveness with which care can 
be delivered. We also intend to pursue development of the insulin configuration of the iLet in people living with type 2 diabetes who require 
intensive insulin therapy.  
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Licenses, patents and proprietary rights

In December 2015, we and the Trustees of Boston University, or BU, entered into a device license agreement, or the Device License Agreement, and a control 
algorithm agreement, or the Control Algorithm Agreement. Under these license agreements, we received a worldwide license (with the right to sublicense) to 
make, use, sell and import products, and practice processes, covered by certain patent rights related to the hardware and control algorithms used in the iLet and 
its predecessor devices. The Device License Agreement and Control Algorithm Agreement are exclusive, subject to certain reserved rights, including BU’s right 
to practice and/or use the patent rights for non-profit purposes such as sponsored research and collaborations, government rights and other third-party rights. 
Furthermore, at BU’s request, we will be required to negotiate a sublicense to either agreement, in good faith, with a third party if we are unable or unwilling to 
use the technology granted under the Device License Agreement or Control Algorithm Agreement, as applicable, to address the unmet needs of neglected people 
or geographic areas that such party is willing and able to address. 

Pursuant to the license agreements, we agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to market the iLet in the United States and elsewhere in the world. 
Additionally, we are obligated to meet certain milestones under each of the agreements. To date, we have satisfied all the milestones set forth under the agreements. 
We have an ongoing royalty obligation to Boston University associated with the agreements.  
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Pivotal iLet clinical trials 

Pivotal Trial of Our Insulin-Only iLet Configuration

In December 2021, our iLet insulin-only configuration completed a 13-week pivotal randomized controlled trial to evaluate its use in people with type 1 diabetes 
ages six and older. This multicenter trial, involving 16 clinical sites located across the United States was conducted in association with the National Institute of 
Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, or NIDDK, part of the National Institutes of Health, or NIH. The NIH also provided partial financial support for 
the trials through a grant to Boston University. Trial enrollment successfully included a diverse population of people living with type 1 diabetes with a third or 
more of trial participants having an HbA1c level of 8% of more, a third or more of trial participants on MDI therapy, and a third or more of trial participants 
being 50 years old or older. The Jaeb Center for Health Research Foundation, or the Jaeb Center, acted as sponsor and was also the contract research organization 
conducting the trial. Steven Russell, M.D., who is affiliated with the Massachusetts General Hospital, was the principal investigator on this trial. 

This pivotal trial was designed to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of the iLet system in its insulin-only configuration.  440 participants completed the   trial. 
The trial groups were randomized, to either a 330-participant cohort using the iLet  for 13 weeks or a 110-participant cohort using usual care for   13 weeks. The 
primary endpoint for the trial is superiority of the iLet insulin-only configuration over usual care as measured by HbA1c values after 13 weeks of treatment. A 
key secondary endpoint evaluated was the non-inferiority of the iLet as compared to usual care in the percent of time spent in clinically significant hypoglycemia, 
defined as CGM glucose levels below 54 mg/dl, during the 13-week trial period. Other secondary endpoints to be evaluated     include superiority over usual care 
as measured by mean CGM glucose levels and time in target range (70-180 mg/dl). In December 2021, we announced the completion of the randomized controlled 
and data lock of the trial results. In April 2022, the sponsor and clinical investigators of the pivotal trial released the results of the pivotal trial at a public 
presentation at the International Conference on Advanced Technologies & Treatments for Diabetes (ATTD). The Insulin-only Bionic Pancreas pivotal trial showed 
consistent mean HbA1c reductions across a variety of subgroups. 
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Manufacturing, suppliers, and quality assurance 

We currently manufacture the iLet and its accompanying ready-to-fill insulin cartridges at our facility located in Irvine, California. The iLet and our ready-to fill-
insulin cartridges are manufactured with certain components supplied by outside vendors and other components that we manufacture internally. We then assemble, 
test, and package the finished iLet in-house.  

In 2020, we occupied and set up production at our leased Hughes building located in Irvine, California. This is a 50,000 square foot facility, which includes 11,500 
square feet of warehouse and production space. The iLet is assembled via manual and semi-automated equipment and our cartridge production and packaging 
utilizes industry standard automation. We expect our maximal annual manufacturing capacity at the Hughes building will be sufficient to support our anticipated 
demand for the foreseeable future. However, we may need to add supplemental warehousing space as volumes increase. 

We are subject to and maintain compliance with ISO manufacturing standards including ISO 13485 certification, as well as current good manufacturing practices, 
or cGMP, compliance and adhere to the applicable Quality System Regulation requirements. 

Collaboration arrangements 

From time to time, we may enter into collaborative research agreements with academic and research institutions, including BU, to enhance our research and 
development capabilities. Such agreements often provide the industry partner with rights to license the intellectual property created through such collaborations. 
We may also enter into collaborative research agreements with other pharmaceutical companies when we believe such collaboration will support the development 
or commercialization of our technology. 

Sublicenses to third parties 

We currently do not have any sublicenses with third parties but we may decide to grant sublicenses for certain applications of our technologies or in certain 
geographic regions. 
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NUMBER OF CURRENT EMPLOYEES

As of March 31, 2024, we employed 233 people. Additionally, we engage a number of independent contractors to perform various services. Contractors we 
employ include clinical consultants, regulatory consultants, contract manufacturers, engineering and design consultants, attorneys and accountants. As we expand 
our operations, we anticipate hiring additional personnel and engaging additional contractors. 

RISK FACTORS 

The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or those we currently view to be 
immaterial may also materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations. 

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital

We have incurred significant net losses since inception and expect to incur significant additional losses for the foreseeable future. We may never achieve or 
maintain profitability. 

We have incurred significant net losses since our inception in 2015. Our net losses for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 were $64.8 million 
and $44.1 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $229.7 million. The vast majority of our net losses resulted from 
expenses related to research and development and general administrative expenses. Our expenses have included, but are not limited to, employee-related expenses, 
consulting services, contract services, and manufacturing costs associated with the commercialization of the iLet. 

 

We expect to continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future, and we expect these losses to increase substantially if and as we: 

 conduct additional clinical trials of the iLet for future indications; 

 add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support the manufacturing and 
commercialization of the iLet; 

 hire and retain additional personnel, such as clinical, quality control, scientific, commercial and administrative personnel; 
 

 develop and expand a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure and scale up manufacturing capabilities, whether alone or with third parties, 
to commercialize the iLet; 

 adapt our regulatory compliance efforts to incorporate requirements applicable to marketed products; and 

 expand, maintain, and protect our intellectual property portfolio. 

On May 19, 2023, the Company received FDA 510(k) clearance and subsequently launched the iLet commercially in the United States in June 
2023. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with manufacturing and commercialization of a medical device, we are unable to accurately 
predict the timing or amount of increased expenses we will incur or when, if ever, we will be able to achieve profitability. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, 
difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our business. The size of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the 
rate of future growth of our expenses and our ability to generate substantial revenue. Our prior losses and expected future losses have had and will continue to 
have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. 

Even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our failure to become and remain 
profitable would depress the value of our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our development   efforts, diversify 
our offerings or continue our operations. 
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We currently rely on sales of the iLet and disposable products to generate our revenue. 
 

Our main product is the iLet, from which we expect to continue to derive nearly all our revenue. Accordingly, our ability to continue to generate revenue 
is highly reliant on our ability to market and sell the iLet and to retain consumers who currently use the product. Our sales of the iLet may be negatively impacted 
by many factors, including: 

 
 failure of the iLet to achieve and maintain wide acceptance among opinion leaders in the diabetes treatment community, insulin prescribing 

physicians, third-party payors, and people with insulin-dependent diabetes; 
 

 manufacturing problems or capacity constraints; 
 

 actual or perceived quality problems; 
 

 reductions in reimbursement rates or coverage policies relating to the iLet by third-party payors; 
 

 claims that any portion of the iLet infringes on intellectual property rights of others; 
 

 adverse regulatory or legal actions relating to the iLet; 
 

 damage, destruction or loss of any of the facilities where our products are manufactured or stored or of the equipment therein; 
 

 the inability of users to continue paying for our products; and 

attrition rates of consumers who cease using the iLet;  
 

If any of these events occur, our ability to generate revenue could be significantly reduced, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition, 
and results of operations. 

 
Our sales and marketing efforts are dependent on independent distributors and pharmacies who are free to market products that compete with our products. 
If we are unable to maintain or expand our network of independent distributors and pharmacies, our sales may be negatively affected. 
 

We believe a majority of our sales will continue to be to independent distributors and pharmacies for the foreseeable future in the United States. None 
of our independent distributors or pharmacies in the United States have been required to sell our products exclusively and each of them may freely sell the 
products of our competitors. If we are unable to maintain or expand our network of independent distributors and pharmacies, our sales may be negatively affected. 

Our operating history may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability. 

We have limited history in demonstrating the ability to complete pivotal trials, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture the iLet at commercial scale, 
conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful commercialization, or obtain reimbursement in the countries of sale. Consequently, any predictions 
you make about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating    history or a history of successfully developing 
and commercializing products. We may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays in achieving our business objectives. Our operating 
history makes any assessment of our future success or viability subject to significant uncertainty. If we do not address these risks successfully or are unable to 
transition at some point from a company with a research and development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities, then our business will 
suffer. In addition, we will need to transition at some point from a company with a research and development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial 
activities. We may not be successful in such a transition. 

Our recurring losses from operations and financial condition raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

In our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, we concluded that our recurring losses from operations and need for additional 
financing to fund future operations raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. Our ability to continue as a going concern will require 
us to obtain additional funding. If we are unable to obtain sufficient funding, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations will be materially 
and adversely affected, and we may be unable to continue as a going concern. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on acceptable terms, we would be 
forced to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of the iLet or other research and development initiatives, or may 
be forced to reduce or terminate our operations. If we are unable to continue as a going concern, we may have to liquidate our assets and may receive less than 
the value at which those assets are carried on our financial statements, and it is likely that investors will lose all or a part of their investment. If we seek additional 
financing to fund our business activities in the future and there remains substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, investors or other 
financing sources may be unwilling to provide additional funding to us on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. 
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Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations. 

As of December 31, 2023, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of $165.0 million, which may be available to reduce    future 
taxable income, of which $11.5 million expire at various dates beginning in 2035 while the remaining $153.5million do not expire but are limited in   their usage 
to an annual deduction equal to 80% of annual taxable income. In addition, as of December 31, 2023, we had state NOLs of 36.4 million, which may be available 
to reduce future taxable income, , which may be available to reduce future taxable income, of which $33.9 million expire at various dates beginning in 2029, 
while $2.5 million do not expire. These NOLs and tax credit carryforwards could expire   unused and be unavailable to offset future taxable income or tax 
liabilities, respectively. In addition, in general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, and corresponding 
provisions of state law, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject    to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs or tax credits 
to offset future taxable income or reduce tax liabilities. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or 
more stockholders or groups of stockholders who owns at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases its ownership by more than 50 percentage points over its 
lowest ownership percentage within a specified testing period. 

We have not conducted an analysis for our historical transactions to determine if we have undergone a change of control, and we may undergo an 
ownership change in connection with future changes in our stock ownership (many of which are outside of our control), whereby our ability to utilize NOLs   or 
tax credits could be further limited by Sections 382 and 383 of the Code or under corresponding provisions of state law. Furthermore, our ability to utilize our 
NOLs or tax credits is conditioned upon our attaining profitability and generating U.S. federal and state taxable income.

 
We may be adversely affected by the effects of inflation. 

Inflation has the potential to adversely affect our liquidity, business, financial condition and results of operations by increasing our overall cost structure. 
The existence of inflation in the economy has resulted in, and may continue to result in, higher interest rates and capital costs, shipping costs,  supply shortages, 
increased costs of labor, weakening exchange rates and other similar effects. As a result of inflation, we have experienced, and may continue to experience, cost 
increases. Although we may take measures to mitigate the impact of this inflation, if these measures are not effective our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and liquidity could be materially adversely affected. Even if such measures are effective, there could be a difference between the timing of when these 
beneficial actions impact our results of operations and when the cost inflation is incurred. 

Risks Related to the Future Development and Commercialization of the iLet  

We are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA, which could delay the development, review and marketing authorization of the iLet and could cause us to 
incur significant costs. 

We are developing a medical device that is subject to extensive regulation by the FDA. Although the iLet has received FDA 510(k) clearance in May 
2023, we are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA. These regulations relate to testing, manufacturing, labeling, sale, promotion, distribution and shipping. 
There are currently no approved pump therapies that utilize both insulin and glucagon to treat type 1 diabetes. As such it is difficult to accurately predict the 
developmental and regulatory challenges we may incur for the iLet in its bihormonal configuration as it proceeds into a pivotal trial, which will require its own 
individual 510(k).  
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We have encountered, and may continue to encounter, difficulties enrolling participants in clinical trials, and our clinical development activities could 
thereby be delayed or otherwise adversely affected. 

The timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends, among other things, on the ability to enroll a sufficient number of 
participants who remain in the trial until its conclusion. We have experienced, and may continue to experience, difficulties in participant enrollment in our clinical 
trials for a variety of reasons, including: 

the participant eligibility criteria defined in the protocol;

 the proximity of participants to trial sites; 

 the design of the trial; 

 our ability to engage a trial sponsor, if necessary, and recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience; 

competing clinical trials for similar therapies or new technologies;

the perceptions of clinicians and of people with diabetes as to the potential advantages of the iLet system;

 our ability to obtain and maintain participant consents; 

 the risk that participants enrolled in clinical trials will not complete a clinical trial; and 

 the COVID-19 global pandemic. 

In addition, our clinical trials will compete with other clinical trials for insulin pumps and investigational therapies in clinical development for the 
treatment of type 1 diabetes, and this competition will reduce the number of participants available to us, because some participants who might have opted to 
enroll in our trials may instead opt to enroll in a trial being conducted by one of our competitors. We may conduct some of our clinical trials at the same clinical 
trial sites that some of our competitors use, which will reduce the number of people who are available for our clinical trials at such clinical trial sites. 

Even if we are able to enroll a sufficient number of participants in our clinical trials, delays in participant enrollment may result in increased costs or 
may affect the timing or outcome of the planned clinical trials, which could prevent completion of these trials and adversely affect our ability to advance the 
development of our iLet system for our current and future indications. 
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Use of the iLet may cause adverse events or present other safety concerns that could limit its sales, or result in significant negative consequences, including 
death. If we discover that the iLet is less effective than previously believed or has the potential for safety issues that were not previously identified, our ability 
to market the iLet could be compromised. 

The use of our iLet could be associated with adverse events or serious adverse events, which can vary in severity from minor reactions to death and in 
frequency from infrequent to prevalent. Unacceptable safety concerns caused by the iLet could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay, or halt sales 
of the iLet. 

Potential adverse events may not be appropriately or timely recognized or managed by the treating medical staff, particularly outside of the research 
institutions that collaborate with us. Inadequate training in recognizing or managing the adverse events of the iLet could result in adverse events to patients, 
including death. Any of these occurrences may materially and adversely harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

If we, or others, discover safety concerns that were not previously identified, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, 
including: 

 regulatory authorities may seek to reclassify a cleared 510(k) device thus triggering the need for a PMA, withdraw approvals, seize the product, 
or seek an injunction against its manufacture or distribution; 

 we, or any future collaborators, may be required to recall the product, change the way such product is administered to patients or conduct 
additional clinical trials; 

 additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of, or the manufacturing processes for, the particular product; 

 regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label, such as a “black box” warning or impose distribution or use restrictions; 

 we, or any future collaborators, may be subject to fines, injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties; 

 we, or any future collaborators, could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; 

 the product may become less competitive; and 

 our reputation may suffer. 

Any of the foregoing could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance  of the iLet, in its insulin-only or bihormonal configuration, for 
the treatment of type 1 diabetes or any other indication, which would significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects, and could adversely 
impact our financial condition, results of operations or the market price of our common shares. 
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We are developing the iLet in combination with other therapies and devices, which exposes us to additional risks.

We have designed the iLet to be compatible with multiple, commonly dosed analog insulins, including fast-acting NovoLog and ultra-fast- acting Fiasp 
from Novo Nordisk A/S, or Novo Nordisk, and with Humalog from Eli Lilly and Company, or Eli Lilly. If the iLet, in its insulin-only or bihormonal configuration, 
were to receive marketing authorization or be commercialized for use in combination with these other therapies, including dasiglucagon if approved, we would 
continue to be subject to the risks that the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities could revoke approval of the therapy used in combination with the iLet 
or that safety, effectiveness, manufacturing or supply issues could arise with these existing therapies. This could result in our own products being removed from 
the market or being less successful commercially. 

Manufacturing risks may adversely affect our ability to manufacture the iLet, which could negatively impact the ongoing and planned clinical trials of 
the Let and our sales and operating margins. 

We manufacture the iLet and its accompanying ready-to-fill insulin cartridges at our facilities located in Irvine, California. Our business strategy depends 
on our ability to manufacture the iLet in its insulin-only and bihormonal configurations in sufficient quantities and on a timely basis so as to meet our commercial 
needs, while adhering to product quality standards, complying with   regulatory requirements and managing manufacturing costs. We are subject to numerous 
risks related to our manufacturing capabilities, including: 

quality or reliability defects in product components that we source from third-party suppliers, including the infusion sets we purchase from 
Unomedical, an affiliate of ConvaTec, and the supplier of the motors used in the pump of the iLet; 

 our inability to secure product components in a timely manner, in sufficient quantities and on commercially reasonable terms; 

 difficulty identifying and qualifying alternative suppliers for components in a timely manner; 

 implementing and maintaining acceptable quality systems while experiencing rapid growth; 

 our failure to increase production of products to meet demand; 

 our inability to modify production lines and expand manufacturing facilities to enable us to efficiently produce future products or implement    
any necessary or desired changes in response to regulatory requirements; and 

 potential damage to or destruction of our manufacturing equipment or manufacturing facilities. 
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As we begin to increase production of the iLet, we will have to invest additional resources in purchasing components, hiring and training employees, 
and enhancing our manufacturing processes and quality systems. We may also increase our utilization of third parties to perform contracted manufacturing 
services for us, and we may need to acquire additional custom designed equipment to support the expansion of our manufacturing capacity. If we fail to increase 
our production capacity to meet clinical and commercial requirements while also maintaining product quality standards, we may fail to obtain and maintain 
regulatory  clearances  or approvals and efficiently manage costs, and our sales and operating margins could be negatively impacted, which would have an adverse 
impact on our financial condition and operating results. 

Further, we perform all of our manufacturing activities at our facility in Irvine, California. Our facilities, equipment and inventory would be costly     to 
replace and could require substantial lead time to repair or replace. Our facilities may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, 
including, but not limited to, earthquakes, flooding, fire and power outages, which may render it difficult or impossible for us to perform our research, development 
and commercialization activities for some period of time. The inability to perform those activities, combined with the time it may take to     rebuild our inventory 
of finished product, may result in delays in clinical trials, the loss of customers or harm to our reputation. Although we possess   insurance for damage to our 
property and the disruption of our business, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses and this insurance may not continue to be 
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. 

We have limited experience in manufacturing the iLet in commercial quantities and may encounter related problems or delays that could result in lost 
revenue. 

We must manufacture and assemble the iLet in compliance with regulatory requirements and at an acceptable cost in order to achieve and maintain 
profitability. We have limited experience in manufacturing the iLet in commercial quantities and, as a result, we may have difficulty manufacturing and assembling 
the iLet in sufficient quantities in a timely manner. To manage our manufacturing and operations with our suppliers, we will need to forecast anticipated product 
orders and material requirements to predict our inventory needs in advance and enter into purchase orders on the basis of these requirements. Our limited 
manufacturing history may not provide us with enough data to accurately predict future component demand, fluctuations in availability and pricing of commodity 
materials of supply, and to anticipate our costs and supply needs effectively. We may in the future experience delays in obtaining components from suppliers, 
which could impede our ability to manufacture and assemble the iLet on our expected timeline. As a result of this or any other delays, we may encounter 
difficulties in production of the iLet, including problems with quality control and assurance, component supply shortages or surpluses, increased costs, shortages 
of qualified personnel and difficulties associated with compliance with local, state, federal and   foreign regulatory requirements. 

 

If the quality of the iLet does not meet the expectations of physicians or patients then our brand and reputation or our business could be adversely 
affected. 

In the course of conducting our business, we must adequately address quality issues that may arise with the iLet, including defects in third- party 
components included in the iLet. Although we have established internal procedures designed to minimize risks that may arise from quality   issues, we may not 
be able to eliminate or mitigate occurrences of these issues and associated liabilities. In addition, even in the absence of quality issues, we may be subject to 
claims and liability if the performance of the iLet does not meet the expectations of physicians or patients. If the quality of the iLet does not meet the expectations 
of physicians or patients, then our brand and reputation with those physicians or patients, and our business, financial condition and results of operations, could 
be adversely affected. 

Risk of warranty claims on the iLet. 

We bear the risk of warranty claims on the iLet. We may not be successful in claiming recovery under any warranty or indemnity provided to us by our 
suppliers or third-party manufacturers. In the event of a successful warranty claim against us by a customer, any recovery from any such supplier or third-party 
manufacturer could be inadequate. In addition, warranty claims brought by our customers related to third-party components may arise after our ability to bring 
corresponding warranty claims against such suppliers or third-party manufacturers expires, which could result in costs to us. 
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Coverage and reimbursement may be limited or unavailable in certain market segments for the iLet, which could make it difficult for us to sell the iLet 
profitably. 

The success of the iLet for the treatment of type 1 diabetes, depends on the availability of adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors. 

In the United States and markets in other countries, patients who are provided medical treatment for their conditions generally rely on third-party payors 
to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with their treatment. Adequate coverage and reimbursement from governmental healthcare programs, such as 
Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors are critical to new device acceptance. 

Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which drugs and    devices 
they will cover and the amount of reimbursement. Coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the drug or device is approved by the FDA or 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities. In the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medicines and devices are typically made 
by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, an agency within the Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS. CMS decides whether and 
to what extent a new medicine or device will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree. Coverage 
and reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including the third-party payor’s  determination that use of a product is: 

a covered benefit under its health plan;
 

 safe, effective and medically necessary;
 

 appropriate for the specific patient;
 

 cost-effective; and
 

 neither experimental nor investigational.
 

Further, in the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors. As a result, obtaining 
coverage and reimbursement approval of a product from a government or other third-party payor is a time-consuming and costly process that could require     us 
to provide to each payor supporting scientific, clinical and cost-effectiveness data for the use of our products on a payor-by-payor basis, with no assurance that 
coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained. Although we have obtained coverage of the iLet, the resulting reimbursement payment rates might not 
be adequate for us to maintain pricing sufficient to achieve or sustain profitability or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. Additionally, 
third-party payors may not cover, or provide adequate reimbursement for, long- term follow-up evaluations required following the use of the iLet or future 
configurations. Patients are unlikely to use the iLet or future configurations unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant 
portion of the cost of our investigational devices. Because the iLet may have a higher cost of goods than conventional therapies, and may require long-term follow 
up evaluations, the risk that coverage and reimbursement rates may be   inadequate for us to achieve profitability may be greater. There is significant uncertainty 
related to insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. It is difficult to predict at this time what third-party payors will decide with respect 
to the coverage and reimbursement for our future configurations. 

Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payors in the United States and abroad to cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause   such 
organizations to limit both coverage and the level of reimbursement for newly approved products and, as a result, they may not cover or provide    adequate 
payment for future configurations. There has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to specialty drug pricing 
practices. Specifically, there have been several recent Congressional inquiries and proposed federal and state legislation designed to, among    other things, bring 
more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient 
programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any 
of our configurations due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations, cost containment initiatives and 
additional legislative changes. 
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We face competition from numerous competitors, most of whom have far greater resources than we have, which may make it more difficult for us to achieve 
significant market penetration and which may allow them to develop additional products for the treatment of diabetes that compete with the iLet. 

The medical device industry is intensely competitive, subject to rapid change and highly sensitive to the introduction of new products, treatment 
techniques or technologies, or other market activities of industry participants. We compete with a number of companies that manufacture insulin delivery devices, 
including manufacturers of prefilled insulin syringes and insulin pens, such as Eli Lilly, Novo Nordisk and Sanofi S.A. In the United States, we   expect our 
primary competitors for insulin infusion to be companies that manufacture insulin pumps, including Medtronic, Insulet Corporation and Tandem Diabetes Care. 
However, the market for insulin pumps is currently undergoing significant changes and it is difficult to predict the potential impact of these changes on our 
competitive landscape. The t-Slim X2 pump from Tandem Diabetes Care with predictive hyperglycemic and hypoglycemic capabilities was launched in the 
United States in January 2020. Medtronic's most advanced insulin pump, the model 780G, is a hybrid, closed- loop system with predictive    low blood glucose 
detection and dosing capabilities and has received CE Mark from European regulators. The Insulet Omnipod 5 insulin pump, which is a smartphone-controlled, 
hybrid, closed-loop system, is expected to be compatible with CGMs offered by both DexCom and Abbott Laboratories. Medtronic's pump is in late-stage 
development, and Insulet’s Omnipod 5 has been granted FDA clearance and is currently in limited launch. 

Our current primary competitors are publicly traded companies that have several competitive advantages over us, including greater financial resources 
for sales and marketing and product development, established relationships with healthcare providers and third-party payors, and larger and more established 
distribution networks. Most of these competitors are large, well-capitalized companies with significantly more market share and resources than    we have. As a 
consequence, they are able to spend more aggressively on product development, marketing, sales and other product initiatives than we may be able to. In some 
instances, our competitors also offer products that include features that the iLet does not include. For instance, Insulet offers a   tubeless insulin delivery system 
which integrates the pump and infusion set in a single, disposable unit. The introduction by competitors of new products     may create market saturation that may 
make it difficult to differentiate the potential benefits of the iLet over other products in development or   approved products. 

In addition, we may face competition from a number of medical device and pharmaceutical companies and academic and government-sponsored medical 
researchers that are pursuing new delivery devices, delivery technologies, sensing technologies, procedures, drugs and other therapeutics for the monitoring, 
treatment and prevention of diabetes. 

The availability of our competitors’ products could limit the demand for the iLet. The inability to compete with existing or subsequently introduced 
devices would have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and prospects. In addition, the reimbursement structure of approved devices by other 
companies could impact the anticipated reimbursement structure of the iLet and its future configurations and   our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects. 
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Our ability to achieve our strategic objectives will depend, among other things, on our ability to develop and commercialize the iLet for the  treatment of type 
1 diabetes as an option that offers distinct features and functionality, is easy-to-use, provides improved glycemic control, receive   adequate coverage and 
reimbursement from third-party payors, and are otherwise more appealing than available alternatives. 

Our primary competitors, as well as a number of other companies and medical researchers are pursuing new delivery devices, delivery technologies, 
sensing technologies, treatment techniques, procedures, drugs and other therapies for the monitoring, treatment and prevention of diabetes.  Any  breakthroughs 
in diabetes monitoring, treatment or prevention could reduce the potential market for our products, which could adversely affect our business operations. In 
addition, even the perception that new products may be introduced, or  that technological or treatment advancements could occur, could cause consumers to delay 
the purchase of the iLet for the treatment of type 1    diabetes.

Because the insulin-dependent diabetes market is large and growing, we anticipate companies will continue to dedicate significant resources to 
developing competitive products and technologies. The introduction by competitors of products may create market confusion that may make it difficult to 
differentiate the potential benefits of the iLet over other products in development or approved products. Our competitors may introduce products that offer features 
not available in the iLet. For example, Insulet has received FDA clearance for a hybrid, tubeless, closed-loop insulin pump that may be perceived by patients as 
a better alternative to the iLet. 

Moreover, we have designed our products to resemble modern consumer electronic devices to address certain aesthetic and functionality concerns 
consumers have raised with respect to traditional pumps. The consumer electronics industry is itself highly competitive, and characterized by continuous new 
product introductions, rapid developments in technology, and subjective and changing consumer preferences. If, in the future, consumers cease to view our 
products as contemporary or convenient as compared to then-existing consumer electronics technology, our products may become less desirable. 

Our current business strategy is highly dependent on the iLet, in its insulin-only mode for the treatment of type 1 diabetes achieving market acceptance. 
To do so, we must demonstrate to people with diabetes, their caregivers and healthcare providers that the iLet is a better treatment option compared to diabetes 
treatments, including traditional insulin pump products and multiple daily injection, or MDI, therapies, as well    as alternative diabetes monitoring, treatment or 
prevention methodologies. Market acceptance and adoption of the iLet depends on educating people with diabetes, as well as their caregivers and healthcare 
providers, about the distinct features, ease-of- use, treatment outcomes, and other perceived benefits as compared to competitive products. If we are not successful 
in convincing existing and potential customers of the benefits of the iLet, or if we are not able to achieve the support of caregivers and healthcare providers for 
our products, our business and results of operations will be adversely affected. 

Market acceptance of the iLet in its insulin-only or bihormonal configuration for the treatment of type 1 diabetes could be negatively   impacted by 
many factors, including: 

 the failure to achieve and maintain widespread acceptance among people with insulin- dependent diabetes, their  caregivers,  healthcare  
providers, third-party payors and key opinion leaders in the diabetes treatment community;

 lack of evidence supporting the safety, ease-of-use or other perceived benefits of the iLet over competitive products or other currently available 
insulin treatment methodologies;

 perceived risks or uncertainties associated with the use of the iLet, or its components, or of similar products or technologies of our competitors;

 adverse regulatory or legal actions relating to the iLet or other insulin pump technologies; and
 

 results of our clinical trials.
 

If the iLet for the treatment of type 1 diabetes does not achieve and maintain widespread market   acceptance, we may fail to achieve sales consistent 
with our projections, in which case our business, financial condition and operating results could be materially and adversely affected. 
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Our long-term growth depends, in part, on our ability to develop and enhance the iLet, and if we fail to do so we may be unable to compete effectively. 

It is important to our business and our long-term growth that we continue to develop and enhance the iLet. We intend to continue to invest in research 
and development activities focused on improvements and enhancements to the iLet. Additionally, we intend to pursue regulatory clearance     or approval for 
other indications in the United States in the future. 

Developing enhancements to the iLet can be expensive and time-consuming and could divert management’s attention away from the commercialization 
of the iLet and divert financial resources from other operations. The success of any new product enhancements will depend on several factors, including our 
ability to: 

properly identify and anticipate physician and patient needs, and develop enhancements to meet those needs;

 demonstrate, if required, the safety and effectiveness of new enhancements to the iLet, including additional indications, with data from preclinical 
studies and clinical studies;

 obtain, and obtain in a timely manner, the necessary regulatory clearances or approvals for new enhancements to the iLet, product modifications 
or expanded indications;

avoid infringing upon the intellectual property rights of third parties;
 

 be fully FDA-compliant with marketing of new devices or modified products;
 

 develop an effective and dedicated sales and marketing team to provide adequate education and training to potential users of the iLet;   and

 receive adequate coverage and reimbursement for procedures performed with the iLet.

If we are not successful in commercializing the iLet, expanding the indications for which it may be approved and developing and commercializing new 
product enhancements, our ability to achieve and maintain market share and increase our revenue may be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The market opportunities for the iLet for the treatment of diabetes may be smaller than we anticipated. 

Our current and future target patient populations are based on our beliefs and estimates regarding the incidence or prevalence of type 1 and type 2 
diabetes, including the patient population using intensive insulin therapy for treatment, which is derived from a variety of sources including scientific   literature 
and third-party estimates. Our projections may prove to be incorrect and the number of potential patients may turn out to be lower than expected. Even if we 
obtain significant market share for the iLet, because the potential target populations could be smaller than we expect, we may never achieve profitability without 
obtaining regulatory approval for the iLet in additional indications. 

 
We may expend our resources to pursue a particular indication and forgo the opportunity to capitalize on indications that may ultimately be more profitable 
or for which there is a greater likelihood of success. 

We have limited financial and personnel resources and are placing significant focus on the development of the iLet in its  insulin-only  and bihormonal 
configurations for the treatment of type 1 diabetes. We intend to pursue expanded use of the iLet system by people living with type 2 diabetes who require 
intensive insulin therapy. This will require the successful   completion of additional trials, submission of a 510(k) and significant resources, which may not result 
in clearance of the use of the iLet  in type 2 diabetes. Over time, we may also seek future clearances for the use of the iLet in the treatment of a number of related 
conditions including gestational diabetes, monogenic diabetes, cystic fibrosis-related diabetes, congenital hyperinsulinism, insulinoma syndrome, post-bariatric 
surgery and metabolic syndrome. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market 
opportunities. Our    spending on current and future research and development programs for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable future 
investigational devices. 
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Obtaining and maintaining marketing authorization for the iLet system in any configuration for type 1 diabetes or other indication in one jurisdiction   does 
not mean that we will be successful in obtaining marketing authorization of the iLet in any configuration or indication in other jurisdictions. 

Obtaining and maintaining marketing authorization for the iLet in any configuration for type 1 diabetes or other indication  in  one jurisdiction does not 
guarantee that we will be able to obtain or maintain marketing authorization in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in    obtaining marketing authorization 
in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the marketing authorization process in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing authorization of 
an investigational device, comparable regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the 
investigational device in those countries. Procedures for obtaining marketing authorization vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and 
administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States, including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, as clinical 
studies conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, an 
investigational device must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge 
for our products is also subject to approval. 

We may also submit marketing applications in other countries. Regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outside of the United States have requirements for 
approval of investigational devices with which we must comply prior to marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign marketing authorization and 
compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and could delay or prevent the introduction of our 
products in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or receive applicable marketing authorizations, 
our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our investigational devices will be harmed. 
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Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

We rely and will continue to rely on third parties to conduct clinical trials of the iLet, which means we may not have full control over the conduct of such 
trials. 

We have relied and will continue to rely on third parties, such as medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories, to conduct clinical 
trials of our investigational device, and some of the clinical trials of the iLet conducted to date have been sponsored by third parties. The iLet has been studied in 
a number of trials sponsored by third parties, such as the pivotal trial for the iLet in its insulin-only configuration, sponsored by the Jaeb Center for Health 
Research Foundation, or the Jaeb Center. While we will be the sponsor on our bihormonal trial, we will rely on the Jaeb Center to act as the contract research 
organization. We have also relied on Massachusetts General Hospital to sponsor earlier trials of the iLet. Third party-sponsored clinical trials pose similar risks 
as those set forth elsewhere in this section relating to clinical trials initiated by us. While third-party trials may provide us with clinical data that can inform our 
future development strategy, we do not have full control over the protocols, administration, or conduct of the trials. As a result, we are subject to risks associated 
with the way such trials are conducted and there is no assurance the clinical data from any of third-party clinical trials will be accepted by the FDA or other 
comparable regulatory authorities to support our submissions for marketing authorization. Third parties sponsoring such clinical trials may not perform their 
responsibilities for the clinical trials on our anticipated schedule or consistent with clinical trial protocols or applicable regulations. Further, any data integrity 
issues or patient safety issues arising out of any of these trials would be beyond our  control yet could adversely affect our reputation and damage the clinical and 
commercial prospects for the iLet. Additional risks include difficulties or delays in communicating with investigators or administrators, procedural delays and 
other timing issues, and difficulties or differences in interpreting data. Third parties may design clinical trials with clinical endpoints that are more difficult to 
achieve, or in other ways that increase the risk of negative clinical  trial results compared to clinical trials that we may design on our own. As a result, our lack 
of control over the design, conduct and timing of, and communications with the FDA regarding such trials expose us to additional risks and uncertainties, many 
of which are outside our control, and the occurrence of which could adversely affect the prospects for the iLet. 

We and third-party collaborators, such as the Jaeb Center, are required to comply with all applicable regulations governing clinical research, including 
good clinical practice, or GCP, regulations. The FDA and similar foreign authorities enforce these regulations through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, 
principal investigators and trial sites. If we or our third-party collaborators fail to comply with GCP regulations, the clinical trials may be delayed     or the data 
generated in trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA may require us to perform additional studies before granting us authorization to     market, if at all. We 
cannot be certain that, upon inspection, the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities will determine that any of trials of the iLet comply or complied with 
applicable regulations, including GCPs. In addition, the FDA may require a large number of test subjects. Our failure or the failure of our third-party contractors 
to comply with the applicable regulations may require us to repeat studies or trials, which could delay or prevent us from obtaining regulatory clearance or 
approval. Furthermore, our third-party collaborators may be delayed in conducting trials of the iLet for reasons outside of their control. 

If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet expected deadlines, if these third parties need 
to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or 
for other reasons, the non-clinical development activities or clinical trials for the iLet for type 1 diabetes may be extended, delayed, suspended or terminated, and 
we may not be able to obtain regulatory clearance or approval for, or successfully commercialize, the iLet or any future investigational devices on a timely basis, 
if at all, and our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects may be adversely affected. 

We rely on third parties to manufacture product candidates, which increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of such product 
candidates or products or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts. 

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production of clinical or commercial supplies of the product candidates that we are developing 
or evaluating in our development programs. We have limited personnel with experience in drug manufacturing and lack the resources and the capabilities to 
manufacture any of our product candidates on a clinical or commercial scale. We rely on third parties for supply of our product candidates, and our strategy is to 
outsource all manufacturing of our product candidates and products to third parties. 

In order to conduct clinical trials of product candidates, we will need to have them manufactured in potentially large quantities. Our third-party 
manufacturers (or contract manufacturers, or CMOs) may be unable to successfully increase the manufacturing capacity for any of our product candidates in    a 
timely or cost-effective manner, or at all. Any inability to manufacture our product candidates or future approved drugs in sufficient quantities when needed 
would seriously harm our business. For example, recent global supply chain constraints have led to a risk of shortages in lab supplies. If there is a shortage of lab 
supplies which are critical for our clinical programs, there can be no assurance that we would be able to find alternative suppliers for certain critical materials. 

In addition, quality issues may arise during scale-up activities and at any other time. For example, ongoing data on the stability of our product candidates 
may shorten the expiry of our product candidates and lead to clinical trial material supply shortages, and potentially clinical trial delays. If these third-party 
manufacturers are unable to successfully scale up the manufacture of our product candidates in sufficient quality and quantity, the development, testing and 
clinical trials of that product candidate may be delayed or infeasible, and regulatory approval or commercial launch of that product candidate may be delayed or 
not obtained, which could significantly harm our business. 

Our use of new third-party manufacturers increases the risk of delays in production or insufficient supplies of our product candidates as we transfer our 
manufacturing technology to these manufacturers and as they gain experience manufacturing our product candidates. Changes in manufacturers often involve 
changes in manufacturing procedures and processes, which could require that we conduct bridging studies between our prior clinical supply used in  our clinical 
trials and that of any new manufacturer. We may be unsuccessful in demonstrating comparability of clinical supplies which could require the conduct of additional 
clinical trials. 
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Even after a third-party manufacturer has gained significant experience in manufacturing our product candidates or even if we believe we have succeeded 
in optimizing the manufacturing process, there can be no assurance that such manufacturer will produce sufficient quantities of our product candidates in a timely 
manner or continuously over time, or at all. 

We may be delayed if we need to change the manufacturing process used by a third party. Further, if we change an approved manufacturing process, 
then we may be delayed if the FDA or a comparable foreign authority needs to review the new manufacturing process before it may be used. Additionally, we 
will also need to verify, such as through a manufacturing comparability study, that any new manufacturing process will produce our product candidate according 
to the specifications previously submitted to the FDA or another regulatory authority. The delays associated with the verification of a new CMO could negatively 
affect our ability to develop product candidates or commercialize our products in a timely manner or within budget. Furthermore, a CMO   may possess technology 
related to the manufacture of our product candidate that such CMO owns independently. This would increase our reliance on such CMO or require us to obtain 
a license from such CMO in order to have another CMO manufacture our product candidates. 

We do not currently have any agreements with third-party manufacturers for long-term commercial supply. In the future, we may be unable to enter into 
agreements with third-party manufacturers for commercial supplies of any product candidate that we develop, or may be unable to do so on acceptable terms. 
Even if we are able to establish and maintain arrangements with third-party manufacturers, reliance on third-party manufacturers entails risks, including: 

reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance;
 

 the possible breach of the manufacturing agreement by the third party;
 

 the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how; and
 

 the possible termination or nonrenewal of the agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us.
 

Third-party manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGMP requirements or similar regulatory requirements outside the United States. Our failure, 
or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable requirements could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, 
civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or products, operating restrictions 
and/or criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of our product candidates and potentially cause    delays to our 
ongoing clinical trials. 

Our future product candidates and any products that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and products for access to 
manufacturing facilities. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP requirements particularly for the development of monoclonal 
antibodies, and that might be capable of manufacturing for us. 

If the third parties that we engage to supply any materials or manufacture product for our preclinical tests and clinical trials should cease to continue to 
do so for any reason, we likely would experience delays in advancing these tests and trials while we identify and qualify replacement suppliers or manufacturers 
and we may be unable to obtain replacement supplies on terms that are favorable to us. In addition, if we are not able to obtain adequate supplies of our product 
candidates or the substances used to manufacture them, it will be more difficult for us to develop our product candidates and compete effectively. 

Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates may adversely affect our future profit margins 
and our ability to develop product candidates and commercialize any products that receive marketing approval on a timely and competitive basis. 
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We rely on DexCom to provide us with iCGM technology for the iLet, and the termination of our existing development agreement with DexCom would 
disrupt our ability to commercialize the iLet or develop future products. 

The iLet is currently only compatible with DexCom’s G6 and G7 iCGM. Although we are actively working to expand the compatibility of the iLet with 
other iCGM models, there is no assurance we will be successful in our efforts. Our development agreement with DexCom provides us non- exclusive licenses to 
integrate the currently available generation of DexCom’s iCGM technology with the iLet. Under our current agreement with DexCom, we possess the right to 
integrate future generations of DexCom iCGM technology with any of our current or future products if agreed to by   DexCom in its sole and absolute discretion. 
Termination of our agreement with DexCom could require us to redesign the iLet, and attempt to    integrate an alternative iCGM system into the iLet, if we can 
obtain rights to do so, which could result in an interruption or substantial delay in the development of the iLet. The termination of our existing agreement with 
DexCom would disrupt our ability to commercialize the iLet, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations, 
negatively impact our ability to compete and cause the price of our Class B common stock to decline. 

If conflicts arise between us and our collaborators or strategic partners, these parties may act in a manner adverse to us and could limit our ability to 
implement our strategies. 

If conflicts arise between our corporate or academic collaborators or strategic partners and us, the other party may act in a manner adverse to us and 
could limit our ability to implement our strategies. Our current or future collaborators or strategic partners, may develop, either alone or with others, products in 
related fields that are competitive with the products or potential products that are the subject of these collaborations. Competing products, either developed by 
the collaborators or strategic partners or to which the collaborators or strategic partners have rights, may result in the withdrawal of partner support for our 
investigational devices. Our current or future collaborators or strategic partners may preclude us from entering into collaborations with their competitors, fail   to 
obtain timely regulatory approvals, terminate their agreements with us prematurely, or fail to devote sufficient resources to the development and 
commercialization of products. Any of these developments could harm our product development efforts. 
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We obtain some of the components and subassemblies included in the iLet from single source suppliers, and the partial or complete loss of one or more of 
these suppliers could cause significant production delays, an inability to meet customer demand and a substantial loss in revenue. 

We rely on a number of suppliers who manufacture the components of the iLet. We have a contract manufacturing agreement with Unomedical, an 
affiliate of ConvaTec, for the production of infusion sets for the iLet, and Unomedical is our only supplier of infusion sets. If Unomedical was to terminate its 
contract with us, or be unable to provide infusion sets to us in the quantities ordered, we would need to identify and qualify     a new supplier. Similarly, we obtain 
the pump motors for the iLet from a single- source supplier. Although there are other manufacturers of infusion sets and pump motors, we may not be able to 
identify a new manufacturer or enter into a contract with terms substantially the same as our current agreement in a   timely manner, if at all. Any disruption in 
the supply of our infusion sets or pump motors could have a materially adverse impact on our clinical trials and commercial sales of the iLet. 

We do not currently have long-term supply agreements with the suppliers of most of our components, and, in most cases, we purchase these components 
on a purchase order basis. Although we are in active discussions to enter into long-term supply agreements for certain components, there is no assurance we will 
be able to enter into such agreements on commercially reasonable terms in a timely manner, if at all. In some other cases, where we do   have agreements in place, 
our agreements with our suppliers can be terminated by either party upon short notice. Our suppliers may encounter problems   during manufacturing due to a 
variety of reasons, including failure to follow specific protocols and procedures, failure to comply with applicable regulations, equipment malfunction and 
environmental factors, any of which could delay or impede their ability to meet our demand. Our reliance on these third-party suppliers also subjects us to other 
risks that could harm our business, including: 

 we are not a major customer of many of our suppliers, and these suppliers may therefore give other customers’ needs higher priority than ours;

we may not be able to obtain adequate supply in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms;
 

 our suppliers, especially new suppliers, may make errors in manufacturing components that could negatively affect the effectiveness or safety     
of the iLet  or cause delays in shipment or in the conduct of our clinical trials;

 we may have difficulty locating and qualifying alternative suppliers for our sole-source supplies;
 

 switching components may require product redesign;
 

 our suppliers manufacture products for a range of customers, and fluctuations in demand for the products these suppliers manufacture for others 
may affect their ability to deliver components to us in a timely manner; and

 we may not be able to quickly establish additional or replacement suppliers, particularly for our sole-source components.

32  



Cyber-attacks or other failures in our telecommunications or information technology systems, or those of our collaborators, contract research organizations, 
third-party logistics providers, distributors or other contractors or consultants, could result in information theft, data corruption and significant disruption 
of our business operations. 

We, our collaborators, our CROs, third-party logistics providers, distributors and other contractors and consultants utilize information technology, or IT, 
systems and networks to process, transmit and store electronic information in connection with our business activities. As use of digital technologies has increased, 
cyber incidents, including third parties gaining access to employee accounts using stolen or inferred credentials, computer malware, viruses, spamming, phishing 
attacks or other means, and deliberate attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access to computer systems and networks, have    increased in frequency and 
sophistication. These threats pose a risk to the security of our, our collaborators’, our CROs’, third-party logistics providers’, distributors’ and other contractors’ 
and consultants’ systems and networks, and the confidentiality, availability and integrity of our data. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in 
preventing cyber-attacks or successfully mitigating their effects. Similarly, there can be no assurance that our collaborators, CROs, third-party logistics providers, 
distributors and other contractors and consultants will be successful in protecting our clinical and other data that is stored on their systems. Any cyber-attack, 
data breach or destruction or loss of data could result in a violation of applicable U.S. and international privacy, data protection and other laws, and subject us to 
litigation and governmental investigations and proceedings by federal, state and local regulatory entities in the United States and by international regulatory 
entities, resulting in exposure to material civil and/or criminal liability. Further, our general   liability insurance and corporate risk program may not cover all 
potential claims to which we are exposed and may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed, and could have a material adverse effect 
on our business and prospects. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed, ongoing or planned clinical trials for any of our product candidates 
could result in delays in our development and regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. In addition, we 
may suffer reputational harm or face litigation or adverse regulatory action as a result of cyber-attacks or other data security breaches and may incur significant 
additional expense to implement further data protection measures. 

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property and Potential Litigation 

We do not own all of the intellectual property underlying the iLet and, if either one of our license agreements with the Trustees of Boston University is 
terminated, we could lose our rights to commercialize the iLet. 

In addition to patent rights that we own, we license certain patents and patent applications from the Trustees of Boston University to make, have made, 
and use, and eventually to sell and offer to sell, various technologies that are material to the operation of the iLet. While we are a co-owner of two patent families 
that we license from the Trustees of Boston University, we do not own the remaining patents and patent applications that underlie the licenses. A first license 
grants us exclusive worldwide rights to exploit the U.S. and foreign patent rights of five patent families and the copyrights related to software, including the 
control algorithm run by the iLet. A second license grants us exclusive worldwide rights to exploit the U.S. and foreign patent rights of three patent families 
relating to disposable and non- disposable components of the iLet system, including infusion sets that subcutaneously deliver    the glucagon and/or insulin 
hormones. Our rights to use these technologies and employ the inventions claimed in the licensed patent rights are subject to our abiding by the terms and 
conditions of the licenses, meeting certain milestones set forth in the applicable license agreements, and are subject to certain reserved and pre- existing rights of 
governmental and not-for-profit institutions. If we fail to comply with our obligations under these licenses, or if the   licenses are terminated, we could lose these 
license rights and other information rights that are important to our business, which would be harmful to our competitive position, business, financial condition, 
results of operations or prospects. In addition, while we have significant input on and participation in the strategy for the prosecution of the patent rights, the 
Trustees of Boston University have ultimate contractual control over the prosecution strategies relating to the patent rights subject to these licenses, and there are 
restrictions on our and the Trustees of Boston University’s rights to enforce certain patents against   third parties engaged in the exploitation of certain products 
in certain markets. As a result, we are largely dependent upon the Trustees of Boston University    to determine the appropriate strategy for prosecuting the patent 
rights under the license agreements. 

Our development and commercialization rights to our current and future investigational devices and technology are subject, in part, to the terms and conditions of licenses 
granted to us by others. 

Our patent portfolio consists of a combination of issued patents and pending patent applications licensed-in from a third party, jointly owned with a third 
party, and assigned solely to us based on our ongoing development activities. We are reliant upon certain of these third-party rights and proprietary technologies, 
including the licenses from the Trustees of Boston University, for the engineering and development of the iLet and future investigational devices. 

We also engage in collaborations with scientists at academic and non-profit institutions to access information, technologies, and materials that may not 
otherwise be available to us. Although the agreements that govern these collaborations may include an option to negotiate an exclusive license to the institution’s 
rights in any inventions that are created in the course of these collaborations, we may not be able to come to a final agreement for an exclusive license with an 
institution. 

Such licenses and other contracts may also be the subject of disagreements with the grantors or various third parties regarding the interpretation of such 
licenses and contracts. The resolution of any such disagreements that may arise could affect the scope of our rights to the relevant technology, or affect financial 
or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of which could inhibit our ability to utilize the underlying technology in a cost-effective manner to 
develop and commercialize our investigational device, which in turn could have a materially adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial 
condition, results of operations, or prospects. 

Under certain circumstances, such as a material breach of terms, our licensors could terminate our license agreements. If these in-licenses are terminated, 
or if the underlying patents fail to provide the intended exclusivity, competitors could have the freedom to seek regulatory approval of, and to market, products 
identical to ours. In addition, we may seek to obtain additional licenses from our licensors and, in connection with obtaining such licenses,   we may agree to 
amend our existing licenses in a manner that may be more favorable to the licensors, including by agreeing to terms that could enable third parties (potentially 
including our competitors) to receive licenses to a portion of the intellectual property that is subject to our existing licenses. 
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In addition, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing, prosecution, maintenance, enforcement and defense of patents and patent 
applications directed to the technology that we ultimately license from third parties. Therefore, we cannot be certain that these patents and patent applications 
will be prepared, filed, prosecuted, maintained, enforced, and defended in a manner consistent with our best interests. If our licensors fail to prosecute, maintain, 
enforce, and defend such patents, or lose rights to those patents or patent applications, the rights we have licensed may be reduced or eliminated,    and our right 
to develop and commercialize any of our products that are the subject of such licensed rights could be impaired. For example, if we or our licensors fail to 
maintain the patents and patent applications covering the iLet and our future investigational device and technologies, we may not be able to prevent a competitor 
from marketing products that are the same as or similar to the iLet or our future investigational device. Further, our competitors and others commercializing 
products similar     or identical to ours may be able to take advantage of our investment in development and clinical trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical 
data and launch their product earlier than might otherwise be the case, which could increase competition for the iLet and our future investigational device and 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. Additionally, we may be required to reimburse our 
licensors for all of their expenses related to the prosecution, maintenance, enforcement, and defense of patents and patent applications that we in-license from 
them. If we are responsible for patent prosecution and maintenance of patent rights in-licensed to us, we could be exposed to liability to the applicable patent 
owner. 

Furthermore, our licensors may have relied on third-party consultants or collaborators or on funds from third parties such that our licensors are not   the 
sole and exclusive owners of the patents we in- licensed. If other third parties have ownership rights to our in-licensed patents, they may be able to     license such 
patents to our competitors, and our competitors could market competing products and technology. This could harm our competitive position, and our business. 

The U.S. government may exercise certain rights with regard to inventions developed under government-funded research, which could eliminate our 
exclusive use of such technology or require us to commercialize the iLet  or our future investigational devices in a way we consider sub-optimal. 

We are party to funding agreements with the U.S. government. Pursuant to the Bayh-Dole Act, the U.S. government has certain rights with regard to 
any inventions conceived or first actually reduced to practice under the terms of such agreements. These rights include, for example, a nonexclusive, 
nontransferable, irrevocable, paid-up license to use those inventions for governmental purposes. In addition, the U.S. government can exercise its march-in rights 
to require us to grant licenses to such inventions to a third party if it determines that action is necessary (i) because we fail to achieve practical application of the 
technology funded under the funding agreements, (ii) to alleviate health or safety needs, (iii) to meet requirements of federal regulations, or (iv) to give preference 
to U.S. industry. Our inventions that could be subject to these rights relate to both software, including improvements to the control algorithm and user interface 
of the iLet s, and hardware, including improvements to the disposable and non-disposable components of the iLet. The U.S. government also has the right to take 
title to such technology if we fail to disclose the inventions to the government, fail to file patent applications with respect to the inventions within specified time 
limits, or fail to elect to retain title of the inventions. The U.S. government also has the right to acquire   title to patent rights in any country in which a patent 
application is not filed within specified time limits. Inventions made with U.S. government support are subject to certain reporting requirements. In addition, our 
rights in such inventions may be subject to certain requirements to manufacture products embodying such inventions in the United States. If we are unable to 
obtain a waiver from the government agency that provided the research funding, we may be limited in our ability to contract with non-U.S. manufacturers for 
products related to such intellectual property.  Furthermore, the patent rights that we license from the Trustees of Boston University claim inventions that are 
subject to similar U.S. government rights, as such inventions were conceived or first actually reduced to practice using U.S. government funds received by the 
Trustees of Boston University. These patents relate to both software, including the control algorithm run by the iLet system, and disposable and non-disposable 
components of the iLet, including infusion sets that subcutaneously deliver the glucagon and/or insulin hormones. While rare, any exercise by the government of 
any of the foregoing rights could prevent us from enjoying the exclusive use of inventions developed with government support or could cause us to incur additional 
expenses in the commercialization of our products. Any of the foregoing could be harmful to our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of 
operations, or prospects. 
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Our success depends on our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology.

The market for diabetes treatment is highly competitive and subject to rapid technological change. Our success depends in large part on our ability     to 
obtain and maintain patent protection and trade secret protection with respect to our products. If we do not adequately protect our intellectual property rights, 
competitors may be able to erode or negate any competitive advantage we may have, which could harm our business. To protect our proprietary position, in 
addition to the patent rights we have licensed from the Trustees of Boston University, we have filed patent applications related to the iLet in the United States 
and under the Patent Cooperation Treaty.  However, the patent application and approval process is expensive and time-consuming. We m a y  not be able to file 
and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our 
competitive position would be materially adversely affected, as third parties may be able to make, use, or sell products and technologies that are substantially the 
same as ours without incurring the sizeable development and licensing costs that we have incurred. This, in turn, would materially adversely affect our ability to 
compete in the market. Moreover, we cannot assure you that: 

any of our current or future products or processes will be patentable;
 

 we will identify all patentable aspects of the inventions made in the course of development and commercialization activities before it is too late   
to obtain patent protection on them; 

 the inventors named on the patents and patent applications we own or license were the first to make the technologies claimed in those patents   
and patent applications or that those were the first-filed patents and patent applications for the claimed technology; 

 our products or processes will not infringe the patents of third parties; 
 

 our patents will protect us in the jurisdictions where our patents have been granted; 
 

 all of the potentially relevant prior art that may be used to invalidate our patents or that may prevent a patent from issuing from one of our 
pending patent applications has been found and been provided to the relevant patent examining authorities; or 

 we will have the resources to defend against charges of patent infringement or other violation or misappropriation of intellectual property by   
third parties or to protect our own intellectual property rights against infringement, misappropriation or violation by third parties. 

Because the patent position of medical device companies involves complex legal and factual questions, we cannot predict the validity and enforceability 
of our patents nor provide any assurances that any of our patent applications will be found to be patentable. Our issued patents may not     provide us with any 
competitive advantages, may be narrowed or held invalid or unenforceable as a result of legal challenges by third parties or could be circumvented. Our 
competitors may also independently develop processes, technologies, or products similar to ours or design around or otherwise circumvent any patents issued to, 
or licensed by, us. Thus, any patents that we own or license from others may not provide adequate protection against competitors. Our pending patent applications, 
those we may file in the future or those we may license from third parties in the future may not result in patents being issued. If these patents are issued, they may 
not provide us with proprietary protection or competitive advantages. The degree of future protection to be afforded by our proprietary rights is uncertain because 
legal means afford relatively limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. After the 
completion of development and issuance of our patents, third parties may still manufacture or market our products despite our patent protected rights. If the 
protection of our proprietary rights is inadequate to prevent use or appropriation by third parties, the value of our brand and other intangible assets may be 
diminished and competitors may be able to more effectively mimic our technology. If competitors were to mimic our technology, it may result in loss of sales 
and material litigation expenses. Such infringement of our patent protected rights is likely to cause us damage and lead to a reduction in the prices of our products, 
thereby reducing our anticipated profits. 

Patent expiration dates may be shortened or lengthened by a number of factors, including terminal disclaimers, patent term adjustments and patent term 
extensions. Patent term extensions may be impacted by the regulatory process and may not significantly lengthen patent term. Our patent protection   could also 
be reduced or eliminated for noncompliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment, and other requirements imposed by government patent 
agencies. In addition, if we fail to apply for applicable patent term extensions or adjustments, we will have a more limited time during which we can enforce our 
granted patent rights. 

Due to the extensive time needed to develop, test, and obtain regulatory approval for our products, any patents that protect our products may expire early 
during commercialization. For example, the first- expiring U.S. patents that we license from the Trustees of Boston University, relating to aspects of the control 
algorithm run by the iLet system, are scheduled to expire in 2026. The patent terms of some of our patents may, therefore, be inadequate to protect    our competitive 
position on our products for an adequate amount of time. This may reduce or eliminate any market advantages that such patents may give us. Following patent 
expiration, we may face increased competition through the entry of competing products into the market and a subsequent decline in market share and profits. 

Patent law relating to the scope of claims in the industry in which we operate is subject to rapid change and constant evolution and, consequently, patent 
positions in our industry can be uncertain. Even if successful, litigation to defend our patents and trademarks against challenges or to enforce our intellectual 
property rights could be expensive and time-consuming and could divert management’s attention from managing our business. Moreover, we     may not have 
sufficient resources, the ability, or the desire to defend our patents or trademarks against challenges or to enforce our intellectual property     rights everywhere 
throughout the world. Litigation also puts our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing. 
Additionally, we may provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies 
awarded, if any, may not be commercially valuable. The occurrence of any of these events may have a material adverse effect on our     business, financial 
condition, and operating results. 
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We will not seek to protect our intellectual property rights in all jurisdictions throughout the world and we may not be able to adequately enforce our 
intellectual property rights even in the jurisdictions where we seek protection. 

We have a number of non-U.S. patents and patent applications, and we expect to continue to pursue patent protection in many of the significant markets 
in which we intend to do business. However, filing, prosecuting, and defending patents relating to our investigational device, including all of our in- licensed 
patent rights, in all countries throughout the world, would be prohibitively expensive. We must ultimately seek patent protection on a country-by- country basis, 
which is an expensive and time-consuming process with uncertain outcomes. Accordingly, we may choose not to seek patent protection in certain countries, and 
we will not have the benefit of patent protection in such countries. 

Furthermore, the protection offered by intellectual property rights in certain countries outside of the United States may be less extensive than the 
protection offered in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from utilizing proprietary technology in all countries    outside 
of the United States, even if we pursue and obtain issued patents in particular foreign jurisdictions, or from selling or importing products made using our 
proprietary technology in or into the United States or other jurisdictions. Such products may compete with our products, and our patent rights or other intellectual 
property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing. If such competing products arise in jurisdictions where we are unable to 
exercise intellectual property rights to combat them, our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects could be    materially adversely 
affected. 

Changes in patent laws or patent jurisprudence could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our products. 

The Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or AIA, which was passed in September 2011, resulted in significant changes to the United States patent system. 
An important change introduced by the AIA is that, as of March 16, 2013, the United States transitioned from a “first-to-invent” to a “first-to-file” system for 
deciding which party should be granted a patent when two or more patent applications are filed by different parties claiming the same invention. Under a “first-
to-file” system, assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent application generally will be     entitled to a patent on 
the invention regardless of whether another inventor had made the invention earlier. A third party that filed or files a patent application with the United States 
Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, after March 16, 2013 but before us (or before our licensor, the Trustees of Boston    University) could therefore be 
awarded a patent covering an invention of ours even if we made the invention before it was made by the third party. This will require us to be cognizant going 
forward of the time from invention to filing of a patent application and be diligent in filing patent applications, but circumstances could prevent us from promptly 
filing patent applications on our inventions. 

Among some of the other changes introduced by the AIA are changes that alter where a patentee may file a patent infringement suit and that provide 
opportunities for third parties to challenge any issued patent in the USPTO. This applies to all of our United States patents, even those issued before March 16, 
2013. Because of a lower evidentiary standard in USPTO proceedings compared to the evidentiary standard in United States federal courts necessary to invalidate 
a patent claim, a third party could potentially provide evidence in a USPTO proceeding sufficient for the USPTO to hold a claim  invalid even though the same 
evidence would be insufficient to invalidate the claim if first presented in a district court action. 

Accordingly, a third party may attempt to use the USPTO procedures to invalidate our patent claims that would not have been invalidated if first 
challenged by the third party as a defendant in a district court action. It is not clear what, if any, impact the AIA will have on the operation of our business. 
However, the AIA and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement 
or defense of our issued patents. 

Additionally, the United States Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years either narrowing the scope of patent protection available 
in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations, and there are other open questions under patent law that   courts have yet 
to decisively address. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created 
uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending on decisions by Congress, the federal courts and the USPTO, the laws and regulations 
governing patents could change in unpredictable ways and could weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we 
might obtain in the future. In addition, the European patent system is relatively stringent in the type of amendments that are allowed during prosecution, and the 
complexity and uncertainty of European patent laws has also increased in recent years. Similarly, changes in patent law and regulations in other countries or 
jurisdictions, changes in the governmental bodies that enforce them, or changes in how the relevant governmental authority enforces patent laws or regulations 
may weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we own, have licensed, or might obtain or license   in the future, which in turn could 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. Complying with these laws and   regulations could limit our ability to obtain 
new patents in the future that may be important for our business. 
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Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements 
imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements. 

The USPTO, European and other patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar 
provisions during the patent application process. In addition, periodic maintenance and annuity fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the USPTO, 
European and other patent agencies over the lifetime of the patent. While an unintentional failure to make payment of such fees or to comply with such provisions 
can in many cases be cured by additional payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which non-
compliance with such provisions will result in the abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, and the partial or complete loss of  patent rights in 
the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include failure to respond to official 
actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents within prescribed time limits. If we or 
any licensors fail to maintain the patents and patent applications relating to our products or if we or any licensors otherwise allow our patents or patent applications 
to be abandoned or lapse, it can create opportunities for competitors to enter the market, which would hurt our competitive position and could impair our ability 
to successfully commercialize our products in any indication for which they are approved. 

It is possible that defects as to form in the preparation, filing or prosecution of our patents or patent applications may exist, or may arise in the    future, 
for example with respect to proper priority claims, inventorship, claim scope or requests for patent term adjustments. If we fail to establish, maintain    or protect 
such patent rights and other intellectual property rights, such rights may be reduced or eliminated. If there are material defects in the form, preparation, prosecution 
or enforcement of our patents or patent applications, such patents may be invalid and/or unenforceable, and such applications may never result in valid, enforceable 
patents. Any of these outcomes could impair our ability to prevent competition from third parties, which may have an   adverse impact on our business. 

Foreign patent protection is particularly uncertain, and if we are involved in opposition proceedings in foreign countries, we may have to expend substantial 
sums and management resources. 

Patent rights are territorial; thus, the patent protection we currently have will extend only to those countries in which we have issued patents. Even   so, 
the laws of certain countries do not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. For example, certain countries 
do not grant patent claims that are directed to the treatment of humans. Competitors may successfully challenge our patents, produce similar     devices that 
circumvent and do not infringe our patents, or manufacture devices in countries where we have not applied for patent protection or that do not respect our patents. 
Furthermore, it is difficult to predict the scope of claims that will be allowed in pending applications, and it is also difficult to predict  which claims of granted 
patents, if any, will be deemed enforceable in a court of law. We may participate in opposition proceedings to determine the validity    of our foreign patents or 
our competitors’ foreign patents, which would result in substantial costs and diversion of our management’s efforts, thus adversely affecting our results of 
operations. 
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If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets or know-how, such proprietary information may be used by others to compete against   
us. 

In addition to filing patent applications, we also use trade secret laws to protect our proprietary information, including know-how and technology. 
However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We also rely in part on confidentiality or non-disclosure agreements with parties that have access to our proprietary 
information, such as our development or commercialization partners, employees, contractors, and consultants, to protect our trade secrets and    other proprietary 
information. We also enter into agreements that purport to require the disclosure and assignment to us of the rights to the ideas, developments, discoveries and 
inventions of our employees, advisors, research collaborators, contractors, and consultants while we employ or engage them. However, we cannot ensure that all 
such agreements have been duly executed. 

Moreover, these agreements can be difficult and costly to enforce or may not provide adequate remedies. Any of these parties may breach the 
confidentiality agreements and willfully or unintentionally disclose our confidential information, or our competitors might learn of the information in some other 
way. The disclosure to, or independent development by, a competitor of any trade secret, know-how or other technology not protected by a patent could materially 
adversely affect any competitive advantage we may have over any such competitor. 

To the extent that any of our employees, advisors, research collaborators, contractors or consultants independently develops, or uses independently 
developed, intellectual property in connection with any of our projects, disputes may arise as to the proprietary rights to this type of information. If a dispute 
arises with respect to any proprietary right, enforcement of our rights can be costly and unpredictable and a court may determine that the right belongs to a third 
party, which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and ability to capitalize on our proprietary information. 

We may fail to obtain or enforce assignments of intellectual property rights from our employees and contractors.

While it is our policy to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property to execute 
agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing an enforceable agreement with each party who in fact conceives or 
develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. Furthermore, our assignment agreements may not be self-executing or may be   breached, and we may 
be forced to bring or defend claims to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property, and we may not be successful in such claims. If 
we fail in bringing or defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. Such an outcome 
could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. Even if we   are successful in defending against 
such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and distraction to management and other employees. 

 
Even after issuance, our owned and in-licensed patents may be subject to challenge and/or attempts to amend or alter the scope of the claims issued therein, 
which if successful could require us to obtain licenses from third parties, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or to cease 
the use of the underlying technology, which could materially adversely affect our business. 

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity, or enforceability, and our patents, even after issuance, may be challenged 
in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad. Third-party challenges, such as oppositions, inter partes reviews, post-grant    reviews, reissues, 
re-examinations or other proceedings, may result in a loss of exclusivity or in our patent claims being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable, which could 
limit our ability to prevent others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or could limit the duration of the patent protection 
of our technology and investigational device. 
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We may not identify relevant third-party patents or may incorrectly interpret the relevance, scope, or expiration of a third-party patent, which could 
materially adversely affect our ability to develop, manufacture, and market the iLet and our future investigational devices. 

There are many patents issued or applied for in the medical device industry, and we may not be aware of patents or patent applications held by    others 
that relate to our business. We cannot guarantee that any of our or our licensors’ patent searches or analyses, including, but not limited to, the identification of 
relevant patents, analysis of the scope of relevant patent claims, or determination of the expiration of relevant patents, are complete or thorough, nor can we be 
certain that we have identified each and every third-party patent and pending application in the United States and elsewhere that is relevant to or necessary for 
the development and commercialization of the iLet and our future investigational devices in any jurisdiction. 

For example, patent applications in the United States and many international jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after the filing of
certain priority documents (or, in some cases, are not published until they issue as patents) and publications in the scientific literature often lag behind  actual 
discoveries. Thus, we cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications or made public disclosures relating to our technology or our contemplated 
technology. A third party may have filed, and may in the future file, patent applications directed to our products or technology similar to ours. Any such patent 
application may have priority over our patent applications or patents, which could further require us to obtain rights to patents directed to   such technologies. If 
third parties have filed such patent applications, an interference proceeding in the United States can be initiated by such third party, or     by the USPTO itself, to 
determine who was the first to invent any of the subject matter recited by the patent claims of our applications. Such a proceeding could involve substantial 
uncertainties and cost, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us. There can be no assurance that our patents, if issued, would   be upheld as valid in court. 
Depending on the effective filing date of the application, rather than the interference proceeding, we may instead be required to participate in a derivation 
proceeding with similarly substantial uncertainty, lack of assurances and cost. 

Furthermore, after issuance, the scope of patent claims remains subject to construction as determined by an interpretation of the law, the written disclosure 
in a patent and the patent’s prosecution history. Our interpretation of the relevance or the scope of a patent or a pending application may be incorrect, and we may 
incorrectly determine that the iLet or our future investigational devices is not covered by a third-party patent or may incorrectly predict whether a third party’s 
pending application will issue with claims of relevant scope. Our determination of the expiration date of any patent in the United States or elsewhere that we 
consider relevant may also be incorrect. If we fail to correctly identify or interpret relevant patents, we may be subject to infringement claims. We cannot guarantee 
that we will be able to successfully settle or otherwise resolve such infringement claims. If we fail in any such dispute, in addition to being forced to pay monetary 
damages, we may be temporarily or permanently prohibited from commercializing the iLet or our future investigational devices. We may also be forced to attempt 
to redesign our investigational device in a manner that no longer infringes third-party intellectual property rights. Any of these events, even if we were ultimately 
to prevail, could require us to divert substantial financial and management resources that we would otherwise be able to devote to the development and 
commercialization of the iLet or our future investigational devices. 
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The medical device industry is characterized by patent litigation, and we could become subject to litigation that could be costly, result in the diversion of 
management’s time and efforts, or require us to pay damages. 

Our success will depend in part on our not infringing the patents or violating the other proprietary rights of third parties. Significant litigation regarding 
patent rights occurs in our industry. Our competitors in both the U.S. and abroad, many of which have substantially greater resources and have    made substantial 
investments in competing technologies, may have applied for or obtained, or may in the future apply for and obtain, patents that will    prevent, limit or otherwise 
interfere with our ability to make and sell our products. We may not identify all relevant third-party patents or may incorrectly interpret the relevance, scope, or 
expiration of a third-party patent, which might adversely affect our ability to develop and market our products. The large number of patents, the rapid rate of new 
patent issuances, and the complexities of the technology involved increase the risk of patent litigation. 

In the future, we could receive communications from various industry participants alleging our infringement of their intellectual property rights.
Any potential intellectual property litigation could force us to do one or more of the following: 

 stop selling our products or using technology that contains the allegedly infringing intellectual property; 

 incur significant legal expenses; 

 pay substantial damages to the party whose intellectual property rights we are allegedly infringing; 

redesign those products that contain the allegedly infringing intellectual property which may be costly or not feasible; or

attempt to acquire or obtain a license to the relevant intellectual property from third parties, which may not be available on reasonable terms or   
at all. 

Any litigation or claim against us, even those without merit, may cause us to incur substantial costs, and could place a significant strain on our financial 
resources, divert the attention of management from our core business, prevent or delay us from developing or commercializing our investigational devices, and 
harm our reputation. Results of any such litigation are difficult to predict and may require us to stop providing certain features, obtain licenses     or modify our 
investigational device while we develop non-infringing substitutes, or may result in significant settlement costs. Litigation can involve substantial damages for 
infringement (and if the court finds that the infringement was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages and the patent owner’s attorneys’ fees), and the 
court could prohibit us from selling or require us to take a license from a third party, which the third party is not required to do at a commercially reasonable price 
or at all. If a license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, upfront fees, milestone fees, or grant cross-licenses to intellectual 
property rights for our products. We may also have to redesign our products so they do not infringe third-party intellectual property rights, which may not be 
possible or may require substantial monetary expenditures and time, during which our products may not be available for manufacture, use, or sale. Further, as the 
number of participants in the diabetes market increases, the possibility of intellectual property infringement claims against us increases. 

We  may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we, or our employees, have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of others or we    are 
in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements. 

We may be subject to claims that we, or our employees, have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information 
of our employees’ former employers or others. Those third parties may claim ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property and proprietary 
technology. In addition, we may in the future be subject to allegations that we caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her non- competition or non-
solicitation agreement. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we successfully defend against these claims, litigation could cause us 
to incur substantial costs, and could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of management from our core business, prevent or 
delay us from developing or commercializing our investigational devices, and harm our reputation. If the defense to those claims  fails, in addition to having to 
pay monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. We cannot guarantee that any future litigation or the threat thereof will 
not adversely affect our ability to hire additional employees. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper     or prevent our ability to commercialize 
proposed products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results. 
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We may not be able to effectively monitor unauthorized use of our intellectual property and enforce our intellectual property rights against infringement, 
and we may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming, and 
unsuccessful. 

Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and costly. From time to time, we review our competitors’ products for potential 
infringement of our rights. We may not be able to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. Any   inability 
to meaningfully monitor unauthorized use of our intellectual property could result in competitors offering products that incorporate our product or service features, 
which could in turn reduce demand for our products. 

Competitors may infringe our patents, trademarks, copyrights, or other intellectual property. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may, from 
time to time, seek to enforce our intellectual property rights against infringers when we determine that a successful outcome is probable and may lead to an 
increase in the value of the intellectual property,  or we may be required to file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming and    divert the 
time and attention of our management and scientific personnel. Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert 
counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents, in addition to counterclaims asserting that our patents are invalid or unenforceable, or both. In 
any patent infringement proceeding, there is a risk that a court will decide that a patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, and    that we do 
not have the right to stop the other party from using the invention at issue. The other party may also challenge our patents through proceedings before the Patent 
Trial and Appeal Board, or PTAB, including inter partes and post-grant review. Proceedings to challenge patents are also available internationally, including, for 
example, opposition proceedings and nullity actions. In patent litigation in the United States, counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability and PTAB 
challenges are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, 
obviousness, or non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld 
relevant information from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement during prosecution. Third parties  may also raise similar claims before the PTAB, even 
outside the context of litigation. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and  unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, 
for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which we  and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a defendant 
were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and/or unenforceability, we may   lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on our investigational 
device. There is also a risk that, even if the validity of such patents is upheld, the court will construe a patent’s claims narrowly or decide that we do not have the 
right to stop the other party from using the invention at issue on the  grounds that our patent claims do not cover the invention. An adverse outcome in a litigation 
or proceeding involving our patents could limit our ability to assert those patents against those parties or other competitors and may curtail or preclude our ability 
to exclude third parties from making and selling similar   or competitive products. Similarly, if we assert trademark infringement claims, a court may determine 
that the trademarks we have asserted are invalid or unenforceable, or that the party against whom we have asserted trademark infringement has superior rights to 
the trademarks in question. In this case, we   could ultimately be forced to cease use of such trademarks. 

Even if we establish infringement, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award only    monetary 
damages, which may or may not be an adequate remedy. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual 
property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during litigation. There could   also be public 
announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive  these results to be 
negative, it could adversely affect the price of shares of our common stock. Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will have    sufficient financial or other 
resources to file and pursue such infringement claims, which typically last for years before they are concluded. Even if we ultimately prevail in such claims, the 
monetary cost of such litigation and the diversion of the attention of our management and scientific personnel could outweigh any benefit we receive as a result 
of the proceedings. 

Additionally, for certain of our existing and future in-licensed patent rights, we may not have the right to bring suit for infringement and may have     to 
rely on third parties to enforce these rights for us. If we cannot or choose not to take action against those we believe infringe our intellectual property    rights, 
we may have difficulty competing in certain markets where such potential infringers conduct their business, and our commercialization efforts may suffer as a 
result. 

If our trademarks and trade names are denied by regulatory authorities or are not adequately protected, we may not be able to build name recognition in 
our markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected. 

We rely on our trademarks and trade names to distinguish our products from the products of our competitors, and we have registered or applied to register 
many of these trademarks. We cannot assure you that our trademark applications will be approved in a timely manner or at all. During the trademark registration 
process, we may receive office actions from the USPTO objecting to the registration of our trademarks. Although we would be given an opportunity to respond 
to those objections, we may be unable to overcome them. Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be denied by other regulatory authorities 
or challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic or determined to be infringing on other marks. We  may be unable to   use these trademarks and trade 
names or protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to build name recognition by potential   partners or customers in our markets of 
interest. Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete 
effectively and our business may be adversely affected. If other entities use trademarks similar to ours in different jurisdictions, or have senior rights to ours, it 
could interfere with our use of our current trademarks throughout the world. For example, we currently plan to market our investigational device, if cleared by 
regulatory authorities, as the iLet and/or the iLet Bionic Pancreas System. If we are required to use an alternative trademark, any goodwill and recognition that 
we have built for these trademarks would be lost. If any party infringes any of the trademarks on  which we rely, enforcing those trademarks may be difficult, 
costly, time-consuming and ultimately unsuccessful. 
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Risks Related to Government Regulation 

Any future products we may develop will be subject to ongoing and extensive regulatory requirements, and our failure to comply with these requirements 
could substantially harm our business. 

We may be required to submit a new 510(k) for significant post-market changes or modifications to the iLet. This process can be expensive and lengthy, 
and entail significant user fees, unless exempt. 

Medical devices may be marketed only for the indications for which they are approved or cleared. We intend to obtain clearance  for  the management 
of type 1 diabetes. However, any future clearance or approval we obtain can be revoked if safety or effectiveness problems develop. Further, we may not be able 
to obtain additional 510(k)s for new products or for modifications to, or additional indications for, the iLet in a timely fashion or at    all. Delays in obtaining 
future clearances or approvals would adversely affect our ability to introduce new or enhanced products in a timely manner which in turn would harm our revenue 
and future profitability. If cleared or approved, we will also be subject to numerous post-marketing regulatory requirements, which include the Quality System 
Regulation, or QSR, related to the manufacturing of our products, labeling regulations and the Medical Device Reporting regulation, which will require us to 
report to the FDA if our products may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury, or malfunction in a way     that would likely cause or contribute to 
a death or serious injury. In addition, these regulatory requirements may change in the future in a way that adversely affects us. If we fail to comply with present 
or future regulatory requirements that are applicable to us, we may be subject to enforcement action by the FDA, which may include any of the following: 

 untitled letters, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties; 

customer notification, or orders for repair, replacement or refunds;

 voluntary or mandatory recall or seizure of our current or future products; 

 administrative detention by the FDA of medical devices believed to be adulterated or misbranded; 

 operating restrictions, suspension or shutdown of production; 

 refusing our requests for clearance or pre-market approval of new products, or new intended uses or modifications to the iLet; 

 suspending or withdrawing clearances or approvals that have already been granted; and 

 criminal prosecution. 

In addition, if the FDA determined there was a potential safety issue with our future products or products in the same class, the FDA could issue a Safety 
Communication. The occurrence of any of these events may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our products, if cleared or approved, may cause or contribute to adverse medical events that we are required to report to the FDA, and if we fail to do so, we 
would be subject to sanctions that could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations. The discovery of serious safety issues 
with our products, or a recall of our products either voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA or another governmental authority, could have a negative 
impact on us. 

With respect to clinical trials for which we are a sponsor, we will be subject to the FDA’s medical device reporting regulations and similar foreign 
regulations, which require us to report to the FDA when we receive or become aware of information that reasonably suggests that one or more of our     products 
may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or malfunctioned in a way that, if the malfunction were to recur, it could cause or contribute to a death 
or serious injury. The timing of our obligation to report is triggered by the date we become aware of the adverse event as well as the nature of the event. We may 
fail to report adverse events of which we become aware within the prescribed timeframe. We may also fail to recognize that we have become aware of a reportable 
adverse event, especially if it is not reported to us as an adverse event or if it is an adverse event that is unexpected or removed in time from the use of the product. 
If we fail to comply with our reporting obligations, the FDA could take action, including warning letters, untitled letters, administrative actions, criminal 
prosecution, imposition of civil monetary penalties, revocation of our device clearance, seizure of our    products or delay in clearance of future products. 
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The FDA and foreign regulatory bodies have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or 
defects in design or manufacture of a product or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health. The FDA’s authority to require a recall must   be 
based on a finding that there is reasonable probability that the device could cause serious injury or death. We may also choose to voluntarily recall a product if 
any material deficiency is found. We have in the past conducted several voluntary recalls of devices with lot-specific quality issues. A government-mandated or 
voluntary recall by us could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health, component failures, malfunctions, manufacturing defects, labeling or design 
deficiencies, packaging defects or other deficiencies or failures to comply with applicable regulations. Product defects or other errors may occur in the future. 

Depending on the corrective action we take to redress a product’s deficiencies or defects, the FDA may require, or we may decide, that we will need to 
obtain new approvals or clearances for the device before we may market or distribute the corrected device. Seeking such approvals or clearances may     delay 
our ability to replace the recalled devices in a timely manner. Moreover, if we do not adequately address problems associated with our devices, we may face 
additional regulatory enforcement action, including FDA warning letters, product seizure, injunctions, administrative penalties or civil or criminal fines. 

Companies are required to maintain certain records of recalls and corrections, even if they are not reportable to the FDA. We may initiate voluntary 
withdrawals or corrections for our products in the future that we determine do not require notification of the FDA. If the FDA disagrees with our determinations, 
it could require us to report those actions as recalls and we may be subject to enforcement action. A future recall announcement could harm our reputation with 
customers, potentially lead to product liability claims against us and negatively affect our sales. 

Product liability suits, whether or not meritorious, could be brought against us due to an alleged defective product or for the misuse of our devices. These 
suits could result in expensive and time-consuming litigation, payment of substantial damages, and an increase in our insurance rates. 

If the iLet system or any future products we may develop are defectively designed or manufactured, contain defective components or are misused,     or 
if someone claims any of the foregoing, including from the use of our investigational devices in a clinical trial, whether or not meritorious, we may     become 
subject to substantial and costly litigation. Misusing our devices or failing to adhere to the operating guidelines of the iLet system could cause significant harm 
to patients, including death. In addition, if our operating guidelines are found to be inadequate, we may be subject to liability. Product   liability claims could 
divert management’s attention from our core business, be expensive to defend and result in sizable damage awards against us. While     we believe that we are 
reasonably insured against these risks, we may not have sufficient insurance coverage for all future claims. Any product liability    claims brought against us, 
with or without merit, could increase our product liability insurance rates or prevent us from securing continuing coverage, could harm our reputation in the 
industry and could reduce future revenues. Product liability claims in excess of our insurance coverage would be paid out of cash reserves, harming our financial 
condition and adversely affecting our results of operations. 
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On May 19, 2023, the iLet was cleared for the treatment of type 1 diabetes its insulin-only configuration. Regulatory clearance is limited by the FDA to this
specific indication for which clearance has been granted. We are prohibited from marketing the iLet for the bihormonal or other indications, such as type 2 
diabetes. We may be subject to fines, penalties or injunctions if we are determined to have promoted or be promoting the use of the iLet for uncleared or “off-
label” uses, resulting in damage to our reputation and business. 

Although type 2 diabetes is also a disease stemming from excess glucose in the blood, we will be prohibited from promoting the iLet for type 2 diabetes 
or any other indication unless   we are granted FDA clearance or approval for such indication. The FDA strictly regulates the promotional claims that may be 
made about medical devices, and the iLet may not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA as reflected in its approved labeling. If we are not able 
to obtain FDA approval for any desired future indications, our ability to effectively market and sell the iLet may be reduced and our business may be adversely 
affected. 

While physicians may choose to prescribe products for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and for uses that differ from those tested in
clinical trials and approved by the regulatory authorities, we are prohibited from marketing and promoting the products for indications that are not specifically 
cleared or approved by the FDA. These “off-label” uses are common across medical specialties and may constitute an appropriate treatment for some patients in 
varied circumstances. Regulatory authorities in the United States generally do not restrict or regulate the behavior of physicians in their   choice of treatment 
within the practice of medicine. Regulatory authorities do, however, restrict communications by biotechnology or medical device companies on off-label use. If 
the FDA determines that our promotional activities constitute promotion of an off-label use, it could request that we modify     our promotional materials and 
subject us to FDA regulatory or enforcement actions as well as actions by other agencies, such as the Federal Trade Commission, including issuance of warning 
letters or untitled letters, suspension or withdrawal of an approved product from the market, mandatory or voluntary recalls, civil fines, disgorgement of money, 
operating restrictions, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement, injunctions 
or criminal prosecution, any of which could significantly harm our business. 

Our relationships with healthcare providers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws 
and regulations, which could expose us to significant penalties, including criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm and 
diminished profits and future earnings. 

Healthcare providers and third-party payors in the United States and elsewhere play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of products. 
Arrangements with third-party payors and customers can expose device manufacturers to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and 
regulations, including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the False Claims Act, laws and regulations related to the reporting of payments to 
physicians and teaching hospitals, and HIPAA (defined below), which may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which such 
companies research, sell, market and distribute products. In particular, the promotion, sales and marketing of healthcare items and services, as well as certain 
business arrangements in the healthcare industry, are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. 
These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, structuring and commission(s), certain 
customer incentive programs and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained 
in the course of patient recruitment for clinical trials. The applicable federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations laws that may affect our ability to 
operate include, but are not limited to, the below. 
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The federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering, paying or providing 
any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or rebate), directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, either the referral 
of an individual, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of any good, facility, item or service for which payment may be made, in whole 
or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. A person or entity can be found guilty of violating the 
statute without actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, a claim including items or services resulting from a 
violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act. There are a number of 
statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution.  On November 20, 2020, the Office of 
Inspector General, or OIG finalized further modifications to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute. Under the    final rules, OIG added safe harbor 
protections under the Anti-Kickback Statute for certain coordinated care and value-based arrangements   among clinicians, providers, and others. 
The final rule (with some exceptions) were to become effective January 19, 2021. However, the   effective date of the final rules has since been 
delayed. We continue to evaluate the status of these final rules and what effect, if any, these     rules will have on our business. 

 Federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the False Claims Act, and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other  things, 
individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, false or fraudulent claims for payment to, or approval by Medicare, 
Medicaid, or other federal healthcare programs, knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to a 
false or fraudulent claim or an obligation to pay or transmit money to the federal government, or knowingly concealing or  knowingly and improperly 
avoiding or decreasing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. Manufacturers can be held liable    under the False Claims Act even 
when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false or fraudulent claims. The False 
Claims Act also permits a private individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring actions on behalf of the federal government alleging violations of 
the False Claims Act and to share in any monetary recovery. 

 The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created new federal criminal statutes  that  prohibit  knowingly 
and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, 
regardless of the payor (e.g., public or private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trick   or device a material 
fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items  or services relating to 
healthcare matters. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity can be found guilty of violating    HIPAA without actual 
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. 

 HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and their respective implementing 
regulations, which impose, among other things, requirements on certain covered healthcare providers, health  plans,  and  healthcare clearinghouses 
and their respective business associates that perform services for them that involve the use, or disclosure of, individually identifiable health 
information as well as their covered subcontractors, relating to the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information 
without appropriate authorization. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties 
directly applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority    to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal 
courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. 

 The federal Physician Payment Sunshine Act created under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the Health Care 
and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, collectively ACA, which requires manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologicals and medical supplies for 
which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program (with certain exceptions) to   report annually to 
CMS information related to any payments and other transfers of value made to physicians (defined to include doctors,   dentists, optometrists, 
podiatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians    and their immediate family 
members. Effective January 1, 2022, these reporting obligations have been extended to include transfers of value made to physician assistants, nurse 
practitioners, clinical nurse specialists, anesthesiologist assistants, certified registered nurse anesthetists and certified nurse midwives during the 
previous year. 

 Additional federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially 
harm consumers. 

Additionally, we are subject to state and foreign equivalents of each of the healthcare laws described above, among others, some of which may be 
broader in scope and may apply regardless of the payor. For instance, state anti-kickback and false claims laws may apply to items or services reimbursed by any 
third-party payor, including commercial insurers or patients. Laws related to insurance fraud may provide claims involving private insurers. State laws may 
require pharmaceutical or medical device companies to comply with the industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the applicable compliance guidance 
promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential referral     sources. State and 
local laws may also require the licensure of sales representatives and require drug or device manufacturers to report information related to payments and other 
transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures and pricing information. Further data privacy   and security laws and 
regulations in foreign jurisdictions that may be more stringent than those in the United States (such as the European Union, which adopted the General Data 
Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which became effective in May 2018). Analogous state laws may additionally govern the privacy and security of health 
information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect. 
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Pricing and rebate programs must comply with the Medicaid rebate requirements of the U.S. Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 and more 
recent requirements in the ACA. If products are made available to authorized users of the Federal Supply Schedule of the General Services Administration, 
additional laws and requirements apply. Products must meet applicable child-resistant packaging requirements under the U.S. Poison Prevention Packaging Act. 
Manufacturing, sales, promotion and other activities also are potentially subject to federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws. 

The distribution of products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-keeping, licensing, storage and security 
requirements intended to prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical products. 

The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform, especially in 
light of the lack of applicable precedent and regulations. Federal and state enforcement bodies often scrutinize interactions between healthcare companies and 
healthcare providers, which has led to a number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and significant settlements in the healthcare industry. Ensuring 
business arrangements comply with applicable healthcare laws, as well as responding to possible investigations by government authorities, can be time- and 
resource-consuming and can divert a company’s attention from the business. 

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements will comply with applicable healthcare laws may involve substantial costs. It is possible that 
governmental and enforcement authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations, guidance or case 
law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not  successful in 
defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business,  including  the  imposition  of significant penalties, 
including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in federal 
and state funded healthcare programs, contractual damages and the curtailment or restricting of our operations, as well as additional reporting obligations and 
oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws. Any action for 
violation of these laws, even if successfully defended, could cause a device manufacturer to incur significant legal expenses and divert management’s attention 
from the operation of the business. Prohibitions or restrictions on sales or withdrawal of future marketed products could materially affect business in an adverse 
way. We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take 
to detect and prevent inappropriate conduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental 
investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws     or regulations. In addition, the approval and 
commercialization of any of our investigational devices outside the United States will also likely subject us to foreign equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned 
above, among other foreign laws. 
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We are subject to governmental regulation and other legal obligations, particularly related to privacy, data protection and information security, and we   are 
subject to consumer protection laws that regulate our marketing practices and prohibit unfair or deceptive acts or practices. Our actual or perceived failure 
to comply with such obligations could harm our business. 

We are subject to diverse laws and regulations relating to data privacy and security, including, in the United States, HIPAA and, in the European Union 
and the European Economic Area, or EEA, the GDPR (Regulation 2016/679). New privacy rules are being enacted in the United States and globally, and existing 
ones are being expanded, updated and strengthened. For example, California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, took     effect on January 
1, 2020. The CCPA creates individual privacy rights for California consumers and increases the privacy and security obligations of entities handling certain 
personal information. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data breaches that is expected to increase data 
breach litigation. Complying with these numerous, complex and often changing laws and regulations is expensive and difficult, and failure to comply with any 
privacy laws or data security laws or any security incident or breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized     use or disclosure of sensitive 
or confidential patient or consumer information, whether by us, one of our business associates or another third party, could adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations, including but not limited to: investigation costs, material fines and penalties; compensatory, special, punitive and statutory 
damages; litigation; consent orders regarding our privacy and security practices; requirements that we provide notices, credit monitoring services and/or credit 
restoration services or other relevant services to impacted individuals; adverse actions against our licenses to do business; and injunctive relief. 

Further, California voters approved a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA, in the November 3, 2020 election. Effective starting 
on January 1, 2023, the CPRA significantly modified the CCPA, including by expanding consumers’ rights with respect to certain sensitive personal information. 
The CPRA also creates a new state agency that will be vested with authority to implement and enforce the CCPA and the CPRA. New legislation proposed or 
enacted in various other states will continue to shape the data privacy environment nationally. Certain state laws may be more    stringent or broader in scope, or 
offer greater individual rights, with respect to confidential, sensitive and personal information than federal, international or other state laws, and such laws may 
differ from each other, which may complicate compliance efforts. The privacy laws in the European Union have been significantly reformed and also continue 
to undergo change. On May 25, 2018, the GDPR entered into force and became directly applicable in all EU    member states. The GDPR implements more 
stringent operational requirements than its predecessor legislation. For example, the GDPR requires us to make more detailed disclosures to data subjects, requires 
disclosure of the legal basis on which we can process personal data, makes it harder for us to obtain valid consent for processing, will require the appointment of 
data protection officers when sensitive personal data, such as health data, is processed on a large     scale, provides more robust rights for data subjects, introduces 
mandatory data breach notification through the European Union, imposes  additional  obligations on us when contracting with service providers and requires us 
to adopt appropriate privacy governance including policies, procedures, training    and data audit. If we do not comply with our obligations under the GDPR, we 
could be exposed to fines of up to the greater of €20 million or up to 4% of our total global annual revenue in the event of a significant breach. In addition, we 
may be the subject of litigation and/or adverse publicity, which could    adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 
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Further, the Court of Justice of the European Union ruled in July 2020 that the Privacy Shield, used by thousands of companies to transfer data between 
the European Union and United States, was invalid and could no longer be used. In September 2020, Switzerland concluded that the Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield 
Framework does not provide an adequate level of protection for data transfers from Switzerland to the United States. Alternative transfer mechanisms may be 
used, including the standard contractual clauses (“SCCs”), while the authorities interpret the decisions and scope of the invalidated Privacy Shield, but the SCCs 
have also been called into question in the same ruling that invalidated Privacy Shield. At present, there are few if any viable alternatives to the SCCs, so future 
developments may necessitate further expenditures on local infrastructure, changes to internal business processes, or may otherwise affect or restrict sales and 
operations. 

Additionally, the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union, commonly referred to as Brexit, took effect in January 2020, which will lead 
to further legislative and regulatory changes. While the Data Protection Act of 2018, that “implements” and complements the GDPR achieved Royal Assent on 
May 23, 2018 and is now effective in the United Kingdom, it is still unclear whether transfer of data from the EEA to the United Kingdom will remain lawful in 
the long-term under GDPR. With the expiry of the transition period on December 31, 2020, companies will have to comply with the GDPR and the GDPR as 
incorporated into United Kingdom national law, which has the ability to separately fine up to the greater of £17.5 million or 4% of global turnover. The relationship 
between the United Kingdom and the European Union in relation to certain aspects of data protection law remains unclear, for example around how data can 
lawfully be transferred between each jurisdiction, which exposes us to further compliance risk. We may incur liabilities, expenses, costs, and other operational 
losses under the GDPR and applicable EU member states and the U.K. privacy laws in connection with any measures   we take to comply with them. 

We cannot assure you that our third-party service providers with access to our or our customers’, suppliers’, trial  patients’  and  employees’ personally 
identifiable and other sensitive or confidential information in relation to which we are responsible will not breach contractual obligations imposed  by us, or that 
they will not experience data security breaches or attempts thereof, which could have a corresponding effect on our business, including putting   us in breach of 
our obligations under privacy laws and regulations and/or which could in turn adversely affect our business, results of operations and     financial condition. We 
have been subject to phishing attacks in the past, and while no sensitive or confidential information was compromised, we cannot  assure you that our contractual 
measures and our own privacy and security- related safeguards will protect us from future attacks and from the risks    associated with the third-party processing, 
storage and transmission of such information. 

If our efforts to maintain the privacy and security of our customer, patient, third-party payor, employee, supplier, or company information are not 
successful, we could incur substantial additional costs and become subject to litigation, enforcement actions and reputational damage. 

Our business, like that of most medical device manufacturers, involves development of valuable intellectual property and trade secrets, the receipt, 
storage and transmission of patient information and payment and reimbursement information, as well as confidential information about third-party payors,    our 
employees, our suppliers and us. Our information systems are vulnerable to an increasing threat of continually evolving cybersecurity  risks.  Unauthorized parties 
may attempt to gain access to our systems or information through fraud or other means of deceiving our employees or third-party    service providers. Hardware, 
software or applications we develop or obtain from third parties may contain defects in design or manufacture, unknown    security vulnerabilities, or other 
problems that could unexpectedly compromise information and device security.  For example, the firmware, software, and open source software that we or our 
manufacturing partners have installed on our products may be susceptible to hacking, unauthorized manipulation, or misuse. Further, if we or our third-party 
providers are unable to properly secure our systems or successfully prevent breaches of security relating to our products, services, or user private information, 
including user videos and user personal identification information, or if these third-party systems fail for other reasons, our management could need to spend 
increasing amounts of time and effort in this area. The methods used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems are also 
constantly changing and evolving, and may be difficult to anticipate or detect for long periods of time. Maintaining the security of our computer information 
systems and communication systems is a critical issue for us and our customers but the multitude and complexity of our computer systems may make them 
vulnerable to service interruption or destruction, disruption of data integrity, inadvertent errors that expose our data or systems, malicious intrusion, or random 
attacks. We have implemented and regularly review and update processes and procedures to   protect against unauthorized access to or use of secured data and to 
prevent data loss. However, the ever-evolving threats mean we must continually evaluate and adapt our systems and processes, and our efforts may not be 
adequate to safeguard against all data security breaches, misuse of data or sabotage of our systems. Any future significant compromise or breach of our data 
security, whether external or internal, or misuse of customer, third-party payor, employee, supplier or our own data, could result in additional significant costs, 
lost sales, fines, lawsuits and damage to our reputation. In addition, as the regulatory environment related to information security, data collection and use, and 
privacy becomes increasingly rigorous, with new and constantly changing requirements applicable to our business, compliance with those requirements could 
also result in additional costs. 
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Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth

We depend on the knowledge and skills of our senior management and other key employees, and if we are unable to retain and motivate them or recruit 
additional qualified personnel, our business may suffer. 

We have benefited substantially from the leadership and performance of our senior management, as well as certain key employees. Our success depends, 
and will likely continue to depend, upon our ability to hire, retain the services of our current executive officers, principal consultants and others, including Edward 
Damiano, our co-founder and Executive Chair, and Sean Saint, our Chief Executive Officer. We have entered into employment agreements with each of Messrs. 
Damiano, and Saint, but they may terminate their employment with us at any time. The loss of their services might impede the achievement of our research, 
development and commercialization objectives. 

Our success will depend on our ability to retain our current management and key employees, and to attract and retain qualified personnel in the   future. 
Competition for senior management and key employees in our industry is intense and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to retain our personnel or attract 
new, qualified personnel. The loss of the services of certain members of our senior management or key employees could prevent or delay the implementation and    
completion of our strategic objectives or divert management’s attention to seeking qualified replacements. Each member of senior management, as well as   our 
key employees, may terminate employment without notice and without cause or good reason. The members of our senior management are not subject to non-
competition agreements. Accordingly, the adverse effect resulting from the loss of certain members of senior management could be compounded by our inability 
to prevent them from competing with us. 

We will need to expand our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing this growth, which could disrupt our operations.

We continue to expect to experience significant growth over time in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, particularly in the 
areas of regulatory and clinical affairs, legal and compliance, and sales, marketing and distribution, as we continue commercialization efforts of the iLet. To 
manage our growth activities, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial systems, expand our facilities and continue 
to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience of our management team in managing a 
company with such anticipated growth, we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified 
personnel. As we expand our organization, we may have difficulty identifying, hiring and integrating new personnel. Future growth would impose significant 
additional responsibilities on our management, including the need to identify, recruit, maintain, motivate and integrate additional employees, consultants and 
contractors. Also, our management may need to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from our day-to-day activities and devote a substantial 
amount of time to managing these growth activities. We may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations, which  may result in weaknesses 
in our infrastructure, give rise to operational mistakes, loss of business opportunities, loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. 
Our expected growth could require significant capital expenditures and may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the development of 
investigational devices. If our management is unable to effectively manage our growth, our expenses may increase more than expected, our ability to generate 
and/or grow product revenues could be reduced, and we may not be able to implement our business strategy. Our future financial performance and our ability to 
commercialize the iLet and our future investigational devices and compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth. 
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If we do not effectively manage our growth, our business resources may become strained and we may not be able to deliver the iLet in a timely manner, 
which could harm our results of operations. 

In order to market the iLet, we will need to obtain regulatory approvals and reimbursement agreements with government agencies or private third-party 
payors in those countries. Failure to obtain such agreements would limit our ability to successfully penetrate those foreign, including the European, markets. In 
addition, the geographic expansion of our business will require additional manufacturing capacity to supply    those markets as well as additional sales and 
marketing resources. 

We expect to continue to increase our manufacturing capacity and our personnel, and we will need to develop additional capabilities to support our
U.S. and international sales and marketing efforts. This growth, as well as any other     growth that we may experience in the future, will provide challenges to 
our organization and may strain our management and operations resources. In order     to manage future growth, we will be required to improve existing, and 
implement new, sales and marketing efforts and distribution channels. The form and function of our enterprise information technology systems will need to 
change and be improved upon as our business needs change. We will need to manage our supply chain effectively, including the development of our U.S. 
manufacturing, our relationship with sole source suppliers as well as other suppliers    going forward. We may also need to partner with additional third-party 
suppliers to manufacture certain components of the iLet and complete  additional manufacturing lines in the future. A transition to new suppliers may result in 
additional costs or delays. We may misjudge the amount of time or resources that will be required to effectively manage any anticipated or unanticipated growth 
in our business, or we may not be able to manufacture sufficient inventory, or attract, hire and retain sufficient personnel to meet our needs. If we cannot scale 
our business appropriately, maintain control over expenses or otherwise adapt to anticipated and unanticipated growth, our business resources may become 
strained, we may not be able to deliver the iLet in a   timely manner and our results of operations may be adversely affected. 

We are subject to U.S. anti-corruption, export control, sanctions, and other trade laws and regulations, or, collectively, Trade Laws. We can face serious 
consequences for violations. 

We are subject to anti-corruption laws, including the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. 201, the U.S. Travel Act, and the U.S. Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended. These anti-corruption laws generally prohibit companies and their employees, agents, and intermediaries from 
authorizing, promising, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to recipients in the public     or 
private sector. We may engage third parties for clinical trials outside of the United States and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations, and 
other regulatory approvals. We may also have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or government- affiliated 
hospitals, universities and other organizations. We can be held liable for the corrupt or illegal activities of our agents and intermediaries, even if we do not 
explicitly authorize or have actual knowledge of such activities. We are also subject to other U.S. laws and regulations governing export controls, as well as 
economic sanctions and embargoes on certain countries and persons. 

Violations of Trade Laws can result in substantial criminal fines and civil penalties, imprisonment, the loss of trade privileges, debarment, tax 
reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm and other consequences. Likewise, any investigation of potential violations of Trade 
Laws could also have an adverse impact on our reputation, our business, results of operations and financial condition. 
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Risks Relating to Our Status as a Public Benefit Corporation 

As a public benefit corporation, our focus on a specific public benefit purpose and producing a positive effect for society may negatively impact our 
financial performance. 

Unlike traditional corporations, which have a fiduciary duty to focus exclusively on maximizing stockholder value, our directors have a fiduciary   duty 
to consider not only the stockholders’ interests, but also the company’s specific public benefit and the interests of other stakeholders affected by our actions. 
Therefore, we may take actions that we believe will be in the best interests of those stakeholders materially affected by our specific benefit purpose, even if those 
actions do not maximize our financial results. While we intend for this public benefit designation and obligation to provide an overall net     benefit to us and 
people living with diabetes, it could instead cause us to make decisions and take actions without seeking to maximize the income generated from our business, 
and hence available for distribution to our stockholders. Our pursuit of longer-term or non- pecuniary benefits may not materialize within the timeframe we 
expect or at all, yet may have an immediate negative effect on any amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. Accordingly, being a public benefit 
corporation and complying with our related obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

If we lose our certification as a Certified B Corp or our publicly reported B Corp score declines, our reputation could be harmed, and our business could 
be adversely affected. 

Our business model and brand could be harmed if we were to lose our certification as a Certified B Corp. Certified B Corp status is a certification   that 
requires us to consider the impact of our decisions on our workers, customers, suppliers, community and the environment. We believe that Certified B Corp status 
has allowed us to build credibility and trust among our customers. We dedicate significant resources to maintaining our Certified B Corp status, which is subject 
to annual audits by B Lab. Whether due to our choice or our failure to meet B Lab’s  certification requirements, any change in our status   could create a perception 
that we are more focused on financial performance and no longer as committed to the values shared by Certified B Corp. Likewise, our reputation could be 
harmed if our publicly reported B Corp score declines and there is a perception that we are no longer committed to the Certified B  Corp standards. Similarly, 
our reputation could be harmed if we take actions that are perceived to be misaligned with B Lab’s values. 

Any such harm to our reputation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations. 
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General Risk Factors

We may fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls or we may not be able to accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of 
operations, which may adversely affect our business. 

Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure 
controls and procedures, are designed to prevent fraud. Any failure to implement adequate controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation could 
cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, or to prevent the circumvention of our controls or fraud. Any failure to implement appropriate internal controls 
could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could harm our business. 

 
Adverse changes in general economic conditions in the United States and outside of the United States, predominantly in Europe, could adversely affect    
us. 

We are subject to the risks arising from adverse changes in general economic market conditions. A U.S. or global recession, could negatively impact 
our current and prospective customers, adversely affect the financial ability of health insurers to pay claims, adversely impact our ability to pay our expenses and 
ability to obtain financing of our operations, cause delays or other problems with key suppliers and increase the risk of counterparty failures. 

Healthcare spending in the United States, Canada and Europe could be negatively affected in the event of a downturn in economic conditions. For 
example, U.S. patients who have lost their jobs or healthcare coverage may no longer be covered by an employer-sponsored health insurance plan and   patients 
reducing their overall spending may eliminate purchases requiring co-payments. Since the sale of the iLet to a new patient will   be generally dependent on the 
availability of third-party reimbursement and will require the patient to make a significant co-payment, an economic downturn on our potential customers could 
reduce the referrals generated by our sales force and thereby reduce our customer orders. Similarly, existing customers at  such time could cease purchasing the 
iLet and return to other types of intensive insulin therapy, such as multiple daily injections, or other less-costly therapies, which would cause our attrition rate to 
increase. Any decline in new customer orders or increase in our customer attrition rate would reduce our revenue. 

 

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory changes in tax laws that could negatively impact our financial condition. 

The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and     by 
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, or IRS and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could 
adversely affect our stockholders or us. In recent years, many such changes have been made. We cannot predict whether, when, in what form, or with what 
effective dates, tax laws, regulations and rulings may be enacted, promulgated or decided, which could result in an increase in our, or our stockholders’ tax 
liability or require changes in the manner in which we operate in order to minimize increases in our tax liability. Prospective investors should consult their     tax 
advisors regarding the potential consequences of changes in tax law on our business and on the ownership and disposition of our Class B common stock. 

Healthcare reform laws could adversely affect our revenue and financial condition. 

During the past several years, the U.S. healthcare industry has been subject to an increase in governmental regulation at both the federal and state levels. 
Efforts to control healthcare costs, including limiting access to care, alternative delivery models and changes in the methods used to determine reimbursement 
scenarios and rates, are ongoing at the federal and state government levels. There are provisions of law that provide for the creation of a new public-private 
Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute tasked with identifying comparative effectiveness research priorities. For example, establishing    a research project 
agenda and contracting with entities to conduct the research in accordance with the agenda. Research findings published by this institute     are publicly 
disseminated. It is difficult at this time to determine whether a comparative effectiveness analysis impacting our business will be done, and assuming one is, what 
impact that analysis will have on the iLet or our future financial results. 

There has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to specialty drug pricing practices. Specifically,    there 
have been several recent U.S. Congressional inquiries, presidential executive orders and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among 
other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under Medicare, review the relationship between pricing  and 
manufacturer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drugs.
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In addition, the ACA and related healthcare reform laws, regulations and initiatives have significantly increased regulation of managed care plans   and 
decreased reimbursement to Medicare managed care. Some of these initiatives purport to, among other things, require that health plan members have greater 
access to drugs not included on a plan’s formulary. Moreover, to alleviate budget shortfalls, states have reduced or frozen payments to Medicaid managed care 
plans. We cannot accurately predict the complete impact of these healthcare reform initiatives, but they could lead to a decreased demand for our products and 
other outcomes that could adversely impact our business and financial results. 

There remain judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the ACA. In addition, there were efforts by the Trump administration to repeal 
or replace certain aspects of the ACA and to alter the implementation of the ACA and related laws. For example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted     on 
December 22, 2017, eliminated the shared responsibility payment for individuals who fail to maintain minimum essential coverage under section 5000A    of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly referred to as the “individual mandate,” effective January 1, 2019. On December 14, 2018, a federal     district court 
in Texas ruled the individual mandate is a critical and inseverable feature of the ACA, and therefore, because it was repealed as part of the Tax Act, the remaining 
provisions of the ACA are invalid as well. On December 18, 2019, the Fifth Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals held that the individual    mandate is unconstitutional 
and remanded the case to the lower court to reconsider its earlier invalidation of the full ACA. The U.S. Supreme Court is currently reviewing this case, but it is 
unknown when a decision will be reached. Although the U.S. Supreme Court has yet to rule on the constitutionality of the ACA, on January 28, 2021, President 
Biden issued an executive order to initiate a special enrollment period from February 15, 2021 through May 15,  2021 for purposes of obtaining health insurance 
coverage through the ACA marketplace. The executive order also instructs certain governmental agencies to review and reconsider their existing policies and 
rules that limit access to healthcare, including among others, reexamining Medicaid demonstration projects and waiver programs that include work requirements, 
and policies that create unnecessary barriers to obtaining access to health insurance coverage through Medicaid or the ACA. It is unclear how the U.S. Supreme 
Court ruling, other such litigation, and the healthcare form measures of the Biden administration   will impact the ACA and our business. Additional legislative 
changes, regulatory changes, and judicial challenges related to the ACA remain possible. It is possible that the ACA, as currently enacted or as it may be amended 
in the future, and other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, could have an adverse effect on our industry generally and on our ability 
to maintain or increase sales of any of our products and achieve profitability. 

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. In August 2011, President Obama signed into    law 
the Budget Control Act of 2011, which, among other things, created the Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction to recommend to Congress   proposals for 
deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021. The Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction did not achieve a targeted deficit 
reduction, which triggered the legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to 
providers of, up to 2% per fiscal year, and, due to subsequent legislative amendments, will remain in effect through 2030 unless Congress takes additional action. 
However, the Medicare sequester reductions under the Budget Control Act are suspended from May 1, 2020 through      March 31, 2021 due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. Proposed legislation, if passed, would  extend  this  suspension  until  the  end  of  the  pandemic.  In January 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act 
of 2012, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals and increased the statute of limitations period for the 
government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. 

At the state level, legislatures in the United States have also increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control product 
pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency 
measures and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. In addition, regional healthcare authorities and 
individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and which suppliers will be included in their 
prescription drug and other healthcare programs. 
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INDEBTEDNESS 

Aside from certain contractual obligations with our contract manufacturers and other service providers, we have not taken on any debt. In addition to continuing 
to raise money through equity financing, in the future it may be necessary, or we may elect, to raise funds through debt financing as well. There are no guarantees 
that any debt or equity financing will be available to the Company on favorable terms or at all. 

EXEMPT OFFERINGS

Since inception, we have raised approximately $296.1 million in gross proceeds through equity issuances as set forth in the following table. 

Investor
(Closing Date) 

Exemption Security Amount Sold Use of Proceeds

Eli Lilly and Company 
(December 31, 2015) 

Private offering exempt 
from registration under 
Securities Act §4(2)

Series A Preferred Stock $5,000,000  General business operations 
and further iLet bionic 
pancreas development

Novo Nordisk A/S 
(September 20, 2016) 

Private offering exempt 
from registration under 
Securities Act §4(2)

Series — A-2 Preferred 
Stock 

$5,000,000  General business operations 
and further iLet bionic 
pancreas development

Various investors through 
Wefunder (September 8, 
2016) 

Regulation 
Crowdfunding. Exempt 
from registration under 
Securities Act §4(a)(6) 

Class C Common Stock $969,100 General business operations 
and further iLet bionic 
pancreas development 

Various accredited investors 
(first closing was Dec. 20, 
2017 and final closing was 
December 31, 2018) 

Private offering exempt 
from registration under 
Securities Act §4(2) 

Series B Preferred Stock $63,052,909  
 

General business operations 
and further iLet bionic 
pancreas development 

Various accredited investors 
(June 30, 2019) 

Private offering exempt 
from registration under 
Securities Act §4(2) 

Series B-2 Preferred Stock $63,360,000  
 

General business operations 
and further iLet bionic 
pancreas development 

July 2019 and 
September 2020 

Private offering exempt from 
registration under Securities 
Act §4(2) 

Class B Common Stock $0 Issued as a result of an 
agreement entered into with 
two of our investors in 
exchange for the waiver of 
certain ongoing anti-dilution 
rights in connection  with our 
Series B-2 preferred 
stock financing.

Various accredited investors 
(February 16, 2022) 

Private offering exempt from 
registration under Securities 
Act 
§4(2) or Regulation D 
under the Securities Act 

Series C Preferred Stock $57,049,911  
 

General business operations 
and further iLet bionic 
pancreas development 

Various accredited investors 
(initial closing was August 
28, 2023 and final closing 
was September 12, 2023) 

Private offering exempt from 
registration under Securities 
Act 
§4(2) or Regulation D
under the Securities Act 

Series D Preferred Stock $101,700,000 General business operations 
and manufacturing and 
commercialization of the iLet
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

From time to time, the Company may engage in transactions with a related persons. A “Related Person” is defined as (i) a director or officer of the issuer;
(ii) a person who is, as of the most recent practicable date but no earlier than 120 days prior to the date the offering statement or report is filed, the beneficial 
owner of 20% or more of the issuer's outstanding voting equity securities, calculated on the basis of voting power; (iii) if we were incorporated or organized 
within the past three years, any of our promoters; or (iv) a member of the family of any of the foregoing persons, which includes a child, stepchild,    grandchild, 
parent, stepparent, grandparent, spouse or spousal equivalent, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law,    or sister-in-
law, and shall include adoptive relationships. The term “spousal equivalent” means a cohabitant occupying a relationship generally equivalent to that of a spouse. 

The Company has not engaged in any transactions with a Related Person since the beginning of our prior fiscal year that involves an amount which exceeds 
five percent (5%) of the aggregate amount of capital raised by us in the last twelve (12) months in reliance on section 4(a)(6). 
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FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Financial Statements 

Our financial statements for the years ending December 31, 2023 and 2022 can be found in Exhibit A to this report. 

Overview

We are a medical device company focused on the development, manufacture and sale of the iLet. We were founded by parents whose lives and whose children’s 
lives have been deeply impacted by type 1 diabetes. Our mission is to help improve health outcomes and the quality of life of all children and adults living with 
diabetes and other conditions of glycemic dysregulation and to bring its technology to as many people as possible. 
 
On May 19, 2023, the Company received FDA 510(k) clearance and subsequently launched the iLet commercially in the United States in June 2023. The iLet is 
designed to leverage continuous, subcutaneous, insulin-pump technology and adaptive control algorithms to administer either insulin, glucagon, or both, in an 
autonomous manner to mimic the body’s natural ability to maintain a targeted glycemic range. The iLet is compatible with both the Dexcom G6 and G7 
Continuous Glucose Monitoring System (“CGM”).  
 
The iLet is sold either indirectly to end users through independent distributors and pharmacies who resell the iLet or directly to end users through 
pharmacies who sell the product in the United States. The iLet is generally considered durable medical equipment (“DME”) and has an expected lifespan of at 
least four years. In addition to the iLet, the Company sells disposable products that are used together with the iLet and are replaced every few days, including 
cartridges for storing and delivering insulin, and infusion sets that connect the insulin pump to a user’s body.  

Summary Financial Information 

At or For the Year 
  Ended December 31,   2022   2023  

Total Assets $ 35,528,000 $ 110,040,000
Cash & Cash Equivalents 27,775,000 26,666,000 
Account Receivable - 4,448,000 
Current Liabilities/ Short-Term Debt 8,873,000 10,605,000
Long-term Liabilities 13,655,000 40,828,000
Revenues/Sales 179,000 11,995,000 
Cost of Goods Sold - 5,687,000 

Net Income (Loss) $(64,751,000) $(44,099,000) 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. To date, research and development, market development and pre-commercial launch activities 
have accounted for a significant portion of our overall operating expenses. We expect to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future 
as we advance continue to commercialize the ilet and further development the iLet for the treatment of type 1 diabetes, including our planned pivotal trial for the 
iLet in its bihormonal configuration. We reported net losses of $64.8 million and $44.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. 
As of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $229.7 million. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses 
for at least the next several years. 

To date, we have funded our operations primarily with proceeds from sales of our equity securities and payments received in connection with collaboration 
arrangements and government grants. Through March 31, 2024, we had received gross proceeds of $296.1 million from sales of our equity securities and 
$6.1 million from payments received in connection with collaboration arrangements and government grants. As of December 31, 2023, we had cash, cash 
equivalents of $26.7 million and short-term investments of $70.2 million. 

As of March 31, 2024, we expect that our existing cash, cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements 
into December 2025. Beyond that point, we will need to raise additional capital to finance our operations, which cannot be assured. We concluded as of March 31, 
2024 that this circumstance  raised substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year of the issuance date of those financial 
statements. 

Additionally, we will need to raise significant amounts of capital or other funds to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements beyond 
December 2025. The amounts that we actually spend for any specific purpose and in any specific period may vary significantly from our estimates depending on 
a number of factors, including the pace of progress of our development efforts, actual costs of product testing, research and development, legal or   regulatory 
spending, and competitive developments as well as expenses that arise that were not anticipated. 

We generally hold the cash we need to meet our short-term requirements in accounts maintained with U.S. banks. Our policy is to invest any cash in excess    of 
these amounts in high-quality, liquid investments, typically demand deposit accounts and money market funds that provide only minimal returns such as 
certificates of deposit through FDIC Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. 

REGULATORY INFORMATION 

Except for omitting certain audited financial statements in our Form C-AR for fiscal year 2020 initially filed on April 30, 2021 and for fiscal year 2021 initially 
filed on April 29, 2022, we have not previously failed to comply with the requirements of Regulation Crowdfunding, and we are current in our ongoing reporting 
obligations under Regulation CF. 
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EXHIBIT A

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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COMPANY CERTIFIED FINANCIALS

I, Sean Saint, certify that the financial statements of Beta Bionics, Inc. included in this Form are true and complete in all material respects. 

/s/ Sean Saint 
Sean Saint 
Beta Bionics, Inc. 
Chief Executive Officer 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

BALANCE SHEETS 
(In thousands, except share amounts) 

 

 

(1) All prior period stock amounts have been adjusted to reflect the ten-for-one stock split, effective as of August 25, 2023.  
See Note 1, Organization and Basis of Presentation.

2022 2023

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 27,675$        26,566$        
Short-term investments — 70,179
Accounts receivable, net — 4,448
Inventories, net — 1,245
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 792 1,183

Total current assets 28,467 103,621
Property and equipment, net 3,319 2,476
Operating lease right-of-use asset 3,548 3,722
Restricted cash 100 100
Other long-term assets 93 121

Total assets 35,527$        110,040$      

Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 430$             1,166$          
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 6,327 8,128
Funded R&D liability—related party 1,140 —
Operating lease liabilities 976 1,224
Deferred revenue — 87

Total current liabilities 8,873 10,605
Operating lease liabities, net of current portion 3,157 2,999
Deferred revenue, net of current portion — 255
Preferred stock warrant liability 10,497 37,573

Total liabilities 22,527 51,432

Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)

Convertible preferred stock (Series A, A-2, B, B-2, C and D), no par value; 15,200,000 and 
26,394,390 shares authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively; 13,259,790 and
25,366,930 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively;
liquidation preference of $193,462 and $295,162 at December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively (1) 183,034 261,713

Stockholders’ deficit:
Class A common stock, no par value; 6,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2022 and 2023;

5,890,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2023 (1) 12 12
Class B common stock, no par value; 38,000,000 and 65,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 

2022 and 2023 respectively; 3,919,100 shares and 5,875,671 issued and outstanding at December 31, 
2022 and 2023, respectively (1) 939 939

Class C common stock, no par value; 5,000,000 and 1,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2022
and 2023, respectively; 96,910 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2023 (1) 950 950

Additional paid-in capital 13,630 24,521
Accumulated other comprehensive income — 137
Accumulated deficit (185,565) (229,664)

Total stockholders’ deficit (170,034) (203,105)

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit 35,527$        110,040$      

December 31,



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) All prior period stock amounts have been adjusted to reflect the ten-for-one stock split, effective as of August 25, 2023. 
See Note 1, Organization and Basis of Presentation.

2022 2023

Revenue
Sales, net —$                11,995$         

Collaboration revenue 179 —

Total revenues 179 11,995
Cost of sales — 5,687
Gross profit 179 6,308

Operating expenses:
Research and development 31,428 17,943
Sales and marketing 8,827 11,990
General and administrative 25,768 12,225

Total operating expenses 66,023 42,158

Loss from operations (65,844) (35,850)

Other income (expense):
Interest income 196 1,777
Interest and other expense (14) (68)
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants 911 (9,958)

Total other income, net 1,093 (8,249)

Net loss (64,751)$      (44,099)$      

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain on short-term investments — 137

Comprehensive loss (64,751)$      (43,962)$      

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted (6.58)$           (4.22)$           

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted (1) 9,844,591    10,448,817  

Year Ended
December 31,



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT 
(In thousands, except share amounts) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(1) All prior period stock amounts have been adjusted to reflect the ten-for-one stock split, effective as of August 25, 2023. 
See Note 1, Organization and Basis of Presentation.

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders'
Shares (1) Amount Shares (1) Amount Capital Income Deficit Deficit

Balance at December 31, 2021 9,157,930 138,049$    9,665,040 1,901$      7,141$     —$              (120,814)$    (111,772)$    

Issuance of Series C preferred stock, net of issuance costs
of $656 and net of warrant liability of $11,408 4,101,860 44,985 — — — — — —

Transfer of Class A common stock to Class B common stock — — (110,000) — — — — —
Transfer of Class B common stock between stockholders — — 110,000 — — — — —
Stock option exercises — — 240,970 — 389 — — 389
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 6,100 — — 6,100
Net loss — — — — — — (64,751) (64,751)
Balance at December 31, 2022 13,259,790 183,034      9,906,010 1,901        13,630     — (185,565)      (170,034)      

Issuance of Series D preferred stock, net of issuance costs
of $700 and net of warrant liability of $22,321 12,107,140 78,679 — — — — — —

Common B warrant exercises — — 1,954,161 — 5,223 — — 5,223
Stock option exercises — — 2,410 — 10 — — 10
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 5,658 — — 5,658
Unrealized gain on short-term investments — — — — — 137 — 137
Net loss — — — — — — (44,099) (44,099)
Balance at December 31, 2023 25,366,930 261,713$    11,862,581 1,901$      24,521$   137$           (229,664)$    (203,105)$    

Convertible 
Preferred Stock Common Stock



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(In thousands) 

 
 
 
 

 

2022 2023

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss (64,751)$       (44,099)$       
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 1,345 1,226
Provision for expected credit losses — 46
Stock-based compensation expense 6,100 5,658
Provision for excess and obsolete inventory — (58)
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrant liability (911) 9,958
Accretion of discount on short-term investments — (747)
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use asset 742 864
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 43 11
Deferred offering costs 14 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable — (4,494)
Inventories — (1,187)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 119 (391)
Other long-term assets 86 (28)
Accounts payable (77) 716
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (2,007) 1,825
Funded R&D liability—related party — (1,140)
Operating lease liability (732) (948)
Deferred revenue (179) 342

Net cash used in operating activities (60,208) (32,446)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments — (69,295)
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 3 4
Purchases of property and equipment (772) (402)

Net cash used in investing activities (769) (69,693)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs 56,393 101,700
Proceeds from stock option exercises 389 10
Proceeds from common stock warrants exercise — 20
Payments of issuance costs of convertible preferred stock — (700)

Net cash provided by financing activities 56,782 101,030
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (4,195) (1,109)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 31,970 27,775
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period 27,775$         26,666$         

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing information:
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable —$                20$                
Purchases of property and equipment included in accrued expenses 24$                —$                
Series C convertible preferred stock warrants included in issuance costs 11,408$         —$                
Common B warrants issued in connection with Series D convertible preferred stock —$                22,321$         

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Operating lease right-of-use asset obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations 4,290$           1,038$           

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents 27,675$         26,566$         
Restricted cash 100 100
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash flows 27,775$         26,666$         

Year Ended
 December 31,
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation 
 
The Company 

Beta Bionics, Inc. (the “Company”) is a medical device company and was incorporated as a 
Massachusetts benefit corporation on October 21, 2015. The Company was founded by parents whose lives 
and whose children’s lives have been deeply impacted by type 1 diabetes. The Company’s mission is to 
help improve health outcomes and the quality of life of all children and adults living with diabetes and other 
conditions of glycemic dysregulation and to bring its technology to as many people as possible. 

The Company develops, manufactures and sells the iLet bionic pancreas (“the iLet”). On May 19, 
2023, the Company received FDA 510(k) clearance and commercial sales launched  in the United States in 
June 2023. The iLet is designed to leverage continuous, subcutaneous, insulin-pump technology and 
adaptive control algorithms to administer either insulin, glucagon, or both, in an autonomous manner to 
mimic the body’s natural ability to maintain a targeted glycemic range. The iLet is compatible with both the 
Dexcom G6 and G7 Continuous Glucose Monitoring System (“CGM”).  

The iLet is sold either indirectly to end users through independent distributors and pharmacies who 
resell the iLet or directly to end users through pharmacies who sell the product in the United States. The 
iLet is generally considered durable medical equipment (“DME”) and has an expected lifespan of at least 
four years. In addition to the iLet, the Company sells disposable products that are used together with the 
iLet and are replaced every few days, including cartridges for storing and delivering insulin, and infusion 
sets that connect the insulin pump to a user’s body.  
 
Basis of Presentation 

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Any reference in these notes to applicable 
guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative United States GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”).  
 
Stock Split 

The Company’s Board of Directors approved a ten (10): one (1) stock split (the “Stock Split”) of the 
Company’s authorized, issued and outstanding shares of stock, effective on August 25, 2023. All share and 
per share information included in these financial statements and notes thereto have been retroactively 
adjusted to give effect to the Stock Split. 
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Liquidity and Going Concern 

The Company has evaluated whether there are conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the 
date that the financial statements are available to be issued in accordance with ASC Topic 205-40, 
Presentation of Financial Statements, Going Concern: Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s 
ability to Continue as a Going Concern. 

Through December 31, 2023, the Company has funded its operations primarily with proceeds from 
sales of convertible preferred stock and payments received in connection with collaboration arrangements 
and government grants. The Company has incurred recurring losses since its inception, including net losses 
of $64.8 million and $44.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively. In addition, 
as of December 31, 2023, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $229.7 million. The Company 
expects to continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future. As of [Month XX], 2024, the 
issuance date of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company expects that 
its existing cash and cash equivalents are not sufficient to fund its operating expenses and capital 
expenditure requirements for the next 12 months. The future viability of the Company beyond that point is 
dependent on its ability to raise additional capital to finance its operations. 

The Company expects to seek additional funding through private equity financings, debt financings, 
or other capital sources, which may include collaborations with other companies, government funding 
arrangements or other strategic transactions. 

The Company may not be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms, or at all, and the Company 
may not be able to enter into collaborations or other arrangements. The terms of any financing may 
adversely affect the holdings or the rights of the Company’s stockholders. 

If the Company is unable to obtain funding, the Company will be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate 
some or all of its research and development programs, product portfolio expansion or commercialization 
efforts, which could adversely affect its business prospects, or the Company may be unable to continue 
operations. Although management continues to pursue these plans, there is no assurance that the Company 
will be successful in obtaining sufficient funding on terms acceptable to the Company to fund continuing 
operations, if at all. 

Based on its recurring losses from operations incurred since inception, expectation of continuing losses 
for the foreseeable future and need to raise additional capital to finance its future operations, as of [Month 
XX], 2024, the issuance date of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, the 
Company has concluded that there is substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern for a 
period of one year from the date that these financial statements are available to be issued. 

The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the 
outcome of this uncertainty. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on a basis that 
assumes the Company will continue as a going concern which contemplates the realization of assets and 
satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the ordinary course of business. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



F-8  

BETA BIONICS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue 
and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these financial 
statements include, but are not limited to, certain judgements regarding revenue recognition, inventory 
valuation, valuation of common stock and stock-based awards, and convertible preferred stock warrants. 
The Company bases its estimates on historical experience, known trends and other market-specific or other 
relevant assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, 
management evaluates its estimates as there are changes in circumstances, facts and experience. Changes in 
estimates are recorded in the period in which they become known. Actual results may differ from those 
estimates or assumptions. 
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk and of Significant Suppliers

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk primarily 
consist of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company maintains its cash and cash 
equivalents in accounts at multiple accredited financial institutions and short-term investments in custodian 
accounts. Additionally, the Company has established guidelines regarding investment instruments and their 
maturities, which are designed to maintain preservation of principal and liquidity. The Company does not 
believe that it is subject to unusual risk beyond the normal credit risk associated with commercial banking 
relationships. 

 
The following table summarizes the percentages of total sales and accounts receivable, net for customers who 

accounted for 10% or more of the respective amounts for the periods presented: 

 

 
The Company relies on certain materials used in its development and manufacturing processes, some of which are 

procured from only one or a few sources. The failure of one of these suppliers to deliver on schedule could delay or 
interrupt the manufacturing or commercialization process and would adversely affect the Company’s operating results. 
In addition, a disruption in the commercial supply of, or a significant increase in the cost of one of the Company’s 
materials from these sources could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position and 
results of operations. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents. 

 
  

Accounts Receivable, net

2022 2023 2022 2023

Distributor A * 20.6% * 28.9%
Distributor B * 19.0% * 24.5%
Distributor C * 16.3% * 12.3%
Distributor D * 14.2% * *

* Amount related to the respective customer represented less than 10% for the period presented.

Total Sales
Year Ended December 31, December 31, 
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Short-Term Investments 

The Company classifies its short-term investments as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale 
securities are carried at fair market value with net unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ deficit and as a component of other 
comprehensive income (loss) within the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company 
determines realized gains or losses on the sale of available-for-sale securities using the specific identification 
method and includes net realized gains and losses as a component of other income or expense within the 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 
 
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses 

Accounts receivable consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers. The Company 
maintains an allowance for its current estimate of expected credit losses and reassesses quarterly based on 
management’s expectations of the asset’s collectability. Provisions for expected credit losses are based upon 
specific reserves for known collection issues, as well as a general reserve. Determining the allowance for 
credit losses involves estimation and is subject to uncertainty. Uncollectible accounts are written off against 
the allowance after appropriate collection efforts have been exhausted and when it is deemed that a balance 
is uncollectible.  
 
Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, determined by the first-in, first-out 
method. Inventory is recorded using standard cost, including material, labor and overhead costs. The 
Company periodically reviews inventories for potential impairment and adjusts inventory for potentially 
excess or obsolete goods to state inventories at their net realizable value. Factors influencing these 
adjustments include quantities on hand and firm purchase commitments, expectations of future use, 
judgments based on quality control testing data and assessments of the likelihood of scrapping or obsoleting 
certain inventories based on future demand for its products and market conditions. 

In addition, prior to receiving FDA approval for the iLet on May 19, 2023, the costs associated with the 
manufacture of the iLet inventory were expensed as incurred as research and development expense. This 
resulted in inventory being sold during the years ended December 31, 2023, for which a portion of the costs 
had been previously expensed prior to FDA approval. The Company has approximately $0.4 million 
remaining in inventory with no cost basis (that was previously expensed) and expects this to continue to 
impact the cost of sales within the next year as the remaining pre-FDA inventory is sold to customers.
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Restricted Cash 

In connection with the Company’s lease agreement entered into May 2019 (see Note 17), the Company 
is required to maintain a letter of credit of $0.1 million for the benefit of the landlord. As of December 31, 
2022 and 2023, this amount was guaranteed by a deposit in a money market fund and classified as restricted 
cash on the balance sheets. 

 
Fair Value Measurements 

Certain assets and liabilities are carried at fair value under GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange 
price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on 
the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are 
to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first 
two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable: 

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 —  Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active 
markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active for 
identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can 
be corroborated by observable market data. 

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant 
to determining the fair value of the assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted 
cash flow methodologies and similar techniques. 

The Company’s cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash are carried at fair value, 
determined according to the fair value hierarchy described above (see Note 4). The carrying value and 
estimated fair value of certain of the Company’s common stock warrants was determined using the Black-
Scholes pricing model as of December 31, 2023 (see Note 4). The fair values of the Company’s accounts 
receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their carrying values due to the short-term 
nature of these assets and liabilities.  

 
Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation 
and amortization expense is recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each 
asset as follows: 

 

Costs for capital assets not yet placed into service are capitalized as construction-in-progress and 
depreciated once placed into service. Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and the related 
accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is 
included in loss from operations. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance that do not improve or extend 
the life of the respective asset are charged to expense as incurred. 

Estimated Useful Life

Manufacturing and medical equipment 5 years
Furniture 5 years
Computer equipment 2 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining lease term or 10 years
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Long-lived assets consist of property and equipment. The Company continually evaluates long-lived 
assets to be held and used for potential impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the carrying value of the assets may not be fully recoverable. Factors that the Company considers in deciding 
when to perform an impairment review include significant underperformance of the business in relation to 
expectations, significant negative industry or economic trends, and significant changes or planned changes in 
the use of the assets. The Company did not recognize any impairment losses during the years ended 
December 31, 2022 or 2023.

 
Leases 

Effective January 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASC 842, using the modified retrospective transition 
method. Under ASC 842, leases include all agreements in which the Company obtains control of an 
identified asset.  Leases are classified as either operating or finance leases at the lease commencement and 
are captured on the balance sheet as both a right-of-use asset and associated lease liability, valued based on 
the present value of the future lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. The operating 
lease right-of-use asset includes any lease payments related to initial direct cost and prepayments and is 
reduced by the amount of any lease incentives. The present value of future lease payments are discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in lease contracts if that rate is readily determinable; otherwise the Company 
utilizes its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”), which reflects the fixed rate at which the Company could 
borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term, the amount of the lease payments in a similar economic 
environment.  

If a lease includes options to extend the lease term, the Company does not assume the option will be 
exercised in its initial lease term assessment unless there is reasonable certainty that the Company will renew 
based on an assessment of economic factors present as of the lease commencement date. The Company 
monitors its plans to renew its material leases each reporting period. Our lease portfolio is made up entirely 
of operating leases for office, laboratory, and manufacturing space. 

All of the Company's leases are classified as operating leases, and therefore the expense is captured in 
income from operations each period. 

The Company elected to exclude all leases of twelve months or less from the balance sheet 
presentation.  The Company also elected a policy in which the lease components will not be segregated from 
associated non-lease components for all classes of underlying assets. This policy will be applied to all 
classifications of leases. Variable costs associated with the lease, such as maintenance and utilities, are not 
included in the measurement of right-to-use assets and lease liabilities but rather are expensed when the 
events determining the amount of variable consideration to be paid have occurred. 
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Classification and Accretion of Convertible Preferred Stock 

The Company’s convertible preferred stock is classified outside of stockholders’ deficit on the balance 
sheets because the holders of such shares have liquidation rights in the event of a deemed liquidation that, in 
certain situations, is not solely within the control of the Company and would require the redemption of the 
then-outstanding convertible preferred stock. The Company’s Series A, Series A-2, Series B, Series B-2, 
Series C and Series D convertible preferred stock are not redeemable, except in the event of a deemed 
liquidation (see Note 11). Because the occurrence of a deemed liquidation event is not currently probable, 
the carrying values of the convertible preferred stock are not being accreted to their redemption values. 
Subsequent adjustments to the carrying values of the convertible preferred stock would be made only when 
a deemed liquidation event becomes probable. 
 
Preferred Stock Warrants 

The Company has classified warrants to purchase its Series C convertible preferred stock and Class B 
Common Stock warrants issued in connection with its Series D convertible preferred stock as a liability on 
the balance sheets as these warrants are freestanding financial instruments that could require the Company 
to transfer assets upon exercise (see Note 4). 
 
Contingencies 

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to loss contingencies, such as legal proceedings 
and claims arising out of its business, that cover a wide range of matters. The Company records accruals for 
those loss contingencies when it is probable that a liability will be incurred and the amount of loss can be 
reasonably estimated. The Company does not recognize gain contingencies until realized. As of December 31, 
2022 and 2023, no liabilities were recorded for loss contingencies (see Note 18). 
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BETA BIONICS, INC. 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
Segment Information 

The Company manages its operations as a single segment for the purposes of assessing performance and 
making operating decisions. The Company is focused on the development, manufacture and sale of the iLet. 
The results of this operating segment are regularly reviewed by the Company’s chief operating decision maker, 
the Chief Executive Officer and President. The Company’s chief operating decision maker does not manage 
any part of the Company separately, and the allocation of resources and assessment of performance are based 
on the Company’s operating results. 

 
Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is generated primarily from sales of the iLet, disposable insulin cartridges and infusion sets 
through a network of distributors and pharmacies that resell the products to insulin-dependent diabetes patients. 
The Company recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the promised goods or services to its distributor 
and pharmacy customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services, net of estimated returns and estimated variable consideration 
adjustments, including rebates, chargebacks and patient assistance. 

 
Variable Consideration 

The amount of variable consideration that is included in the transaction price is included in revenue only 
to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue recognized 
will not occur in a future period. The Company estimates reductions to revenues for rebates paid to pharmacy 
benefit managers (“PBM”). Rebates are based on contractual arrangements, which may vary. The estimates 
are based on products sold, historical experience, trends, specific known market events and, as available, 
channel inventory data. Provisions for rebates, chargebacks and patient assistance are accounted for as a 
reduction of sales when revenue is recognized and are included within accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities within the balance sheets. If the actual amounts of consideration that the Company receives differ 
from estimates, the Company adjusts these estimates, which affects reported revenue, in the period that such 
variances become known.  

 
Revenue Recognition for Arrangements with Multiple Performance Obligations 

The Company considers the individual deliverables in its product offering as separate performance 
obligations. The transaction price is determined based on the consideration expected to be received, based 
on the stated value in contractual arrangements. The Company allocates the consideration to the individual 
performance obligations based on the estimated relative standalone selling price of the performance 
obligations and recognizes the consideration based on when the performance obligation is satisfied, 
considering whether or not this occurs at a point in time or over time. Where there is no observable 
standalone selling price, the Company estimates standalone selling price by applying the expected cost plus 
a margin approach. Generally, insulin pumps, cartridges, infusion sets, and accessories are deemed 
performance obligations that are satisfied at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the 
promised good, which typically is upon shipment.  

The Company has determined that the ability for a customer to receive software updates through the 
iLet Mobile App and unspecified product upgrades, are considered distinct performance obligations that are 
satisfied over time, as access and support is provided throughout the typical four-year warranty period of 
the iLet. Accordingly, revenue related to the software updates and unspecified product upgrades are deferred 
and recognized over a four-year period.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Sales Returns 

The Company offers a 90-day right of return to customers from the date of shipment of its iLet 
from one of its authorized distributors, provided a physician’s confirmation of the good faith 
medical reason for the return is received. Estimated allowances for sales returns are based on 
historical returned quantities as compared to pump shipments in those same periods of return, 
adjusted for known or expected changes in the marketplace when appropriate. The amount 
recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the Company’s balance sheets for 
allowances for sales returns was $0.2 million at December 31, 2023. Actual product returns have 
not differed materially from estimated amounts recorded in the accompanying financial statements. 

 
Contract Costs 

The Company recognizes an asset for incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a 
customer if it expects to recover those costs. The Company’s sales incentive compensation plan 
qualify for capitalization since the plan is directly related to sales achieved during a period of time. 
However, the Company has elected the practical expedient to expense the costs as they are 
incurred, within sales and marketing expenses, since the amortization period is less than one year. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Product Warranty 

The Company generally provides a four-year warranty on its insulin pumps to end-user customers to 
replace any pumps that do not function as intended in accordance with the product specifications. Estimated 
warranty costs are recorded at the time of shipment. Warranty costs are estimated primarily based on the 
current expected product replacement cost and expected replacement rates utilizing management’s 
understanding of the hardware. Although the Company’s history of product sales is limited, management 
also utilizes historical warranty cost data to reevaluate the estimate warranty obligation on a regular basis. 
Product returns and warranty replacements to date have been consistent with amounts accrued and have not 
been significant. Warranty expense is recorded as a component of cost of sales in the statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss. 

Shipping and Handling Costs 

Shipping and handling costs associated with product delivery are included within cost of sales in the 
Company’s statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company does not generally separately 
charge customers for shipping and handling costs, but any amounts billed to a customer for shipping and 
handling are reported as revenues. 

Collaboration Revenue 

The Company evaluates its license and/or collaboration arrangements to determine whether the 
arrangement (or part of the arrangement) represents a collaborative arrangement pursuant to ASC 808, 
Collaborative Arrangements (“ASC 808”). The Company considers the nature and contractual terms of 
collaborative arrangements and assesses whether the arrangement (or any part of the arrangement) 
involves joint operating activities pursuant to which the Company is an active participant in the 
activities and exposed to significant risks and rewards that are dependent on the commercial success of 
such activities. The Company also considered whether the relationship with the counterparty to the 
arrangement represents a relationship with a customer. If the Company is an active participant, is 
exposed to significant risks and rewards with respect to the arrangement, and the counterparty is not a 
customer, the Company accounts for the arrangement as a collaboration under ASC 808.  

In September 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with Novo Nordisk (the “Novo 
Collaboration Agreement”) and concluded that its relationship with Novo Nordisk does not represent a 
customer relationship. The purpose of the collaboration agreement is to produce clinical data using Novo 
Nordisk’s fast-acting insulin to support its compatibility and integration with the Company’s iLet bionic 
pancreas system. Under the terms of the original agreement, the Company was eligible to receive potential 
payments based on the achievement of certain milestones. The contract was amended in December 2019, 
February 2021 and April 2021 resulting in additional potential payments to be received and an extension of 
certain milestone achievement dates. 

Based on the nature of the agreement, the Company recognized collaboration revenue ratably over the 
estimated period of performance, inclusive of upfront payments received under the agreement. The work 
described under the agreement was completed in 2022 and as of December 31, 2022, and 2023 no amounts were 
due as accounts receivable. Further, $0.2 million and $0 revenue was recognized related to the Novo 
Collaboration Agreement during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.   
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Research and Development Costs 

Research and development costs, which are expensed as incurred, primarily consist of salaries and 
benefits associated with research and development personnel, overhead and occupancy costs, contract 
services costs and amortization of license costs for technology used in research and development without 
alternative future uses.  

Upfront payments under license agreements are expensed upon receipt of the license, and annual 
maintenance or minimum royalty fees under license agreements are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred. Milestone payments under license agreements are accrued, with a corresponding expense being 
recognized, in the period in which the milestone is determined to be probable of achievement and the related 
amount is reasonably estimable. 
 
Patent Costs  

Costs related to filing and pursuing patent applications are recorded as general and administrative 
expenses in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss and expensed as incurred as recoverability 
of such expenditures is uncertain. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 

The cost of a stock-based award is measured at the grant date based on the estimated fair value of the award, 
and is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis, net of forfeitures which are recognized as incurred, over the 
requisite service period of the award. The fair value of stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model, which requires the input of subjective assumptions, including price volatility of the underlying 
stock, risk-free interest rate, dividend yield, and expected life of the option. The Company historically has been a 
private company and lacks company-specific historical and implied volatility information. Therefore, it 
estimates its expected stock volatility based on the historical volatility of a publicly traded set of peer 
companies. For options with service-based vesting conditions, the expected term of the Company’s stock 
options has been determined utilizing the “simplified” method for awards that qualify as “plain-vanilla” 
options. The risk-free interest rate is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the 
time of grant of the award for time periods approximately equal to the expected term of the award. Expected 
dividend yield is based on the fact that the Company has never paid cash dividends and does not expect to 
pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. 

Compensation expense for non-employee awards is recognized in the same manner as if the Company 
had paid cash in exchange for the goods or services, which is generally the vesting period of the respective 
award.  

The Company classifies stock-based compensation expense in its statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss in the same manner in which the award recipient’s payroll costs are classified or in which 
the award recipient’s service payments are classified. 

 
Comprehensive Loss 

Comprehensive loss includes net loss as well as other changes in stockholders’ deficit that result from 
transactions and economic events other than those with stockholders, including unrealized gains and 
losses on marketable securities. For the year ended December 31, 2022, there was no difference between 
net loss and comprehensive loss. 
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Net Income (Loss) per Share 

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders 
by the weighted- average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The Company's convertible 
preferred stock contractually entitles the holders of such shares to participate in any dividends declared. 
Therefore, convertible preferred shares are considered to be participating securities. During periods in which the 
Company reports net income, the Company allocates a proportional share of net income to participating 
securities determined by dividing the total weighted-average participating securities by the sum of the total 
weighted-average common shares and participating securities (the “two-class method”). Participating securities 
have the effect of diluting both basic and diluted earnings per share during periods of income. During periods 
where the Company reports a net loss, the Company allocates no loss to participating securities because they 
have no contractual obligation to share in losses. In periods in which the Company reports a net loss, diluted net 
loss per share attributable to common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders, since dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive. 
Therefore, the impact of the Company's outstanding stock options and convertible preferred stock is excluded 
from the net loss per share calculation (see Note 16). The Company reported a net loss attributable to common 
stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. 

Income Taxes 

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the 
financial statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities. Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recorded in the provision for income taxes. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets 
will be recovered from future taxable income. To the extent the Company believes that it is more likely than 
not that all or a portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance is established 
through a charge to income tax expense. When the Company establishes or reduces the valuation allowance 
against its deferred tax assets, its provision for income taxes will increase or decrease, respectively, in the 
period such determination is made.  

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements by 
applying a two-step process to determine the amount of tax benefit to be recognized. First, the tax position 
must be evaluated to determine the likelihood that it will be sustained upon external examination by the 
taxing authorities. If the tax position is deemed more-likely-than-not to be sustained, the tax position is then 
assessed to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The amount of the 
benefit that may be recognized is the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized 
upon ultimate settlement. The provision for income taxes includes the effects of any resulting tax reserves, 
or unrecognized tax benefits, that are considered appropriate as well as the related net interest and penalties. 
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, 
(“ASC 740”). The ASU enhances and simplifies various aspects of the income tax accounting guidance in ASC 
740, including requirements related to hybrid tax regimes, the tax basis step-up in goodwill obtained in a 
transaction that is not a business combination, separate financial statements of entities not subject to tax, the 
intra-period tax allocation exception to the incremental approach, ownership changes in investments, changes 
from a subsidiary to an equity method investment, interim-period accounting for enacted changes in tax law, 
and the year-to-date loss limitation in interim-period tax accounting. This guidance became effective for the 
Company's fiscal year beginning January 1, 2022. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact 
on the Company’s financial statements.  

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), and also issued subsequent 
amendments to the initial guidance: ASU 2018-19, ASU 2019-04 and ASU 2019-05 (collectively, “Topic 
326”). Topic 326 requires measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held. For 
public entities that are Securities and Exchange Commission filers, excluding entities eligible to be smaller 
reporting companies, ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, 
including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. In November 2019, the FASB 
issued ASU No. 2019-10, which deferred the effective date for nonpublic entities to annual reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Topic 326 is effective 
for the Company beginning January 1, 2023, and earlier adoption is permitted. The adoption of this guidance 
did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.  
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to 
Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09”). ASU 2023-09 is intended to enhance the transparency and 
decision usefulness of income tax disclosures. The amendments in this ASU address investor requests for 
more transparency about income tax information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily 
related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. The amendments in the ASU are 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, on a prospective basis. Early adoption is 
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential effects of adopting the provisions of ASU No. 
2023-09. 

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): 
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU No. 2023-07”). ASU 2023-07 requires that an 
entity disclose significant segment expenses, a description of “other segment items,” and the title and 
position of the chief operating decision maker along with an explanation of how the reported segment profit 
or loss is assessed and allocated. The amendments in the ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2023, and interim periods after December 15, 2024. The amendments in this ASU will be 
applied retrospectively for all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently 
evaluating the potential effects of adopting the provisions of ASU No. 2023-07. 

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options 
(Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40). The 
standard address issues identified as a result of the complexity associated with applying U.S. GAAP for 
certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity. The standard reduces the number 
of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock resulting in fewer 
embedded conversion features being separately recognized from the host contract. The standard is effective 
for public companies, excluding entities eligible to be smaller reporting companies, for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. For all other 
entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim 
periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The FASB specified that an entity 
should adopt the guidance as of the beginning of its annual fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating 
the potential effects of adopting the provisions of ASU No. 2020-06.  

 
3. Revenue 

The following table summarizes the Company’s disaggregated revenues (in thousands): 

 

At December 31, 2023, $0.3 million was allocated to performance obligations that were not yet 
satisfied and is recorded in deferred revenue on the balance sheets. Of the performance obligations not yet 
satisfied, $87,000 is expected to be recognized as revenue in the next 12 months, with the remainder 
expected to be recognized thereafter. The $0.3 million relates to amounts deferred associated with the 
software updates and unspecified product upgrades promised to users of the iLet.  

Prior to FDA 510(k) clearance on May 19, 2023, the Company’s source of revenue was from research, 
clinical and collaboration agreements with various academic, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. 

 
 

 

2022 2023

Sales, net —$               11,995$        
Collaboration revenue 179 —

Total revenues 179$             11,995$        

Year Ended
December 31,
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4. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements 

The following tables present the Company’s fair value hierarchy for its assets and liabilities that 
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands): 

 

  
Money market funds and U.S. Treasury bills were valued by the Company based on quoted market 

prices, which represent a Level 1 measurement within the fair value hierarchy. There were no changes to the 
valuation methods during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. The Company evaluates transfers 
between levels at the end of each reporting period. There were no transfers between Level 1 or Level 2 
during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023. 

 
Warrant liability 
 

In connection with the August 28, 2023 Series D Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement (see Note 
11), the Company granted warrants to purchase up to 8,474,983 shares of Common B stock equal to 70% of the 
shares of Series D Preferred Stock purchased by the purchaser at an exercise price of $0.01 per share and 
expire on the earliest to occur of (i) August 27, 2033, (ii) immediately prior to the sale of the Company or a 
transaction that qualifies as a Deemed Liquidation Event, or (iii) immediately prior to the consummation of a 
qualifying initial public offering or a SPAC transaction. The warrants have been recorded as a liability and 
are required to be remeasured to fair value at each reporting date. 

  

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market fund 24,651$      —$             —$             24,651$      

Restricted cash:
Money market fund 100           — — 100           

Total Assets 24,751$      —$             —$             24,751$      
Liabilities

Preferred stock warrant liability —$             —$             10,497$      10,497$      
Total liabilities —$             —$             10,497$      10,497$      

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market fund 24,414$      —$             —$             24,414$      

Restricted cash:
Money market fund 100           — — 100           

Short-term investments
U.S. Treasury bills 70,179      — — 70,179      

Total Assets 94,693$      —$             —$             94,693$      
Liabilities

Preferred stock warrant liability —$             —$             37,573$      37,573$      
Total liabilities —$             —$             37,573$      37,573$      

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2022 Using:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2023 Using:
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In connection with the February 16, 2022 Series C Preferred Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement 

(see Note 11), the Company granted warrants to purchase up to 1,025,390 shares of Series C convertible 
preferred stock at a price per share equal to $0.01 and with a term ending on the earliest to occur of (i) 
February 16, 2032, (ii) immediately prior to the sale of the Company or a transaction that qualifies as a 
Deemed Liquidation Event, or (iii) immediately prior to the consummation of a qualifying initial public 
offering or a SPAC transaction. As the warrants are for preferred stock, which do not qualify for equity 
classification, the warrants have been recorded as a liability and are required to be remeasured to fair value at 
each reporting date. 

 
As there are significant inputs that are not observable in the market, the warrant valuation represents a 

Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy. The Company’s valuation of the preferred stock 
warrant utilized the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which incorporates assumptions and estimates to 
value the preferred stock warrant. 

 
The quantitative elements associated with the Company’s Level 3 inputs impacting the fair value 

measurement of the preferred stock warrant liability include the fair value per share of the underlying 
Series C convertible preferred stock, the remaining contractual term of the warrant, risk-free interest rate, 
expected dividend yield and expected volatility of the price of the underlying preferred stock. The most 
significant assumption in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model impacting the fair value of the preferred 
stock warrant is the fair value of the Company’s Series C convertible preferred stock as of each 
remeasurement date. The Company determines the fair value per share of the underlying preferred stock by 
taking into consideration its most recent sales of its convertible preferred stock. The Company historically 
has been a private company and lacks company-specific historical and implied volatility information of its 
stock. Therefore, it estimates its expected stock volatility based on the historical volatility of publicly traded  
peer companies for a term equal to the remaining contractual term of the warrant. The risk-free interest rate 
is determined by reference to the U.S. Treasury yield curve for time periods approximately equal to the 
remaining contractual term of the warrant. The Company has estimated a 0% dividend yield based on the 
expected dividend yield and the fact that the Company has never paid or declared dividends. 

 
The Company recognizes changes in the fair value of the warrant liability as a component of other 

income (expense) in its statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company will continue to 
recognize changes in the fair value of the warrant liability until the warrant is exercised, expires, or qualifies 
for equity classification.  

 
A reconciliation of the Level 3 warrant liability is as follows (in thousands): 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 

  Warrant

Liability

Balance at December 31, 2021 —$                               

Issuance of Series C preferred stock warrants 11,408                         

Change in fair value (911)                            

Balance at December 31, 2022 10,497                         

Issuance of Common B warrants in connection with Series D preferred stock 22,321                         

Common B warrant exercises (5,203)                         

Change in fair value 9,958                           

Balance at December 31, 2023 37,573$                        
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5. Short-Term Investments 
 

The following represents a summary of the estimated fair value of short-term investments at December 
31, 2023 (in thousands): 

 

 
 The Company did not have short-term investments at December 31, 2022. 
 

6. Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the allowance for estimated accounts receivable 
credit losses for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands): 

 
 

 The Company did not have accounts receivable, net or an allowance for accounts receivable credit 
losses at December 31, 2022. 

 
7. Inventories, Net 

 Inventories, net consisted of the following (in thousands): 
 

 
 The Company did not have inventories, net at December 31, 2022. 

 
 

  

Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized  Estimated  
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Short-term investments
U.S. Treasury bills 70,042$       137$           —$             70,179$      

70,042$       137$           —$             70,179$      

At December 31, 2023

December 31,
2023

Accounts receivable 4,494$          
Less: allowance for credit losses (46)

4,448$          

Year Ended 

December 31,

2023

Balance at beginning of period —$               
Provision for expected credit losses 46
Write-offs and adjustments, net of recoveries —
Balance at end of period 46$               

December 31,
2023

Raw materials 803$             
Work in process 34
Finished Goods 408

1,245$          
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8. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 
9. Property and Equipment, Net

 

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 
 

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 was $1.3 million 
and $1.2 million, respectively. 

  

2022 2023

Prepaid expenses 542$             908$             
Other current assets 250 275

792$             1,183$          

December 31,

2022 2023

Manufacturing and medical equipment 4,008$          4,386$          
Leasehold improvements 951 951
Furniture 924 924
Computer equipment 628 468
Construction in progress 182 167

6,693 6,896
Less:  Accumulated depreciation and amorization (3,374) (4,420)

3,319$          2,476$          

December 31,
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10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 

Reconciliations of the changes in the Company’s product warranty liability were as follows (in thousands): 

 

The Company did not have product warrant liability during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

 
11. Convertible Preferred Stock and Warrants 

The Company has issued Series A convertible preferred stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”), 
Series A-2 convertible preferred stock (the “Series A-2 Preferred Stock”), Series B convertible preferred 
stock (the “Series B Preferred Stock”), Series B-2 convertible preferred stock (the “Series B-2 Preferred 
Stock”), Series C convertible preferred stock (the “Series C Preferred Stock”), and Series D convertible 
preferred stock (the “Series D Preferred Stock”) and collectively with the Series A Preferred Stock, the 
Series A-2 Preferred Stock, the Series B Preferred Stock, the Series C Preferred Stock and the Series D 
Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”). 

Upon issuance of each class of Preferred Stock, the Company assessed the embedded conversion and 
liquidation features of the securities and determined that such features did not require the Company to 
separately account for these features. The Company also concluded that no beneficial conversion feature 
existed on the issuance date of each class of Preferred Stock. 

 
 
 

2022 2023
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 5,381$          5,475$          
Accrued professional services fees 658 843
Accrued rebates — 346
Accrued raw materials — 342
Accrued royalties — 294
Accrued sales returns — 204
Accrued consulting fees 104 120
Accrued patient assistance program — 42
Warranty liability — 22
Other current liabilities 184 440

6,327$          8,128$          

December 31,

Year Ended 

December 31,

2023

Product warrant liability at beginning of year —$               
Warranty expense 84
Changes in estimates —
Warranty fulfillment (62)
Product warrant liability at end of year 22$               
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In August 2023, the Company issued and sold 12,107,140 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock, at 
a price of $8.40 per share, for gross proceeds of $101.7 million. The Company incurred issuance costs in 
connection with this transaction of $0.7 million. Each purchaser of the Series D Preferred Stock also 
received Common B Stock Warrants (the “Common B Warrants”) equal to 70% of the shares of Series D 
Preferred Stock purchased by the purchaser. The Common B Warrants are exercisable at any time, at an 
exercise price of $0.01 per share (subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock split, stock 
dividend, combination or other similar recapitalization) and expire on the earliest to occur of (i) August 27, 
2033, (ii) immediately prior to the sale of the Company or a transaction that qualifies as a Deemed 
Liquidation Event, or (iii) immediately prior to the consummation of a qualifying initial public offering or a 
SPAC transaction. During the year ended December 31, 2023, a total of 1,954,161 of the Common B Stock 
Warrants were exercised. The terms of the Series D Preferred Stock are substantially the same as the terms 
of the Series C Preferred Stock, except that the Original Issue Price per share and Conversion Price per 
share of the Series C Preferred Stock is $8.40.  

In February 2022, the Company issued and sold 4,101,860 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock, at 
a price of $13.91 per share, for gross proceeds of $57.0 million. The Company incurred issuance costs in 
connection with this transaction of $0.7 million. Each purchaser of the Series C Preferred Stock also 
received a warrant to purchase additional shares of Series C Preferred stock equal to 25% of the shares of 
Series C Preferred Stock purchased by the purchaser, which in the aggregate permits the purchase of up to 
1,025,390 shares of Series C Preferred stock (the “Series C Warrants”). The Series C Warrants are 
exercisable at any time, at an exercise price of $0.01 per share (subject to appropriate adjustment in the 
event of any stock split, stock dividend, combination or other similar recapitalization) and expire on the 
earliest to occur of (i) February 16, 2032, (ii) immediately prior to the sale of the Company or a transaction 
that qualifies as a Deemed Liquidation Event, or (iii) immediately prior to the consummation of a qualifying 
initial public offering or a SPAC transaction. The terms of the Series C Preferred Stock are substantially the 
same as the terms of the Series B Preferred Stock and Series B-2 Preferred Stock, except that the Original 
Issue Price per share and Conversion Price per share of the Series C Preferred Stock is $13.91.  

As part of the Series D Preferred Stock issuance, the Company increased the number of shares of Class 
B common stock authorized for issuance from 38,000,000 shares to 65,000,000 shares and increased the 
number of shares of preferred stock authorized for issuance from 15,2000,000 shares to 26,394,390 shares, 
of which 12,107,140 shares were designated as Series D Preferred Stock. 
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At the balance sheet dates, Preferred Stock consisted of the following (in thousands, except share 
amounts): 

  The holders of Preferred Stock have the following rights and preferences: 
 

Voting 

The holders of the Preferred Stock are entitled to vote, together with the holders of Class A common 
stock and Class B common stock as a single class, on all matters submitted to stockholders for a vote. Each 
holder of Preferred Stock is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of Class B 
common stock into which each share of Preferred Stock is convertible as of the record date for determining 
stockholders entitled to vote on such matters.  The holders of Class C common stock do not have voting 
rights. The holders of record of the Series D Preferred shares are entitled to elect five individuals jointly 
designated from time to time by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Series D Preferred 
Stock, exclusively and voting as a separate series, (i) one of whom shall be designated by Sands Capital 
Life Sciences Pulse Fund II, L.P. and its Affiliates, (ii) one of whom shall be designated by Omega Fund 
VII, L.P. and its Affiliates; (iii) one of whom shall be designated by Soleus Private Equity Fund II, L.P. and 
its Affiliates; (iv) one of whom shall be designated by Eventide Gilead Fund and Eventide Healthcare & 
Life Sciences Fund and Affiliates of the foregoing; and (v) one of whom shall be designated by Zone 
Healthcare Holdings, LLC and its Affiliates. The holders of record of the shares of Series C Preferred 
Stock, exclusively and as a separate class, shall be entitled to elect one director of the Corporation. The 
holders of record of the shares of Series B Preferred Stock and Series B-2 Preferred Stock, voting together 
as a single class, on an as-converted basis, shall be entitled to elect one director of the Corporation. The 
holders of record of the shares of Class A Common Stock, exclusively and as a separate class, shall be 
entitled to elect one director of the Corporation.  

For so long as the Company is a Massachusetts domestic benefit corporation, one individual who is 
mutually agreed upon by a majority of the other members of the Board including the Executive Chairman 
Director will serve as a director. This position is called the Public Benefit Director.  

The CEO shall also serve as a director. 

Preferred 
Stock 

Authorized

Preferred Stock 
Issued and 

Outstanding
Carrying 

Value
Liquidation 
Preference

Common Stock 
Issuable Upon 

Conversion

Series A Preferred Stock 500,000      500,000            6,589$     5,000$        500,000         
Series A-2 Preferred Stock 500,000      500,000            6,626       5,000          500,000         
Series B Preferred Stock 4,200,000   4,197,930         61,606     63,053        4,398,610      
Series B-2 Preferred Stock 4,500,000   3,960,000         63,228     63,360        4,184,470      
Series C Preferred Stock 5,500,000   4,101,860         44,985     57,049        4,101,860      

15,200,000 13,259,790       183,034$ 193,462$    13,684,940    

Preferred 
Stock 

Authorized

Preferred Stock 
Issued and 

Outstanding
Carrying 

Value
Liquidation 
Preference

Common Stock 
Issuable Upon 

Conversion

Series A Preferred Stock 500,000      500,000            6,589$     5,000$        624,571         
Series A-2 Preferred Stock 500,000      500,000            6,626       5,000          624,571         
Series B Preferred Stock 4,200,000   4,197,930         61,606     63,053        5,931,111      
Series B-2 Preferred Stock 4,500,000   3,960,000         63,228     63,360        5,697,891      
Series C Preferred Stock 5,127,250   4,101,860         44,985     57,049        5,499,867      
Series D Preferred Stock 12,107,140 12,107,140       78,679     101,700      12,107,140    

26,934,390 25,366,930       261,713$ 295,162$    30,485,151    

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2023
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Conversion 

Each series of Preferred Stock will automatically convert into shares of Class B Common Stock at the 
then applicable conversion rate in the event of (i) the closing of the sale of common stock to the public at a 
price per share equal to at least $7.41177 (subject to adjustments for stock dividends, splits, combinations 
and similar events) and gross proceeds to the Company of not less than $75 million (a “Qualified IPO”); (ii) 
the closing of a Qualified SPAC Transaction; or (iii) upon the written consent of the Requisite Holders. The 
conversion ratio of each series of Preferred Stock is determined by dividing the Original Issue Price of each 
series by the Conversion Price of each series. The Original Issue Price is $10.00 per share for Series A 
Preferred Stock, $10.00 per share for Series A-2 Preferred Stock, $15.02 per share for Series B Preferred 
Stock, $16.00 per share for Series B-2 Preferred Stock and $13.91 per share for share for Series C Preferred 
Stock. The Conversion Price is $8.0055 per share for Series A Preferred Stock, $8.0055 per share for Series 
A-2 Preferred Stock, $10.63084 per share for Series B Preferred Stock, $11.189 per share for Series B-2 
Preferred Stock, $10.37275 per share for Series C Preferred Stock and $4.94118  per share for Series D 
Preferred Stock, each subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock split, stock dividend, 
combination or other similar recapitalization and other adjustments as set forth in the Company’s articles of 
organization, as amended and restated.  

In the event the Company at any time after the Preferred Stock Series B-2 original issue date issues 
additional shares of common stock without consideration or for a consideration per share less than the 
applicable Conversion Price of each series in effect immediately prior to such issuance, the applicable 
Conversion Price of each series of Preferred Stock will be reduced, concurrently with such issue, to the 
appropriate price that will effectuate anti-dilution of existing holders of Preferred Stock.  

The Series D Preferred Stock issuance triggered down round protections for existing holders of the 
Preferred Stock, as set forth in the Company’s articles of organization, as amended and restated. As a result, 
as of December 31, 2023, each outstanding share of Series A Preferred Stock and Series A-2 Preferred 
Stock was convertible into Class B common stock on a 1.24914:1 basis, each outstanding share of Series B 
Preferred Stock was convertible into Class B common stock on a 1.41287:1 basis, each outstanding share of 
Series B-2 Preferred Stock was convertible into Class B common stock on a 1.43886:1 basis and each 
outstanding share of Series C Preferred Stock was convertible into Class B common stock on a 1.34082:1 
basis.  

 
Dividends 

The holders of shares of  Series D Preferred Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series A-2 Preferred 
Stock are entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the board of directors on a pari passu basis, non-
cumulative cash dividends of 4% per annum of each respective Original Issue Price, and the holders of 
Series B Preferred Stock,  B-2 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to receive, when, as 
and if declared by the board of  directors on a pari passu basis, non-cumulative cash dividends of 2% per 
annum of each respective Original Issue Price (the “Annual Dividend” for each respective series).  
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The Company shall not declare, pay or set aside any dividends on shares of any other class or series of 
stock of the Company unless the holders of the Preferred Stock then outstanding shall first receive, or 
simultaneously receive, a dividend on each outstanding share of Preferred Stock in an amount at least equal 
to the greater of: (i) in the case of a dividend on common stock or any class or series of stock that is 
convertible into common stock, a dividend per share of Preferred Stock that would equal the product of (A) 
the dividend payable on each share of such class or series determined, if applicable, as if all shares of such 
class or series had been converted into common stock and (B) the number of shares of common stock 
issuable upon conversion of a share of Preferred Stock; or (ii) in the case of a dividend on any class or 
series of stock that is not convertible into common stock, at a rate per share of Preferred Stock determined 
by (A) dividing the amount of the dividend payable on each share of such class or series of stock by the 
Original Issue Price of such class or series of stock (subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of  any 
stock dividend, stock split, combination or other similar recapitalization  with respect to such class or 
series) and (B) multiplying such fraction by an amount equal to the Original Issue Price of such class or 
series. If the Company declares, pays or sets aside, on the same date, a dividend on shares of more than one 
class or series of stock of the Company, the dividend payable to the holders of the Preferred Stock will be 
calculated based upon the dividend on the class or series of stock that would result in the highest Preferred 
Stock dividend. 

Through December 31, 2023, no dividends had been declared on any series or class of shares. 
 
Liquidation 

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company or 
Deemed Liquidation Event (as described below), the holders of shares of Series D Preferred Stock are 
entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders before any 
payments are made to the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series A-2 Preferred Stock, Series 
B Preferred Stock, Series B-2 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock. The holders of shares of Series 
D Preferred Stock are entitled to an amount per share equal to the greater of (i) the Original Issue Price per 
share of the Series D Preferred Stock, plus all dividends declared but unpaid thereon, or (ii) the amount that 
would have been payable had all shares of Series D Preferred Stock been converted to common stock 
immediately prior to the liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or Deemed Liquidation Event. If upon any 
such liquidation event, the assets of the Company available for distribution are insufficient to pay the holders 
of the Series D Preferred Stock the full amount to which they are entitled, the holders of Series D Preferred 
Stock will share ratably in any distribution of the assets available for distribution in proportion to the 
respective amounts which would be otherwise payable in respect of the shares held by them upon such 
distribution if all amounts payable on or with respect to such shares were paid in full. 

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company or 
Deemed Liquidation Event (as described below), after the payment in full to the holders of shares of the 
Series D Preferred Stock, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series A-2 Preferred Stock, 
Series B Preferred Stock, Series B-2 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock are entitled to be paid out 
of the assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders pari passu before any payments 
are made to holders of the common stock. The holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series A-2 
Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, Series B-2 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock are 
entitled to an amount per share equal to the greater of (i) the applicable Original Issue Price per share of each 
respective share of Preferred Stock, plus all dividends declared but unpaid thereon, or (ii) the amount that 
would have been payable had all shares of the series been converted to common stock immediately prior to 
the liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or Deemed Liquidation Event. If upon any such liquidation event, 
the assets of the Company available for distribution are insufficient to pay the holders of Preferred Stock the 
full amount to which they are entitled, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series A-2 
Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock, Series B-2 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock will 
share ratably in any distribution of the assets available for distribution in proportion to the respective 
amounts which would be otherwise payable in respect of the shares held by them upon such distribution if 
all amounts payable on or with respect to such shares were paid in full. 
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Unless both (i) the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Series D Preferred Stock, 
voting as a separate class, which majority shall include at least one of the “Lead Investors” and (ii) the 
holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, Series A-2 Preferred 
Stock, Series B Preferred Stock Series B-2 Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock, voting together as 
a single class on an as-converted basis, elect otherwise, a Deemed Liquidation Event shall include a merger, 
consolidation, or share exchange (other than one in which stockholders of the Company own a majority by 
voting power of the outstanding shares of the surviving or acquiring corporation) or a sale, lease, transfer, 
exclusive license or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company. 

 
12. Common Stock 

The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the holders of the Company’s common stock are subject to and 
qualified by the rights, powers and preferences of the holders of the Preferred Stock set forth above. 

In connection with the Series D Preferred Stock financing (see Note 11), the Company’s articles of 
organization were amended and restated. As amended, the holders of Class A common stock and Class B 
common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Class A common stock and Class B common stock 
held. 

In addition, the events requiring the automatic conversion of all shares of outstanding preferred stock 
into Class B common stock were amended to be (i) the closing of a firm-commitment underwritten public 
offering of common stock at a price of at least $7.41177 per share (subject to appropriate adjustment in the 
event of any stock dividend, stock split, combination or other similar recapitalization), resulting in at least 
$75.0 million of gross proceeds to the Company, (ii) the closing of a qualifying SPAC transaction or (iii) 
the vote or written consent of the holders of at least a majority of the then-outstanding shares of Preferred 
Stock, voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis. 

The holders of Class C common stock do not have voting rights. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had reserved 38,825,774 shares of Class B common stock 
for the potential conversion of shares of Preferred Stock into common stock and the exercise of outstanding 
and available-for-grant stock options. 

 
13. Stock-Based Compensation 
 
2016 Stock Incentive Plan 

The Company’s 2016 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2016 Plan”), provides for the Company 
to grant stock options and restricted stock awards to employees, officers, directors and consultants of the 
Company. The 2016 Plan is administered by the board of directors or, at the discretion of the board of 
directors, by a committee of the board of directors. The exercise prices, vesting and other restrictions are 
determined at the discretion of the board of directors, or its committee if so delegated. 

Stock options granted under the 2016 Plan with service-based vesting conditions typically vest over 
four years and expire after ten years. The total number of shares of Class B common stock that may be 
issued under the 2016 Plan was 12,145,954 shares as of December 31, 2023, of which 1,641,480 shares 
remained available for future issuance as of December 31, 2023. Shares that are expired, terminated, 
surrendered or canceled without having been fully exercised will be available for future grant under the 
2016 Plan. 

The exercise price for stock options granted may not be less than the fair value of Class B common stock 
as determined by the board of directors as of the date of grant. The Company’s board of directors values the 
Company’s Class B common stock taking into consideration the most recent sales of the Company’s 
preferred stock, results obtained from third-party valuations and additional factors the Company deems 
relevant and which may have changed since the date of the most recent contemporaneous valuation 
through the date of grant. 
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Stock Option Cancellation and Regrant 

On March 2, 2023, and in accordance with the terms of the Company’s 2016 Plan, the Company’s 
Board of Directors approved a stock option cancel and regrant (the “2023 Cancel and Regrant”), wherein 
outstanding stock options to acquire shares of the Company’s common stock that were issued during the 
period December 2019 through December 2022 to active (“active” defined as active as of March 2, 2023) 
employees, members of the board of directors, and consultants of the Company were canceled and regranted 
at the price of the Company’s common stock valuation on March 2, 2023. As of that date, the Company's 
common stock fair value was $3.805 per share. Aside from the reduced strike price, all regranted options 
kept the same terms and conditions of the canceled stock options, including vested amounts and vesting 
schedules. Upon the cancel and regrant, the Company recognized additional stock-based compensation from 
vested options of $0.4 million and a total of $0.4 million as unvested options continued to vest during the 
year ended December 31, 2023. The Company will recognize an additional $1.1 million stock-based 
compensation expense from the date of the modification through the requisite service period as the 
remaining unvested options continue to vest. 
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The following table presents, on a weighted-average basis, the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model to determine the grant-date fair value of stock options granted: 

 

 

 

 

 

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options is calculated as the difference between the exercise price 
of the stock options and the fair value of the Company’s Class B common stock for those stock options 
that had exercise prices lower than the fair value of the Company’s Class B common stock.  

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2023 was $2.73 per share and $2.16 per share, respectively. 

2022 2023

Fair value of common stock $3.81 $4.32
Risk-free interest rate 2.96% 3.06%
Expected term (in years) 6.01 5.39
Expected volatility 79.40% 75.12%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%

Year Ended
December 31,

Weighted- Weighted- Aggregate
Number of Average Average Remaining Intrinsic

Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
(in years) (in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 6,732,850 $6.40 7.4 1,870$       
Granted 17,017,397 4.76
Exercised (229,354) 1.91
Forfeited or cancelled (7,211,424) 6.91

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 16,309,469 $3.41 8.1 535$          

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2023 16,309,469 $3.41 8.1 535$          
Options exercisable at December 31, 2023 4,095,302 $3.92 6.4 525$          
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense 

Stock-based compensation expense related to the stock options was included in the Company’s 
statement of operations and comprehensive loss as follows (in thousands):  

 
For the year ended December 31, 2022, stock-based compensation expense included $1.1 million 

related to the modification of stock options held by two executives in connection with separation agreements, 
included in general and administrative expense.  

 
As of December 31, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to the 

unvested stock-based awards was $13.8 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average 
period of 3.1 years. 

 
14. Employee Benefit Plan 

The Company maintains a 401(k) retirement plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for the benefit of eligible 
employees. Each participant may elect to contribute up to 100% of his or her compensation to the 401(k) 
Plan each year, subject to certain Internal Revenue Service limitations. Under the terms of the Plan, the 
Company matches 100% of the first 6% of employee contributions. During the years ended December 31, 
2022 and 2023, the Company contributed $1.1 million and $1.2 million, respectively, to the 401(k) Plan. 

 
15. Income Taxes 

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company did not record income tax benefits 
for the net operating losses incurred or for the research and development tax credits generated in each year, 
due to its uncertainty of realizing a benefit from those items. The Company does not have any foreign 
operations and therefore has not provided for any foreign income taxes.

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax 
rate is as follows: 

 

 

 

2022 2023

Cost of sales —$               239$             
Sales and marketing 384 610
Research and development 1,554 1,781
General and administrative 4,162 3,028

6,100$          5,658$          

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2023
Federal statutory income tax rate (21.0)           % (21.0)           %

State income tax, net of federal benefit (0.7)             (2.3)             
Federal and state research and development tax credits (1.6)             (2.1)             
Change in fair value of warrant liability — 4.8              
Stock-based compensation — 1.1              
Non-deductible items 0.1              0.1              
State rate change — (1.3)             
Other (0.3)             (0.4)             
Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance 23.5            21.1            

Effective income tax rate 0.0 % 0.0 %

Year Ended
December 31,
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The Company’s net deferred tax assets consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of 
$165.0 million, which may be available to reduce future taxable income, of which $11.5 million expire at 
various dates beginning in 2035 while the remaining $153.5 million do not expire but are limited in their 
usage to an annual deduction equal to 80% of annual taxable income. In addition, as of December 31, 2023, 
the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards of $36.4 million, which may be available to reduce 
future taxable income, of which $33.9 million expire at various dates beginning in 2029, while $2.5 million 
do not expire. As of December 31, 2023, the Company also had U.S. federal and state research and 
development tax credit carryforwards of $3.0 million and $2.7 million, respectively, which may be available 
to reduce future tax liabilities and expire at various dates beginning in 2036 and 2032, respectively, with 
$2.3 million of state research and development tax credits carrying forward indefinitely. 

Utilization of the U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards and research and development 
tax credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation under Sections 382 and 383 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and corresponding provisions of state law, due to ownership changes that 
have occurred previously or that could occur in the future. These ownership changes may limit the amount of 
carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income or tax liabilities. In general, an 
ownership change, as defined by Section 382, results from transactions increasing the ownership of certain 
stockholders or public groups in the stock of a corporation by more than 50% over a three-year period. The 
Company has not conducted a study to assess whether a change of control has occurred or whether there 
have been multiple changes of control since inception due to the significant complexity and cost associated 
with such a study. If the Company has experienced a change of control, as defined by Section 382, at any time 
since inception, utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards or research and development tax credit 
carryforwards would be subject to an annual limitation under Section 382, which is determined by first 
multiplying the value of the Company’s stock at the time of the ownership change by the applicable long-term 
tax-exempt rate, and then could be subject to additional adjustments, as required. Any limitation may 
result in expiration of a portion of the net operating loss carryforwards or research and development tax 
credit carryforwards before their utilization. Further, until a study is completed by the Company and any 
limitation is known, no amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position. 

The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon its ability to realize the 
deferred tax assets. Management has considered the Company’s history of cumulative net losses incurred 
since inception and its lack of commercialization of any products or generation of any revenue from product 
sales since inception and has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the 
benefits of the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been established against the 
net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2022 and 2023. Management reevaluates the positive and 
negative evidence at each reporting period.  

2022 2023

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards 30,592$        36,991$        
Capitalized research and development expenditures 6,099 6,749
Research and development tax credit carryforwards 4,192 5,105
Stock-based compensation 1,786 2,735

Operating lease liabilities 899 1,007
Accruals and other temporary differences 863 1,255

Total deferred tax assets 44,431 53,842

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and intangibles (27) —
Operating lease right-of-use asset (772) (888)
Other — (55)

Total deferred tax liabilities (799) (943)
Valuation allowance (43,632) (52,899)

Net deferred tax assets —$               —$               

December 31,
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Changes in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets related primarily to the increase in net 
operating loss carryforwards and research and development tax credit carryforwards and were as follows (in 
thousands): 

 
 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company had not recorded any amounts for unrecognized tax 
benefits. The Company’s policy is to record interest and penalties related to income taxes as part of its income 
tax provision. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, the Company had no accrued interest or penalties related 
to uncertain tax positions and no amounts had been recognized in the Company’s statements of operations 
and comprehensive loss. The Company files income tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the 
jurisdictions in which it operates. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by 
federal and state jurisdictions, where applicable. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, there were no pending 
tax examinations. The Company is open to future tax examination under statute from 2020 to present and by 
most state authorities from 2019 to present. However, to the extent allowed by law, the taxing authorities 
may have the right to examine periods where NOLs and research and development credits were generated 
and carried forward, and make adjustments to the amount of the NOL and research credits carryforwards. 

 
16. Net Loss per Share 

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders was calculated as follows (in 
thousands, except share and per share amounts): 

 
 

The Company’s potential dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted net 
loss per share as the effect would be to reduce the net loss per share. Therefore, the weighted-average number 
of common shares outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to 
common stockholders is the same. The Company excluded the following potential common shares, presented 
based on amounts outstanding at each period end, from the computation of diluted net loss per share 
attributable to common stockholders for the period indicated because including them would have had an 
anti- dilutive effect: 

 

  

2022 2023
Valuation allowance as of beginning of year 28,427$        43,632$        

Increases recorded to income tax provision 15,205 9,267
Valuation allowance as of end of year 43,632$        52,899$        

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2023

Numerator:

Net loss attributable to common stockholders (64,751)$      (44,099)$      

Denominator:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 9,844,591   10,448,817 

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted (6.58)$          (4.22)$          

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2023

Convertible preferred stock (as converted to common stock)   13,684,940   30,485,151 

Stock options to purchase common stock 6,732,850   10,249,904 

Warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock 1,025,390 1,374,866   

Warrants to purchase common stock — 6,520,822   

21,443,180 48,630,743 

Year Ended
December 31,
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17. Leases  
 
The Company has operating leases for certain office, laboratory and manufacturing space in Concord, 

Massachusetts, Irvine, California, and San Diego, California. The Company's leases have non-cancelable 
initial lease terms of approximately 2-7 years, some of which include options to extend the leases for up to 
five years. To the extent the Company is not reasonably certain of exercising options to extend a lease, the 
additional term provided by options is excluded from the measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease 
liability. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Company's sole discretion. Leases with an initial 
term of 12 months or less are expensed and not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company's 
leases provide for fixed rental payments with annual rent escalations. Variable lease costs, such as 
maintenance, real estate taxes, insurance and utility costs, are excluded from the measurement of the lease 
liability. The Company does not have any leases that are classified as financing leases. 

In May and November 2023, the Company entered into two separate lease agreements for 
approximately 8,500 total square feet of office space in San Diego, California, which expire in July 2025 
and February 2027. The larger of the two leases has one option to extend the lease term for an additional 
five years. The Company recognized operating lease right-of-use asset and associated operating lease 
liability of $1.0 million on the balance sheets in 2023. 

The components of lease expense were as follows (in thousands):  

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information related to leases was as follows (in thousands): 
 

 

 

 

 
  

2022 2023

Operating lease cost – fixed 916$                1,008$             
Operating lease cost – variable 143 138
Short-term lease expense 6 13

Total lease expense 1,065$             1,158$             

December 31,

Year Ended

December 31, 
2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities 1,088$           
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The weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate were as follows (in thousands): 

        

Future lease payments under non-cancellable leases as of December 31, 2023 were as follows:  

 

18. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

Purchase Commitments 

Under its hardware and software license agreements, as amended, with Boston University (“BU”), a 
related party (see Note 19), the Company is obligated to pay BU royalties and other amounts. 

 
Research Supply Agreement 

In March 2020, the Company entered into a research supply agreement with the Jaeb Center for Health 
Research Foundation (the “Jaeb Center”), a contract research organization, for the regulatory sponsorship 
and coordination of the iLet insulin-only configuration pivotal trial. The agreement was amended in May and 
December 2020 and includes minimum purchase commitments to fund a portion of the total costs of the 
pivotal trial. In June 2021, the agreement was further amended to provide funding for the pivotal trial. 

In April 2022, the agreement was further amended to provide additional funding for the pivotal trial. 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company paid the Jaeb Center $0.3 million. As of 
December 31, 2022, the Company did not have any remaining purchase commitments under the research 
supply agreement. 

 
Consulting Agreement 

In 2020, the Company entered into a three-year, non-cancellable consulting agreement (the 
“Agreement”) for investor relations services. In December 2023, the Company and consultant entered into a 
settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) resolving all claims by and between both parties and 
mutually terminating the Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, the Company paid 
$55,125 the consultant before December 31, 2023 and has no further liabilities under the Agreement. 

 

 

 
 

 

 
  

December 31, 
2023

Weighted-average remaining lease term 3.2 years
Weighted-average discount rate 4.75%

Year Ending December 31,

2024 1,258$             
2025 1,484
2026 1,432
2027 391

Total future lease payments 4,564
Less: imputed interest (340)               

Total lease liabilities 4,223$             
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Separation Agreements 

In May 2021, the Company terminated employment of two employees. In June 2021, in connection 
with the terminations of employment, the Company and Company’s CEO entered into a confidential 
separation agreement and mutual general release with each of the former employees, which became 
effective in July 2021 (the “Separation Agreements”). The Separation Agreements provided for each of the 
former employees to each receive: (i) continuation of their base salary for 12 months and their 2021 Target 
Bonus payable in substantially equal installments over the severance period (equal to $0.8 million in total), 
(ii) payment of the Company portion of health insurance premiums for up to 12 months, (iii) reimbursement 
of up to $5,000 each for legal expenses incurred and (iv) an extended post-termination exercise period for 
certain vested stock options held by them from six months to two years. In addition, the Separation 
Agreements provided for the transfer of 5,500 shares of Class B common stock from the Company’s CEO 
and his spouse to each of the former employees, the terms of which transfer are governed by a separate 
Share Transfer Agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”).  

In order to satisfy the transfer of the Class B common stock under the terms of the Separation 
Agreements, the Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement with the Company’s CEO and his 
spouse to exchange 11,000 shares of their Class A common stock for 11,000 shares of Class B common 
stock (the “Exchange Agreement”). Upon the effectiveness of the Exchange Agreement in February 2022, 
the Company’s CEO and his spouse surrendered for cancellation the original stock certificates for Class A 
common stock and the Company delivered a certificate to the CEO and his spouse representing 11,000 
shares of Class B common stock.  

In order to effect the stock transfer to the former employees, in February 2022, the Company entered 
into the Transfer Agreement with the Company’s CEO and his spouse and the former employees, pursuant 
to which the Company cancelled the stock certificates issued to the CEO and his spouse for 11,000 shares 
of Class B common stock and issued a stock certificate for 5,500 shares of Class B common stock to each 
of the former employees. The liability for the accrued severance costs under the Separation Agreements was 
paid in full as of December 31, 2022. 

In August 2022, the Company terminated employment of two executives. In connection with the 
termination of employment, the Company extended the post-termination exercise period of all stock 
options. The stock-based compensation expense related to the modification of the stock options of the 
former executives was $1.1 million and was recognized as general and administrative expense during the 
year ended December 31, 2022.  

In August 2022, the Company undertook a restructuring program, including a reduction in force.  The 
Company incurred a charge totaling $4.2 million, representing employee severance and benefit-related costs 
to be paid over the next 12 months. The remaining liability for accrued severance costs under the 
restructuring program was $2.1 million, which was included in accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2022. The liability for the accrued severance costs under 
the restructuring program was paid in full as of December 31, 2023. 
 
Legal Proceedings 

From time to time, the Company may become involved in various legal proceedings, including those 
that may arise in the ordinary course of business.  

As of [Month XX], 2024, the date that these financial statements were issued, the Company believes 
there is no litigation pending that could have, individually, or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on 
the results of its operations, financial condition or cash flows. 
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19. Related Party Transactions 
 

Boston University 

In December 2015, the Company executed hardware and software license agreements with BU under 
which the Company received exclusive, non-transferable, sublicensable, worldwide, royalty-bearing licenses 
to certain patent rights and copyrights. The Company is obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to 
develop and commercialize the licensed products. These agreements stipulate a series of milestones for the 
development and commercialization of the licensed products. The milestones are a mechanism for tracking 
the development and commercialization progress of the licensed products and are not attached to any 
form of financial payment. The agreements were subsequently amended in December 2017, September 
2020 and February 2022 to extend the milestone dates. Under the software agreement, the final milestone 
is FDA approval of the licensed products by July 2024, which was achieved on May 19, 2023. Under the 
hardware agreement, the final milestone is FDA approval of the licensed products by July 2027.  

In consideration for the licensed patent rights and other rights under the license agreement, the 
Company issued BU 50,000 shares of its Class B common stock, which were valued at $0.9 million. Under 
the agreements, the Company is obligated to pay BU royalties of a specified percentage based on net sales of 
any products licensed under the agreements and royalties of a specified percentage of any sublicense income 
received by the Company. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay BU annual minimum royalties of an 
insignificant amount. Pursuant to the BU patent policy, BU is obligated to pay a specified percentage of 
royalties received from the Company on net sales of products licensed under the agreements to the inventors 
of the patentable inventions, two of which are the Company’s Founder and Executive Chairman of the Board 
and the VP, Research and Innovation. 

The Company has the right to terminate the license agreements with notice. BU may terminate the 
license agreements upon specified events of breach or default, including failure of the Company to pay and 
the bankruptcy of the Company. 

The Company incurred $0.5 million of royalties expense under the software agreement during the year 
ended December 31, 2023, which was included as a component of cost of sales in the Company’s 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

Under the license agreements, the Company is responsible for all costs related to the amendment, 
prosecution and maintenance of the licensed patent rights. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2023, the Company paid BU $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, for reimbursed legal costs in 
connection with the agreements.  

In 2017 and 2018, BU ordered a number of pre-commercial iLet bionic pancreas devices from the 
Company that were and are being used in BU’s collaborative clinical trials program. The orders were 
subsequently invoiced in 2018 in an aggregate amount of $1.1 million, which was received by the Company 
in 2018. 
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The Company has determined that these BU transactions related to the clinical trials program are 
within the scope of ASC 730-20, Research and Development Arrangements. The Company concluded that 
there has not been a substantive and genuine transfer of risk related to the consideration received as there is 
a presumption that the Company is obligated to repay BU based on the significant related party relationship 
that existed at the time the parties entered into the transactions. The Company deems BU to have a significant 
related party relationship with the Company based on (i) the dual employment relationship of certain 
Company officers and employees, including its CEO, which provided BU representation on the Company’s 
board of directors, (ii) BU’s stock ownership level at the time of the transactions, (iii) the provisions of the 
license agreements described above and (iv) the joint development efforts between the parties, among other 
qualitative factors.  

Therefore, the aggregate amount of $1.1 million received from BU was recorded by the Company as 
funded R&D liability—related party on the balance sheets of December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, 
the Company concluded that the future economic benefit of the funded R&D liability would be achieved 
upon FDA approval during the year ending December 31, 2023, and therefore, had reclassed the funded 
R&D liability to current liabilities on the balance sheets. Upon FDA 510(k) clearance in May 2023, the 
Company released the $1.1M funded R&D liability—related party as a reduction to research and 
development expenses in the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, other than the amount of the funded R&D liability, $0.2 million 
and $0.3 million, respectively, was due to BU from the Company. As of December 31, 2022 and 2023, no 
amounts were due from BU to the Company. 

 
20. Subsequent Events 

For the financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company evaluated 
subsequent events through [Month XX], 2024, the date on which those financial statements were issued. 

Grants of Stock Options under the 2016 Plan 

In February and March 2024, the Company granted options for the purchase of an aggregate of 882,000 
shares of Class B common stock, at an exercise price of $4.32 per share.  

Research Supply Agreement 

In February 2024, the Company entered into an investigator initiated research supply agreement (the “Supply 
Agreement”) with the Jaeb Center. The Company will provide products for the conduct of a clinical study in which 
the Jaeb Center will be the sponsor-investigator. The Jaeb Center will purchase the iLet and supplies at the 
contracted amount, totaling approximately $0.7 million, over the expected twelve-month enrollment period. The 
agreement is effective until six months after the completion of the clinical study at all study sites. 

Settlement Agreement 

In October 2018, a former research scientist at BU, a related party (see Note 19), filed a lawsuit against 
BU, the Company, the Company’s Founder and Executive Chairman of the Board and the VP, Research and 
Innovation. The Company and the VP, Research and Innovation were dismissed from the case in June 2020. 
On April 2, 2024, a settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) was entered into between all 
parties. In order to satisfy the issuance of Class B common stock under the terms of the Settlement 
Agreement, the Company facilitated the exchange of 100,000 shares of Class A common stock of the 
Company’s Founder and Executive Chairman of the Board and his spouse for 100,000 shares of Class B 
common stock. The Company then cancelled and immediately transferred their 100,000 shares of Class B 
common stock to the former research scientist. A stipulation of dismissal was also executed releasing all 
parties without prejudice. 

 


